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CORPORATE PROFILE
ANCIIGF

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) (stock code : 1115),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 30 June
2011, is a leading manufacturer of the high-end fast-consuming beverage in the Tibet Autonomous Region ("Tibet”) in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Group's principal businesses mainly include two segments, i.e. water and
beer.

The Group's water business segment covers Mainland China and Hong Kong markets. Located at the Nyaingentanglha
Range at an altitude of 5,100 meters, the water source of the “Tibet 5100 Glacial Spring Mineral Water” (“5100
Glacial Mineral Water”) of the Group is a unique glacial spring with rich and balanced mineral content, which has
not only been recognized as a quality mineral water source in China, but was also awarded as the best mineral water at
a global bottled water congress. The Group has developed diversified packages and specifications for the 5100 series,
ranging from the Diamond Series, the Blue Cap Series to the Family Soft Barrelled Water Series equipped with innovatively-
designed vacuum water dispenser. In addition, other natural water branded “Zhuoma Spring” and "Gesang Spring”
produced respectively by our associates jointly established by the Group and China Petroleum & Chemical Co., Ltd.
("Sinopec”) and PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”) have also been widely available in the convenience stores
of Sinopec and PetroChina gas stations respectively.

The Group expanded through the acquisition of the beer business in 2013. The ” " produced
and sold by the Group is brewed using high-quality highland barley as raw materials and local pollution-free highland
spring water in Tibet with patented technology. It is also a premium and healthy beverage with Tibet characteristics.

By adhering to the most stringent quality control, we provide the healthiest specialty products with the best quality
globally. With our origin in Tibet, we reach out to the world and are committed to being a world-class premium beverage
manufacturing enterprise.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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THE BOARD (THE “BOARD") OF DIRECTORS
(THE “DIRECTORS") OF THE COMPANY

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YUE Zhigiang
Mr. YAN Qingjiang (appointed on 27 May 2020)

Mr. LIU Chen (resigned on 27 May 2020)

Mr. WANG Dong (Chief Executive Officer)
(retired as Director on 30 June 2020)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI (Chairman)

(appointed as Chairman on 27 May 2020 and re-designated
as non-executive Director from independent non-executive Director

on 9 October 2020)

Mr. WEI Zhe Ming

(retired on 30 June 2020)
Mr. XU Liang

(retired on 30 June 2020)
Ms. GUO Kun Kun

(retired on 30 June 2020)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement
Mr. TANG Zeping
(appointed on 2 March 2020)
Mr. DAl Yang
(appointed on 27 May 2020)
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai
(resigned on 29 February 2020)
Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN (ex-Chairman)
(resigned on 27 May 2020)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. WANG Dong

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit
Mr. YAN Qingjiang

INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants
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LEGAL ADVISOR
Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum Solicitors

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT
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788 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Phone: +852 2248 1188
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REGISTERED OFFICE
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Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Union Registrars Limited
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338 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong

Phone: +852 2849 3399

Fax: +852 2849 3319

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
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P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

WEBSITES TO ACCESS COMPANY INFORMATION*

http://www.twr1115.net
http://www.hkexnews.hk

STOCK CODE ON MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
1115

* contents of the websites do not form part of this Annual Report
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
BUR R R

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Reporting Period”),
operating revenue of the Group was RMB493 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 31.7% compared with RMB721 million of
the same period last year. The profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company was RMB16.97 million (2019: loss attributable to shareholders
was RMB745 million).

The global economy remained affected by the COVID-19 coronavirus
pandemic in 2020. Economies across the world continued to decline and
many companies have gone out of business due to the pandemic. Our
water business continued to suffer from the significant adverse impact of
lockdowns imposed in response to serious outbreaks. In addition, major
sales channels for our packaged drinking water products in Mainland
China and Hong Kong SAR, including cinemas, hotels, airlines and major
corporate customers, were adversely affected by the pandemic and
lockdowns, and sales have slumped accordingly. During second half of
2020, the Group benefitted from a strict controls of the prevention and
spread of pandemic in China as production and sales gradually resumed.
It is hoped that economic activity will gradually recover to pre-epidemic
levels. Despite the harsh economic environment, the Group continued

to explore marketing models and channels, and launching new lines

of quality beer products offered in various flavours and packaging

{ " 'Ito satisfy the ever-changing tastes of consumers. While the

economic environment ahead remains challenging, the Group's

beer business has maintained a stable market share and the

business should continue to develop at a steady pace, further

building its brand and expanding its market presence in
the foreseeable future.
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PROSPECT

The Group has a major share in Tibet's water industry. Besides developing
5100 Glacial Water, China’s leading domestic premium water brand, the
Group has focused on development of Tibet's beer industry. In 2021,
the Group acquired 31% equity interests in Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu
Industrial Ltd. (BREILFEENEMEZARAF) (“Shannan Yalaxiangbu”)
and will own an aggregate of 40% equity interests, becoming its second
largest shareholder. Earlier in 2019, the Group had commenced this
strategic cooperation with PetroChina. Through the acquisition, the Group
will obtain a significant share in Tibet's water resources, becoming a major
leader in Tibet's natural drinking water industry and further establishing
the Group's strategic position. In addition, the “Gesang Spring” line of
natural drinking water produced by Shannan Yalaxiangbu is sold in over
20,000 “uSmile” convenience stores in PetroChina’s gas stations. The
Group believes that this sales channel has massive growth potential and
expects significant sales growth in the years ahead.
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The Group also leveraged its logistic network advantage and new retail
sales model to build a new customer service network with better coverage,
fully utilising and integrating the Group’s service system based on the sales
channel of the gas stations of Sinopec and PetroChina, combined with the
Group's online sales and logistics cooperation with JD.com and T-Mall,
which should provide new momentum for revenue growth for the Group
and drive rapid development in Tibet's natural drinking water industry. In
future, we will also explore more diverse models of strategic cooperation
by exploiting the sales channel resource of the gas stations of Sinopec and
PetroChina, which have over 50,000 gas stations combined across China.

Even under the pandemic impact in 2020, the Group's beer business still
has achieved robust results with high margins. We remain very confident
that our beer segment will have significant potential in Tibet and other
regions in China in 2021 and beyond. In particular, the Group plans to
develop new, high quality sales channels in 2021, expanding through
e-commerce and gas station channels. Establishing a presence through
these channels enables the Group to reach more end consumers, which will

facilitate brand development and business growth of the beer business.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

We have always complied with stringent quality control systems. The
Group emphasizes protection of water resources and the environment and
promotes a lifestyle based on
. We have established the
Development Specialty Grant”

“conservation, environmental protection,
“5100 Tibet Education
in support of the development of Tibet's

nature, health”

local education. In order to bring quality education resources to Tibet, the
5100 Grant collaborated with StarPower Charity Foundation to organise
the “StarPower Tibet Champion’s Camp”. StarPower invited champion
athletes to lead a one-week camp in Tibet, inspiring young athletes in
Tibet to train to be world champions. The Group was also honoured with
the “2019 National Charity Contribution Award” jointly organised by
the China Advertising Association, the Economic Observer and Modern
Advertising magazine. With strong associations to Tibet, the Group actively
supports local Tibetan pastoral farmers in building wealth. We have always
supported and will continue to support “Industries Fighting Poverty”
through providing sustainable aid to Tibet in an effort to improve the
livelihoods of the people of Tibet and further develop regional economy

and culture.
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CONCLUSION

The Group faced both internal and external challenges in 2020 as the
COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic continued to affect global economic
activities and adversely impacted the Group’s business while deepening
market concerns about the uncertainty in future economic development.
However, there is hope that the launch of vaccines will spark a recovery
in global economic activities. As the Group tackled internal and external
challenges, it continued to monitor trends and conditions closely. Based on
advantageous resources of the Tibet water industry and a diverse product
range, we continued to explore opportunities to develop various sales
models and marketing channels. The Group remains fully confident that it
will be back on track for robust growth in terms of long-term development.

We would like to express our sincere appreciation for the devotion and
hard work of the Board, the management team and all the staff members,
as well as the support from the shareholders, business partners and loyal
customers.

Kevin Cheng WEI
Chairman and Non-Excutive Director

31 March 2021
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
BHRRE

- m
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1t—-HLEE
2019 Change
—E-NEF )
Revenue (RMB million) WANREEET) 721 131.7%
Operating profit (RMB million) rEFNBAREBET) 133 139.0%
Adjusted EBITDA*(RMB million) TR BB E R H AT R *
(NR®BET) 228 129.2%
Impairment losses on investment EREREARN
accounted for using the KRERBEREX
equity method (RMB million) (ANE¥BET) (873) | 100%
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners — AAEIHES ATEEFE,(FE) N/A
of the Company (RMB million) (AREBET) (745) T
Earnings/(loss) per share SREF(B8B) N/A
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) - EAREFE(ARED) (29.77) T
Gross profit margin ENES 56.0% | 12.4% point
B
. _—
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—-8
2020 2019
g 323 —E-NEF
(RMB million) (RMB million) Change
R - = - | (ARMEET)  #B
Total assets BERE 4,262 | 2.6%
Equity attributable
to owners of the Company RATHE ANELER 2,702 10.7%

* Adjusted EBITDA is not accounting measures under International Financial *
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs") which should be read in conjunction with Note 6(b).
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBHE

Revenue (RMB million) Operating profit (RMB million)
BANRBEER) REFBAREEERT)

p 2020
1 V¥ 31.7% point
: 2019

B

N
p VY 39.0% point

B

Adjusted EBITDA* (RMB million) Profit attributable to owners of the company (RMB million)
PEASHTERBHNFIE ARSEET) FRARBABENBARRERT)
2020 n ) 2020
2019 n v 29.2£;§£nt 5019
2018 2018
2017 2017
2016 2016
Earnings/(loss) per share - Basic and diluted (RMB cents) Gross profit margin (%)
BRERN/(FB) - EXAREBETEARED) EFE (%)

2020

i /
12.4% point

2019 2019
Bo%

2018 2018

2017 2017

2016 2016
Total assets (RMB million) Equity attributable to owners of the Company (RMB million)
EEHBE(AREEER) ARRAEBAELER(ARBEER)

4,152 N 2,722

2,702 Tﬂ A 0.7% point

4,262 1 j V 2.6% point
' BO®

B

4,912 3,459

4,549 3,174

4,818 3,123

* Adjusted EBITDA is not accounting measures under International Financial * SRR ST B KO 8 AR R 3F 3R BURR BF S

Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) which should be read in conjunction with Note 6(b). BEER( AR EREER DBETHEE
BREHE - M 6(b) —HBEIE -

**  Loss attributable to owners of the Company and loss per share in 2019 including * o ZE-AFMNARREBABLEERES

one-off impairment losses on investment accounted for using the equity method REBEET —REMEREREARNR
of RMB873 million. BREBRABARESTIET -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWR DN
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2020, we continued our endeavors in the development of the water
industry in Tibet and supplying premium products and high-quality services
to our customers.

In 2020, the overall economic environment in PRC has been severely
adversely affected by the COVID-19 (Coronavirus) pandemic. As a result,
the Group’s business, especially the water business, has suffered some
significant negative impact from the pandemic related lockdown in PRC.
Even with such unusual challenges, in the second half of 2020, the Group
quickly resumed production and sales, leveraging the Group's existing
advantages in resource, channels, and logistics network to pursue a long-
term expansion.
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In 2020, our packaged water products have been sold in PRC and Hong
Kong SAR. The Group’s key sales channels, including movie theaters,
hotels, airlines and large corporate customers, were adversely affected by
the pandemic related lockdown; E-commerce platforms and household
consumers through JD.com and Tmall remained relatively stable, and
brought positive cash inflows.

Our beer products are mainly sold in Tibet through supermarkets,
convenience stores, restaurants and entertainment outlets. In 2020,
revenue of our beer products sold within Tibet was 97.3% (outside Tibet
was 2.7%). In the past two years, we have continuously launched new
premium beer products with different flavors and packages, such as
6° Highland Barley Beer, Highland Barley Puree Beer, etc., to meet the
changing tastes of the consumers. Despite the pessimistic sentiment of the
overall economic environment, our beer business still remained strong and
maintained a stable significant market share in Tibet in 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

With the recent improvement of COVID-19 pandemic situation including ~ KEZ COVID-19& BRI HNE - FEHE
mass vaccination programs in PRC, we remain hopeful that our overall —~ BVAMEREZBETE  RODHEKKLE

water and beer business will recover and improve to a normalized level in  BEBEEEN T - —FRIABERE I
2021 and onward. BEZEEKFE -

FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt ¥ B B

REVENUE ANALYSIS WA 2 #r

In 2020, due to the reasons mentioned in the “Business Review” section ~ E-Z-ZTF  fAR Lill[ 50 JZHIR
above, the total revenue of the Group amounted to RMB493 million, MAZ  AEEMNBHEEEAARE 493
representing a decrease of approximately RMB228 million or 31.7% in B M= -NFRPTHARKE2.28
comparison with 2019. Brsk31.7% °

ullin gl
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The revenue generated from our water business segment was RMB180  KEXKH AW AABARE 1.801E7C ik
million, representing a decrease of 55.9% in comparison with 2019. It ~ =ZF—AFRE 4 7 55.9% o F ZHHAKAHE
is mainly due to the decrease in sale volume of water and the Group’s & FF§ IAKLHERCOVID-19&ZEF EEH
response to market changes and reduced prices to major distributors in  AEEAEUTHE L MEKT HEBLHE

light of COVID-19 pandemic impact. PRI BAR
For beer business segment, the year over year change is as follow: ERIEEH S - R LNT -
‘ F
-
2020 2019 % change
Sk -1 -3 —E-AE % &
Volume (hectoliter) HE(BTT) 447,370 442,090 11.2%
Revenue (RMB'000) WA ARETIT) 311,503 310,502 10.3%
Adjusted EBITDA* (RMB'000) R ST E R AR *
(AR#TFT) 143,542 169,099 [ 15.1%

* Adjusted EBITDA is not accounting measures under International Financial * TR BHITE R AT AR I B B i
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs") which should be read in conjunction with Note 6(b). MEER(ERPTEREER )BETHEE
BREEPLE - 55 P 6(b) —HERIE o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

In 2020, the overall gross profit margin of the Group was 43.6%, which H_-_T_-_TF AEENEEEFNXRA
decreased by 12.4 percentage points when compared to 2019. The gross  43.6%  Z2 - Z— A F L T 71241
profit margin of the water business segment was 47.3%, which decreased ~ B2 o KEBHBNEFEE47.3% » &

by 15.8 percentage points when compared to 2019. The gross profit ~ —ZT—AFMAL TR T 15.8EADE - M
margin of the beer business segment decreased by 5.2 percentage points  JAEBHBNEFNERE_ZS_TFATRET
to 41.3% in 2020. S2MEHANHEL3% °

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  $HERDHERNMITHEH

In 2020, the selling and distribution costs decreased by 7.1% to RMB105 & _-_Z-ZTF  HELHHEEAN -ZT—A
million from RMB113 million in 2019, mainly due to the decrease in FARBIBETRL TTI%ENAR
transportation costs and promotion fees. The administrative expenses  ¥1.05(87x TERANBEHRANER
decreased by approximately 26.7% from RMB92 million in 2019 to RMB68 ~ BHELD - TREBAN T —NEFNARE
million in 2020, mainly due to the decrease in staff expenses and traveling 92008 LR T#H267% Z_T_FTFH
expenses when comparing with 2019. ARKG6,8008 L TERARETIERN
EREAL T -AERIHMEK -
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REVERSAL OF ALLOWANCE FOR/ALLOWANCE FOR EXPECTED CREDIT
LOSS (“ECL") ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Reversal of allowance for/allowance for ECL on financial assets included the
reversal of allowance for ECL on of trade receivables and the allowance for
ECL on other financial asset at amortised cost. The reversal of allowance
for ECL on trade receivables was RMB19 million in 2020 (the allowance for
ECL on trade receivables in 2019: RMB78 million). The allowance for ECL
on other financial asset at amortised cost was RMB3 million in 2020 (2019:
RMB5 million).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERENWR AT

OTHER GAINS, NET HibFEFEEE

Other gains, net increased from net gains of RMB17 million in 2019  HEMFA B FEA_Z-NFHEFFEAR

to approximately RMB22 million in 2020, which was attributable to (a)  #¥1, 700?%77:tﬂ§:_7_7 FUARE

the decrease in loss maturing FVTPL of RMB4 million; (b) the decrease 220087 EBFER (@ UAREBEFEE

in impairment loss of inventory of RMB18 million; and (c) the increase  E& BT ABENSEEED HIF B KR

of RMB2 million in gain on disposal of FVTPL, offset by the decrease of 2T AR 4008 : (b)FERMEEBLRD

approximately RMB18 million in government grants. TARKE1,80087T: M(OBRENAREE
FEREEEFABENSREENKEE
My AR®200& 7T - EBEFHEIRDTH
AR 1,800 B TR -
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SHARE OF RESULT ON INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

The share of result on investments accounted for using the equity method
was mainly the share of net profit of Tibet Highland Natural Water Limited
("Highland Natural Water”) whose ultimate controlling shareholder is
Sinopec. The sales volume of Highland Natural Water in 2020 was 119,088
tonnes, and its revenue was RMB301 million which represent a decrease of
38.6% and 33.4% from 2019, respectively. These decreases were mainly
due to COVID-19 pandemic impact in the first half of 2020. Starting from
June 2020, the production and sales of Highland Natural Water have
progressively returned to the normal level.

As a result, the Group’s 43.981% equity interests in Highland Natural
Water generated share of Highland Natural Water's net loss of RMB5
million (Share of Highland Natural Water's net profit in 2019: RMB16
million).

=

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR AT

FEfE 6 PR E AR RE RS

EIGEREREANRNREFEEE ARG
AEERAAKBERRAR(IERRAK])
(BREERBRRATFAL)OFIEFEE - B
“ECEF gRARAKEIEEAR119,088
W REBRABARBINEL =T
—EDFIFA T 38.6% K. 33.4% o FAL T
EHR T _TFL¥FCOVID- 19K B
ZHH - BZ_TFAARR 5RAR
IKEEENBEED LR S MBRETKE

At - REEHSFEKRAKAZ81% K
BEET ARESETHEESRRAK
FER(CE-NFRESRXAKMEF
% AR 1,60087T) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

FINANCE COSTS/INCOME, NET

In 2020, the Group incurred finance costs of RMB45 million and gained
finance income of RMB1 million. Finance costs decreased by RMB9 million
compared with 2019 mainly due to (i) the decrease of RMB4 million
in interest costs on borrowings from banks; and (ii) the decrease of
approximately RMB18 million in interest costs on the convertible bonds
issued by the Company, which were offset by (iii) the increase of RMB12
million in interest costs on borrowings from third parties. Finance income
decreased by RMB63 million mainly due to reduced and waived interest
income from interest-bearing loans to third parties as a result of the
pandemic impact.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In 2020, the income tax expense was RMB18 million which decreased by
RMB11 million when compared to RMB29 million in 2019. It was mainly
due to the decrease in profit before income tax of certain group entities.

PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR

In 2020, the profit for the year was RMB17 million, as compared to loss
for the year of RMB745 million in 2019. The increase in profit for the year
mainly due to (i) the recognition of one-off impairment loss on investment
accounted for using the equity method of RMB873 million in 2019,
whereas no such related loss was recognised in 2020; (ii) the decrease in
ECL on financial asset of RMB99 million; (iii) the decrease in selling and
distribution costs and administrative expenses of RMB32 million in total;
(iv) the decrease in income tax expenses of approximately RMB11 million;
and (v) the increase in other net gains of RMB6 million; offset by (a) the
decrease in the Group’s gross profit of RMB189 million due to the decline
in revenue; (b) the increase in net finance costs of RMB54 million; and (c)
the decrease in share of result on investments accounted for using the
equity method of RMB16 million.
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OTHER FINANCIAL POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2020, prepayments of the Group amounted to RMB86
million compared to RMB122 million as at 31 December 2019. The
decrease was due to the decrease of RMB36 million in prepayment for
purchasing raw materials, services and equipment.

As at 31 December 2020,
comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") of the Group amounted to RMB174

Financial asset at fair value through other

million, compared to RMB232 million as at 31 December 2019. The
decrease was mainly due to the disposal of RMB58 million invested in
China Railway Express Co., Ltd. ("CRE") in 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, Financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL") (non-current) of the Group amounted to RMB12 million,
compared to RMB17 million as at 31 December 2019. The decrease was
mainly due to the disposal of RMB5 million invested in Shanghai Maikaite
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai MKT") in 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, net trade receivables of the Group amounted to
RMB283 million compared to RMB259 million as at 31 December 2019. The
increase was mainly attributable to the reversal of allowance for expected
credit loss on of trade receivables of RMB19 million.

The Group maintained regular contact with our major debtors through
meetings and telephone conversations and paid regular attention to public
information about our major debtors to understand the status of their
operations, their continuing business needs and the ways in which the
Group can improve its services. As at 31 December 2020, allowance for
expected credit losses of trade receivables balance was RMB59 million (31
December 2019: RMB78 million).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERENWR AT

As at 31 December 2020, other financial assets at amortised cost, net
of allowance for expected credit losses of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB1,367 million compared to RMB832 million as at
31 December 2019. As at 31 December 2020, other financial assets
at amortised cost mainly included the amounts due from third parties
amounting to RMB1,267 million, amounts due from associates amounting
to approximately RMB34 million, and other receivables amounting to
RMB71 million. As at 31 December 2020, as mentioned above, the Group
continued to be committed to the development of Tibet's water industry
and allocated resources to the long term strategic positioning in Tibet's
water industry. As at 31 December 2020, allowance for expected credit
losses on other financial assets at amortised cost amounted to RMB5
million (31 December 2019: RMB2 million). Management expects to collect
a significant portion of the balances due from third parties in the second
quarter of 2021.

As at 31 December 2020, inventories of the Group amounted to RMB60
million compared to RMB53 million as at 31 December 2019. The increase
was mainly attributable to an increase in raw materials inventories.

As at 31 December 2020, contract liabilities of the Group amounted to
RMB17 million compared to RMB29 million as at 31 December 2019.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in advances received from
customers of the sales of water and beer products of RMB13 million.

As at 31 December 2020, the bank borrowings of the Group decreased by
RMB106 million, which was mainly because the repayment of principal of
bank borrowings amounting to RMB531 million in 2020 was offset by the
proceeds from bank borrowings amounting to RMB425 million in 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, cash and cash equivalents of the Group
decreased by RMB451 million from RMB516 million as at 31 December
2019 to RMB65 million as at 31 December 2020, which was mainly
attributable to a significant decrease in operating cash flows, an increase
in other financial assets at amortised cost, and a decrease in bank loans.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2020, the total number of employees of the Group
was 395 compared to 417 as at 31 December 2019. The decrease in the
number of employees was mainly due to the fact that in 2020, the Group's
production of preforms and bottle caps has been transferred from the
Company’s PRC subsidiary to the Group's associate, Tibet Fudi Natural
Beverage Packaging Ltd. (“Fudi Packaging”), and the corresponding
production and management staff were also transferred to Fudi Packaging.
Relevant staff cost of the Group was RMB62 million in 2020 (2019: RMB8&3
million). The decrease was also due to reduced and exempted corporate
social welfare contributions for a certain period of time according to PRC
government pandemic relief.

The Group's remuneration policies are formulated according to the duty,
experience, ability and performance of individual employees and are
reviewed annually. In addition to basic salary, employees are entitled to
other benefits including social insurance contribution, employee provident
fund schemes and discretionary incentive. Other fringe benefits, training,
and share options, if applicable, are also considered by the Group to solicit/
retain loyal employees with the aim of forming a professional and united
staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher levels of
achievements.

The Group provided diversified on-the-job training in the production
plants based on the needs of the respective positions and talents of the
employees on a timely basis. The Group also encouraged the management
staff to participate in continuous professional development trainings
which are relevant to their professions. Apart from induction training,
the Company provides updates to the Directors and senior management
on the latest development regarding the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock (the “Listing Rules”) and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure their compliance with
and to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
These include attending in-house training, seminars, reading handouts,
newspapers, journals, the Group's news, industry news, etc.

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017. Up to 31 December
2020, no share has been granted by the Group to any parties under the
share award scheme.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR AT

8T
R-Z-_ZHE+-_A=+—H AEEET
BEARIBA RZE-NF+A=+—
BREMTIA ABRLVFEHARBEZZT=Z
ERL  AEENRANBELEEHRRD T
ZHRESEANBARERASE cBELE
AREMAARmEREREEAF(E
BEDET HEREENEBAETEAR
WweK T_T-TF AEEBEBESK
KEARKE62008L(ZE—NF : ARK
8,300&7T) ° TRITHMUEEHEBRFNE
BHRE - NETHRRBREHNDEL
SREMEMS -

AERENFHBERIRESUE THEA
KR BENMRAMBIEN - WETFEE
%o BXNEAFHEI BIHFHAEME
Kl BREtERRES  BEATBREIM
MEERE - ARETEBAEBREIMEN -
BIRERENER)BE BB EHE
B UEREXMEENETIREEEN
b REREBERGE KA

AEEREBEEENBUFTERERNLIER
FEBRHEZ TNERIE - ARENES
BEBARZMEREEXRMNFEEE
BREI - BRABLEIISN  ARRAKAE
ENEREEBREAMBRIES LTH
BICTETRRA ) R Bt i@ P B 8 B KM B 3
BREN  UREREZETIRSREHR
HERERERNDE - ELABEIIERE
SMAEEY - e BIEMEE WA
T AEEHHE  TEHES -

AEBR -T—tFRH T —BRDEE T
g-HE—E-ZTF+-_A=+—RH £&
B R IRE MR (D B AT & M T A R PR -

BERKEFRERAT | £ 2020




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERENWR AT

GEARING RATIO SEk=R
The gearing ratio is calculated as borrowings (including bank borrowings ~ BELERZEF(BERITERNE=H

and borrowings from third parties) divided by total capital. The total  fEF)BRAERBEFE - ERAFE LA
capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the condensed consolidated  #RAEEBBE R RIIEZ I MERT(BRE

balance sheet plus borrowings (including bank borrowings and borrowings  SETERME=FEF)FE - R -_T =
from third parties). As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the ZTF+-_A=+—BER-_ZT—NF+=
gearing ratios of the Group were 25.09% and 27.14%, respectively. ﬂ =t+—B XAEENEBEHXDAA

5.09% }27.14% °

MERGER AND ACQUISITION FROPEE UL EE

There was no merger and acquisition transaction in 2020. For acquisition =~ RZZ=ZTF » KEE W E 3k G EHUE
after the reporting period, please refer to Note 46 to the consolidated — EE) - ERHEMBENNE - FLHAE
financial statements on pages 286 to 287 of this Annual Report and details {55286 =287 B4R & M RAM 46 A
in the Company's announcement on 30 March 2021 regarding a further ARIHEHBA-Z - —F=A=t+HE@E—
acquisition of 31% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu. S B R B 31% RIEA QSIS -

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS EXRE

In 2020, the Group acquired Property, plant and equipment ("PP&E") of #H_-_Z-ZTF AEEEEYWE BMENMR
RMB9 million (2019: RMB5 million). Regarding the future development and  #E([¥1%¥ - BERRZE ) AARKE00E T
outlook of the Group, please refer to the section headed “Outlook” in this (ZZ—NF : ARKES008TT) - BRAE
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section. BARNEENEE  #HEFL2HAERE
EamEsiT AR AIRE INEEL -

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS ERMEGE
As at 31 December 2020, the Group has committed to purchasing PP&E RZZE-ZF+-_A=+—H8 AEKEDX
of approximately RMB37 million (31 December 2019: RMB37 million), and HBEEWE BEERERENAARES 700

equity investment of RMB16 million (31 December 2019: RMB197 million). %ﬁ(_i—hiﬂ‘_ﬂ =+—H: AR

The funding sources related to these commitments are expected to be  ¥3,70087T)  UNEAZEREREARE

disbursed from the Group's own capital. 1,600BT(ZE—AF+-A=+—H: A
RE1978L) - L EAEEHEEBNES
REHEEEAEBEEEEHBN -

et
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CHARGES (OR PLEDGES)

As at 31 December 2020, (i) a bank loan with the principal amount of
RMB290 million (31 December 2019: RMB290 million) of the Group was
secured by the pledge of 35% of Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage Development
CO., Ltd.'s (“Tiandi Green") equity interests; (ii) a bank loan with
principal amount of RMB100 million (31 December 2019: RMB100 million)
of the Group was secured by the Group’s factory plant with net book
value of RMB62 million (31 December 2019: RMB66 million) and land use
rights with net book value of RMB27 million (31 December 2019: RMB27
million); (iii) a bank loan with the principal amount of RMB100 million (31
December 2019: RMB100 million) of the Group was secured by the pledge
of 15% of Highland Natural Water's equity interests; (iv) a bank loan with
the principal amount of RMB65 million (31 December 2019: RMB66 million)
of the Group was secured by the Group’s factory plant with net book value
of RMB28 million (31 December 2019: RMB29 million) and land use rights
with net book value of RMB1 million (31 December 2019: RMB1 million);
(v) a bank loan with the principal amount of RMB60 million (31 December
2019: RMB60 million) of the Group was secured by the pledge of 15%
of Highland Natural Water's equity interests; (vi) a bank loan with the
principal amount of RMB50 million (31 December 2019: RMB50 million)
of the Group was secured by the Group's machinery with net book value
of RMB55 million (31 December 2019: nil); and (vii) a bank loan with the
principal amount of RMB150 million (31 December 2019: nil) was secured
by land use rights of a third party (31 December 2019: nil).

The bank acceptance notes amounting to RMB242 million (31 December
2019: RMB260 million) were guaranteed by bank deposits of RMB48
million (31 December 2019: RMB60 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERENWR AT

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided financial guarantee amounting to RMB170 million
to an associate as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: RMB200
million). The guarantee was provided for bank borrowings obtained by
the associate with the remaining amounts of RMB170 million as at 31
December 2020 (31 December 2019: RMB200 million). The period of the
guarantee for RMB120 million is from 3 June 2020 to 2 June 2021. The
period of the remaining guarantee amounting to RMB50 million is from 26
March 2020 to 25 March 2021, and such RMB50 million was repaid by the
associate on 26 March 2021, the due date of the loan.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group adopts a conservative approach to cash management and risk
control. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of its business
transactions denominated in RMB. However, the Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from its cash exchange transactions, which
are primarily denominated in HKD. To mitigate the impact of exchange
rate fluctuations, the Group continually assesses and monitors its exposure
to foreign exchange risk. During 2020, management of the Group did not
consider it necessary to enter into any hedging transactions in order to
reduce the exposure to foreign exchange risk, because the exposure, after
netting off the assets and liabilities subject to foreign exchange risk, was
not significant.

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

In 2020, the annual water production capacity and annual beer production
capacity were approximately 300,000 tonnes and 2,000,000 hectoliter
respectively, same as in 2019. The Group will assess its production capacity
periodically and consider increasing production capacity to meet the
demands of future development.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

RREME

RZZB_ZF+_A=+—08 Fr&EER—
R E A RARENMBERABARKE1.70E
T(ZE-AF+TZA=+—0: ARB2E
TT)  ZERABERFAN_FT_TF+_
A=+T—HHE/ARE1.70RTHRITE
RERHEER(CE-NF+A=T—H8:
AE%Z%7)°AE%42M§7m$ﬁ@
REEB-_ZE-_TFA=-HE-ZT=-—X
Az H~AE%5mo%ﬁmﬁ%%ﬁ%@
ARIE-EF=-A-F+HEZEZ—%F=
AZ+HEB  ZWMERRER_T_—F=
AZ+RBEETZEARES5000ETH)
fEK e

HME LB

AEERAREATTERRS RIEFHER -
AEEFZEEHPELEE KRPH/NHER
SEUNARERBFESN - AKENER S
ERRFEENEEHE  WASEEHI
ERER - AREEXFSNTE  AEER
%ﬁﬁ&y%ﬁﬂ[ﬂwoﬁ_?_?iﬂ
CAEBERERBRE LB LAY
ﬁx%%ﬁ%%[ﬂ@'ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ@
SREERBEREERBRTK

B

E-T-TF > FEKERMEESREEE

2 Bl 49 £ 300,000 1 712,000,000 & 7+ + &2
T-NF—B - AEEHTEHRFGEERY

ERENELARERRERNTE -



COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted internal control measures to monitor the
continuous compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules
and regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. Also, as the Group’s
major subsidiaries are located in the PRC, relevant regulatory requirements
on the Group include PRC government policies and regulations towards
the mineral water industry, PRC laws and regulations on environmental
protection, PRC laws on regulation of manufacture and sales of general
food products, PRC taxes, regulation of foreign currency exchange and
dividend distribution, and other relevant PRC laws and regulations.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, as far as the Board is
aware, the Group has complied in all material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group. During 2020, the Company has not timely
complied with the disclosure requirement under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules for discloseable transactions of the Company in respect of loans
made by subsidiaries of the Company to independent third parties or an
associated company of the Company, the total outstanding sum of which
as at 31 December 2020 was approximately RMB1,263 million, which are
recognized as the other financial assets at amortised cost of the Group,
and guarantees provided to an associated company of the Company for
the total sum of RMB170 million. Further disclosures will be made by the
Company in due course.

The Group continues its commitment to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

In order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers around
our water source. No human activities are allowed in the most restricted
zone and the spring source has been secured in a fully enclosed facility to
prevent any potential contamination.

Our production facility generates and/or discharges wastes including waste
water, plastics, papers or air pollutants during the production activities.
We consider the protection of the environment to be of utmost importance
and have implemented procedures for waste storage, handling and/or
disposal. The Group aims to minimise the impact of our activities on the
environment and requires our staff to follow the same principle. We adhere
to the principles of low carbon emission, waste and emission reduction,
energy and cost saving and an overall environmentally friendly approach in
the way we operate.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Board believes in being people-oriented. The employees of the Group
are one of the most important assets of the Group and their contribution
and support are highly valued. The Group ensures staff are reasonably
remunerated with regular reviews on compensations and benefits policies
in accordance with the industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of the employees. Other fringe benefits, training, employee
provident fund and share options, if applicable, are provided by the Group
to solicit/retain loyal employees with the aim of forming a professional and
united staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher
levels of achievements.
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The Group seeks to maintain good relationship with its customers. The
Group maintains an after-sales call center to serve the end customers of
our products, and the sales personnel make regular visits and/or phone
calls to the regular distributors and sales outlets in the market. If there is
any complaint from customers, it will be reported to the management and
immediate remedial action will be taken. Thereafter, the cause of such
complaint will be studied, analysed and evaluated, and recommendations
will be made for future improvement.

The Group also seeks to maintain good relationship with its suppliers.
During the year, there was no dispute in debts or unsettled debts. In
addition, whenever the Group places orders, our suppliers are willing to
accept our orders.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board is aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including
some which are specific to the Group or the industry in which the Group
operates as well as others that are common to most businesses. The
Board has established a procedure to ensure that significant risks which
may adversely affect the Group’s performance and ability to deliver on its
strategies, as well as those which may present positive opportunities, are
identified, reported, monitored and managed on a continuous basis.

1. Risks relating to our industry

The Group could be affected by change in consumer preferences,
perception and spending patterns relating to bottled water and beer,
particularly premium bottled water and premium beer. The growth in
demand for bottled water products and beer products in the PRC has
been driven in part by the overall growth in the PRC economy and
disposable income of consumers. Any macroeconomic changes in the
PRC that adversely impact consumer consumption for the beverage
products could have a material adverse effect on our business and a
decline in the market share of our products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

The Group faces increasing competition from domestic and foreign
companies, which may affect our market share and profit margin. The
bottled water and beer industry in China is highly competitive, and
we expect competition to intensify. Our ability to compete is, to a
significant extent, dependent on our ability to distinguish our product
from those of our competitors by providing higher quality products
and services at reasonable prices that appeal to consumers’ tastes
and preferences. Some of our competitors may have longer operating
histories, may have substantially greater financial and other resources
and may be better established in certain markets.

Risks relating to our Business

Our reliance on limited water source represents a risk to our business
if the mineral content and quality of the spring water from that
source are adversely affected due to changes in the surrounding
geological environment or contamination of the water source. In
order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers
around our water source and also adhere to a strict quality control
system over all our operations.

As a premium products provider, we rely heavily on the product’s
brand names and our reputation to generate sales. Any event that
generates negative publicity for us could have an adverse effect on
the product’s brand names and our reputation, which in turn would
affect our ability to market and sell our products.
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Our water products are bottled at water sources in Tibet, and our
beer products are also manufactured in Tibet. Our business may
be interrupted or otherwise affected if relevant transportation is
affected, and thus resulting in negative impact on our ability to
transport adequate raw materials to our production facilities and the
transportation of our products from Tibet.

3. Financial risks

The Group's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. Details are set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 30 June 2011 with net proceeds from the global offering of
approximately HKD1,472 million (including proceeds from the exercise of
over-allotment option and after deducting underwriting commissions and
related expenses). On 10 April 2013, the Company resolved to change the
usage of the net proceeds from the global offering. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 10 April 2013 for details. The revised
usage of the net proceeds has been allocated in the following manner:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERENWR AT

—

As at As at As at

31 December 31 December 31 December

2019 2020 2020

Revised Utilized net In 2020 Utilized net ~ Unutilized net

usage of net proceeds Utilized net proceeds proceeds
proceeds  RZF-NE proceeds  RIFZF S

dkM T-A=t-B k-Z-FF¥ +{-A=t-H fZA=t-H

Biges EERH EERM EERM AERN

FEME  METERE  MENERE  FENERE  MENERE
HKOMillon — HKDMillon — KKD'Millon — HKDMillon KD Millon

S Y AEgr | BAeT | REEL | BAEL || BEET
Expand our production capacity by constructing ~ BfERRAEHRREE

additional facilities and purchasing additional BIMERBNE RSN

production equipment 133 133 = 133 =
Expand our distribution network and RERABHARREE

toward promotional activities REES 206 34 12 46 160
Mergers and acquisitions that complement our ~ BfesBRAFELER

existing business e b 1,002 1,002 - 1,092 -
Working capital and other general BEEEES AR

corporate purpose 4 41 4 - 4 -

1,472 1,300 12 1,312 160

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has utilized net proceeds amounting ~R-FT-_TF+-_A=+—H AKEDE
to HKD133 million, HKD46 million, HKD1,092 million and HKD41 million (i) ~ M T 13388 7T - 4,600 & 7T * 10.92
for expanding our production capacity, (ii) for expanding our distribution /B 7C % 4,100 & % T8 BT 5 50 IEH 8 0 A (i)
network and toward promotional activities, (iii) for mergers and acquisitions BERAEERD (i) AEEASHBE R
that complement our existing business, and (iv) as working capital and for ~ EEHEEZE : (i) BIERBEARMRE X
other general corporate purposes, respectively. The remaining net proceeds — BHIA G EUEE : R(WIERZEES LA
were deposited in reputable financial institutions and are intended to be — {EEM—MREERE o SR TIPS FTIRFHE
applied towards expanding distribution network and towards promotional ~ EFAEBRIFNEEEE - WITEERK
activities in the coming financial years. The net proceeds were applied and R BFEBIEE ARG HBE LEEHEER
are to be applied according to the intentions disclosed in the Company's ) ° FIfSRIBFREHEREALFEH R/
announcement dated 10 April 2013. Z-=FEMATANAEMRENEREE

B FiER
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FINAL DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared by the Company in respect of 2020 (2019:
nil).

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to make full use of its existing advantages in
resources, marketing channels and logistics network to strengthen and
solidify its strategic position in Tibet's water industry.

The Group will continue investing in significant resources, strengthen its
strategic cooperation with Sinopec and PetroChina Company Limited, fully
utilize the water resources and production bases advantages of Highland
Natural Water and Shannan Yalaxiangbu. and promote additional new
strategic cooperation to make the high-quality water from Tibet available
to numerous households.

The Group will continue to maintain and develop the advantages of
the 5100 Glacial Mineral Water as a premium brand, combine with
the resources of the existing key target channels including cinemas,
hotels, airlines, e-commerce, office and family users, with marketing and
promotional campaigns to continuously improve the brand image and
influence.

The Group will intensify its cooperation with various key platforms,
including JD.com and Tmall, in respect of sales and logistics to boost the
development of the Group's products in the e-commerce sales channels.
Coupled with its service system in the nationwide gas stations channels,
the Group will build its service networks which cover more consumers and
retail ends to diversify its sales models and make its products available to
more customers.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Please refer to Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements on pages
286 to 287 of this Annual Report.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. YUE Zhigiang, aged 56, is an executive Director and was appointed
to the Board on 1 March 2011. Mr. Yue has over 30 years of experience
in mechanical engineering and manufacturing plant operation, and is the
chairman of our major subsidiary company, Tibet Glacier Mineral Water
Co., Ltd. ("Tibet Glacier Mineral Water”). Mr. Yue studied at Shandong
University of Technology (LU T%AK2) (now combined into Shandong
University (LLERAE) in Machinery Production and obtained a bachelor
degree. Mr. Yue was appointed as the director of Tiandi Green on 25
December 2012.

Mr. YAN Qingjiang, aged 51, is an executive Director and the authorised
representative of the Company and was appointed to the Board on 27 May
2020. He is a member of the risk management committee of the Company.
He was a director of Tibet Galaxy Science & Technology Development Co.,
Ltd.* (FBERARRERRMHBERAR), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code:000752.5Z) from March 2002 to September
2017, during which he was the chairman of the board of directors from
March 2002 to June 2017.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong, aged 63, is a non-executive Director and was
appointed to the Board on 1 March 2011. Ms. Jiang is also the legal
representative of our major subsidiary company, Tibet Glacier Mineral
Water Co. Ltd,,

equipment and production site management. She has over 31 years of

and is responsible for the operation, quality control,

experience in operational management. She graduated from Xinjiang
Vocational University (3128 T X&) with a diploma in Economic
Management, then from Jiangnan University (T AZ) (formerly known as
Wuxi University of Light Industry (5% T X&) with a diploma of Brewery
Engineering, and from Xinjiang University (¥738A2) with a diploma of
Analytical Chemistry.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI, aged 53,
as an independent non-executive Director on 1 March 2011 and further

joined the Group and was appointed

appointed as Chairman of the board of Director on 27 May 2020. He was
re-designated to a non-executive Director with effect from 9 October 2020.
He is the chairman of the nomination committee and also a member of the

remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. Wei is currently a managing partner of a corporate finance advisory
firm. Mr. Wei served as the chief financial officer from December 2007
to September 2013 of IFM Investments Limited which is a real estate
services company headquartered in Beijing. From 2006 to 2007, Mr. Weij
served as the chief financial officer of a Chinese solar company listed on
Nasdag. From 1999 to 2005, Mr. Wei worked in the internal audit and risk
management functions with the Asia Pacific regional or global coverage
for multinational companies including LG Philips Displays International Ltd.
(2003 to 2005) headquartered in Hong Kong. From 1991 to 1999, Mr.
Wei worked with KPMG LLP and Deloitte Touche LLP in various audit and
consulting roles between the United States of America and China. Mr. Wei
graduated from Central Washington University in 1991, where he received
his bachelor’s degree (cum laude) with a double major in accounting and
business administration. He is also a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountant.

Mr. WEI currently also holds directorship of the following companies:

° As an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
audit committee of the board of Nexteer Automotive Group Limited
(stock code: 1316), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange; and

* As an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the
board of Alphamab Oncology (stock code: 9966), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 12 December 2019.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEERE

Mr. WEI's prior directorship include: BIEERAEEINESHERE

*  Asan independent director and the chairman of the audit committee s RIZF-NFOHAE_ZT-NF+tHA
of the board of Hunter Maritime Acquisition Corp. from April 2019 A Hunter Maritime Acquisition Corp.
to July 2019, a company which was listed on NASDAQ (ticker symbol: (RERHE : HUNT) B U EE5RE
HUNT) and delisted from NASDAQ in 2019; and ZEEXF /R EMERLD

PR —E-hERRIERER

e As an independent director of Alpha Peak Leisure Inc., a company s RIZE—+LFT+-HEZZT-TER
listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (TSX-V: AAP) in Canada from A & Alpha Peak Leisure Inc.(TSX—V:
November 2017 to June 2020. AAP) B EE  ZARREMNER

SRMEEFRPMEIER LT -

Independent Non-Executive Director BIUKHTES

Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement, aged 65, joined the Group and was appointed ~ tEE%L4 655 R_Z—hWE+ A
as an independent non-executive Director on 31 December 2019. He is the :+—HJJD]\$E@]I§%§TE7%§%I#$M?
chairman of the risk management committee and also a member of the EF - FAARTERERZESER I

audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of ABEZEES - @MKAE&TE%?AE
the Company. 8o

He obtained a bachelor of arts degree from the University of Huddersfield, BR—NANZ

United Kingdom in 1980. Mr. Hung had served Deloitte China for 31 BXEELER
years where he had assumed various leadership roles before he took up  31%F @ FR-T—WFEE T FEEE
the chairman role of Deloitte China from 2014 to 2016. He retired from  E)HREIEE — Bl LETTRMNBERL -
Deloitte China with effect from June 2016. When Mr. Hung was working ~ R ZZ—XFEXARZYFERT -tk
with Deloitte China, he had assumed various leadership roles, including —~ £REHHBEFMETTRNEERN - B1F
the managing partner of Deloitte Shenzhen office and Guangzhou office. ~ EBHRIIBAEREMNFAZEZHAZTEE
He was also a member of the China management team of Deloitte China.  ABA - ML AEEHE 2 PEHEEER
Mr. Hung had also assumed the role of the southern audit leader and the BB - LA S I ERERFEE %
deputy managing partner of the southern region of China (including Hong %ﬁ[m‘liﬁ BAMREE: FE -

Kong, Macau, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Xiamen and Changsha). He was also A BN ERFIRED) - TEZUTT_IE
a board member of Deloitte Global. ?%%D%W%?@W% °
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERAREEERE

Mr. Hung served as the Guangzhou Institute of Certified Public Accountants ~ HEAER -_TTNEE-F @EW‘EJﬂH
consultant from 2004 to 2014. During the period between 2006 to 2011, A&t EeEN R_TT EFZE

he also served as a member of the Political Consultative Committee of ~— ——FHiff » HIFE HEF ﬂHﬁ%ﬁﬂEﬂm
Luohu District, Shenzhen. After his retirement as the chairman of Deloitte HBEEEELE - HFRREEHF IZIf
China, he was appointed as an expert consultant of The Ministry of Finance B8 EFETERBETAZANER o it
in the PRC. Mr. Hung is a life member of The Institute of Chartered L4 AEKEEEBIHFTS ﬁﬁﬁi”@ziﬁ
Accountants in England and Wales. F8E8 -

Mr. Hung has, in the past three years, served or is serving as a director &L BF/BEZFEET T LHLA
HRORERT LT )MES

—

of each of the following listed companies whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange:

e an independent non-executive director of Gome Finance Technology ¢ H_-ZT—AF+A=Z+—HRBRETH

Company Limited (formerly known as Sino Credit Holdings Limited) XeRMBEARAR(AIBERERE
(stock code: 628) since 31 October 2016; BRAF - ROMRIE : 628) 8B L I H
TES
e an independent non-executive director of Sheng Ye Capital Limited o B -_T—+FXA+NLBRETRE
(stock code: 6069, the listing of the shares of which has been BARBRAAPRMDRIR 6069 ¢ %
transferred to the Main Board from the GEM of the Stock Exchange RABRHR_ZE—NF+A=+HA
(GEM stock code: 8469) from 24 October 2019) since 19 June 2017; F B A2 BT GEM £ (GEM e 17 (55 -
8469) B AT L) BILIENITE
g
e anon-executive director of High Fashion International Limited (stock o H_-T—+F+_-F—BRETEFN
code: 608) since 1 December 2017; BlREEAER AR (RGHRIE - 608)H)
FHTES

e an independent non-executive director of Aoyuan Healthy Life Group o H_-_T—hF-_AF-+_-_HEETR
Company Limited (stock code: 3662) since 22 February 2019; B EsEERAR(RMHA
3662) MBI IFITES

e an independent non-executive director of China East Education o BIZE-NAFARATZHREGFE
Holdings Limited (stock code: 667) since 12 June 2019; RAEHBEERERDARMD AR :
667 KB FFRITES |

e an independent non-executive director of Huarong International o H-T—hAFF+-_A+=ZHBETE

Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 993) since 13 December 2019; BEIRR € BIERR AR 2 B (R -
993) M) B IFHMITES
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an independent non-executive director of Skyworth Group Limited
(stock code: 751) since 18 March 2020;

an independent non-executive director of Lerthai Group Limited
(formerly known as LT Commercial Real Estate Limited) (stock code:
112) from 24 February 2017 to 3 March 2017 and a non-executive
director of the said company from 3 March 2017 to 30 June 2017.
He was re-designated as an independent non-executive director of
the said company on 30 June 2017 and subsequently resigned with
effect from 30 September 2018;

an independent non-executive director of SMI Holdings Group Limited
(stock code: 198) from 16 January 2017 to 15 March 2017 and re-
designated as a non-executive director of the said company on 15
March 2017. He subsequently resigned with effect from 28 February
2019; and

an independent non-executive director of Zhongchang International
Holdings Group Limited (formerly known as Henry Group Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 859) since 12 January 2018 and subsequently
resigned with effect from 15 June 2020.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. TANG Zeping, aged 63, joined the Group and was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 March 2020. He is the chairman
of the audit committee and remuneration committee and also a member of
the nomination committee of the Company.

He obtained a bachelor degree in engineering from XiZang Agriculture
and Animal Husbandry College* (Fafl 242 ) in 1983. He completed the
Advanced Training Course for Modern Entrepreneurs* (GRADER M
FI3E) at the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (Bl
HERIERHEAER) through distance learning in 1992 and the Advanced
Studies Course for New Era Bankers* (“$TEFRBIETR"®RIFIEH)
at Tsinghua University in 2017. Mr. Tang was qualified as an assistant
mechanical engineer in the PRC in 1986 and a mechanical engineer in
1988 in Qamdo, Tibet Autonomous Region, the PRC. He was qualified as
a certified assets manager in the PRC in 2010 and an affiliate member of
the Association of International Accountants in 2012. In addition, Mr. Tang
had previously served as an arbitrator at the Lhasa Arbitration Commission*
(TUiEMEZ B 2) and was selected by the SME Administration of the
Economic Commission for the Tibet Autonomous Region* (FiiE B8R ZE
/B EFF) in 2008 as an expert for the SME Development Project Expert
Database* (F/NPRZERIEBTEZXE).

Mr. Tang was (i) the chairman of the board of directors of Tibet
Autonomous Region State-owned Asset Management Company* (F0% 854
REBEELERT]), (i) the chairman of the board of supervisors of Tibet
Pearl Star Co., Ltd.* (FEEAEKIMDERAF]) (currently known as Meihua
Holdings Group Co., Ltd.* (G{EEWBIEREBERMBRAT)), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600873.SH), from
April 2000 to 2004, (iii) a director of Sichuan Youli Investment Holding

Co., Ltd.* (M| ZFIEEERZMDBRADE) (currently known as Jiangsu
Hagong Intelligent Robot Co., Ltd.* (/I@*UAI SR AR BRAR)), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000584.52),
from June 2002 to June 2014, (iv) a director of Tibet Urban Development
and Investment Co., Ltd.* (FEMTERKERMHBERADF), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600773.SH), from
July 2009 to July 2012, (v) the vice chairman of the board of supervisors
of Bank of Tibet Co., Ltd.* (AEHEITHRMNBR AT, from May 2012 to
December 2017, and (vi) a director of Tibet Tourism Co., Ltd.* (P87 jr s
5B AR]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600749.5H), from June 2013 to May 2018.
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Currently, Mr. Tang is the chairman of the supervisory board of Tianfu
Mercantile Exchange Co., Ltd.* (RIFE MR S BR A A]), the chairman of
the board of supervisors of Tibet Treasure of Plateau Yak Dairy Co., Ltd*
(FARER2EEFIAERMARRAR]) and a director of each of Lianzhong
Peer Health Technology Co., Ltd.* (BZRR{TEERERMERLQE) and
Shenzhen Soft Magnetic Technology Co., Ltd.* (RYITREHERMARE A
al).

Mr. DAl Yang, aged 52, joined the Group and was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 27 May 2020. He is a member
of the audit committee, nomination committee and risk management
committee of the Company. Mr. Dai has successively served as deputy chief
officer, chief officer, deputy division director, deputy director and director
of the Supervision Department of Listed Companies of the Tibet Securities
Regulatory Bureau of the China Securities Regulatory Commission during
the period of October 2000 to December 2008. Further, Mr. Dai was (i) a
general manager of Tibet Mineral Development Co.,Ltd.* (FafiiE%%E K
B2 7]) (stock code: 000762.5Z) from January 2009 to February 2015;
(i) director of Tibet Mineral Development Co.,Ltd.* (FEEZEER N BR
2 8]) (stock code: 000762.57) from June 2009 to September 2017, during
which he was the vice-chairman and chairman of the board of directors
from July 2009 to February 2015 and from February 2015 to September
2017 respectively; and (i) a director of Hainan Haide Industry Co.,Ltd.* (&
FEEEERMHAERAR) (stock code: 000567.5Z) from May 2018 to March
2019, during which he was the chairman and vice-chairman of the board
of directors from May 2018 to October 2018 and from October 2018 to
March 2019 respectively. Since August 2019, Mr. Dai is an independent
director of Yunnan Baiyao Group Co., Ltd* (EFHZEERMHERELD
A]) (stock code: 000538.57). Since April 2021, Mr. Dai is an independent
director of Wondershare Technology Co., Ltd (BERIHEBRH AR Q)
(stock code: 300624.57).

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

BEREBMECRANARRZHMERARE
EETR ARRRZEERTIARRHEAR
AREEER  UERBRRTREMRRNE
RAR AT RERERMBERARZA
HEE -

HHEAE 52 R-ZE-ZTFAA
ZHEAMAREB U ER T ABILIENT
BEE -HEERARAIEREZEY  REZ
BEgLEREBRZEENE - R _ZTT
F+AZEZZEZN\F+ - AHHETPBEF
EemEEERETERNE  TARE &
EREER  FTERLTAFEERRR °
WA BEENR-_TTNE—AE_Z
—hE_AREAREBBEEERRHERAF
(B 8% : 000762.52) 4R : (MR =
ZENFRNAEZE—tFNAREHERRE
EERBROBRAF (BRHARHR : 000762,
SZ) B HHRR-_EEAFLAEC
E-hF-_ANZE-RF-_RE-_ZT—+t
FNRAHREFESEREETREEER
Ry =—E—N\FEFRAZE-Z—NF=A
EEBmEBREEROMBR LA (RHORK
5% : 000567.52) EF - HARNRZT—N
FRAZZZ-N\F+ARZZE-N\F+A
2T -NF-APRETEZESESERN
IEER -BZT—NFNAR BEEA
EHHEEERNARAR (BRMHRKR
000538.5Z) WEBEUES - AT -_—F@
AR BAREABEENBREERNBERAA
(BPH5R - 300624.52) HBUESE -

IIF:

H

& Eol



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. WANG Dong, aged 55, was appointed as executive Director on
29 May 2017 and further appointed as the chief executive officer of the
Company on 18 August 2017. He retired as an executive Director on 30
June 2020. Mr. Wang graduated with a bachelor of laws degree at Xinjiang
University. He obtained a master degree in engineering at Wuhan University
and an EMBA degree at the South China University of Technology.

Mr. Wang is qualified as a lawyer of the PRC since 1989, a senior
economist of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China since 2001 and
a practitioner of the Asset Management Association of China since 2016.
He also received the "Qualification as an independent director of listed
companies” from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2016.

From 1987 to 2012, Mr. Wang worked in the provincial branch office as
well as the case management department of the headquarters and the
regional branch office of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited.
During the aforesaid period, he served as the department head of the case
management department of the headquarters, general manager of the
legal affairs department of the provincial branch office, general manager of
the risk management department of the provincial branch office, general
manager of the regional branch office, as well as the president of the
regional urban finance society and regional banking industry association.
In August 2012, Mr. Wang served as the head of the legal compliance
department at the headquarters of Guangdong Nanyue Bank and a
member of the law committee of the Banking Association of Guangdong.
From September 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Wang was the director and
chief executive officer of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd..

So far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors and the chief
executive officer of the Company has any relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with each other.

* for identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERERE

The Board now presents this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year under review.,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is firmly committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices to enhance shareholders’ value and safeguard
shareholders' interests. Accordingly, the Board has considered carefully the
requirements of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and as described below, has taken actions
to further enhance corporate transparency and accountability.

The Board believes good corporate governance is one of the critical factors
for achieving sustainable long-term success. The corporate governance
principles of the Company emphasize on the importance of a quality
Board and its accountability to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Board regularly reviews the corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the principles and code provisions as
set out from time to time in the CG Code and strive to maintain the long-
term healthy development of the Company.

During 2020, the Company has complied with the code provisions of the
CG Code save for the following deviation:

Under code provision A.5.5, where the board proposes a resolution to
elect an individual as an independent non-executive director at the general
meeting, it should set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting, among
other things, the reasons why it considers the individual to be independent.

The Company’s circular dated 29 May 2020 (the “Circular”) on, among
other things, the re-election of Mr. Dai Yang (“Mr. Dai"), an independent
non-executive Director, did not set out the reasons why the Board
considered him to be independent notwithstanding his interest in 16,000
ordinary shares in the Company. The Board had considered Mr. Dai to
be independent on the grounds that his shareholding only represented
approximately 0.00062% of the entire issued share capital of the Company,
being far below the 1% limit set out in rule 3.13(1) of the Listing Rules.
Given the very small number and insignificant value of the shares involved,
the Board was of the view that such shareholding was immaterial to the
assessment of the independence of Mr. Dai. As the number of shares held by
Mr. Dai had already been disclosed in the Circular and the immateriality of
such interest was obvious, no further elaboration was considered necessary.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

EFgEUREENARELDBEFEFEA

M EERTE °

>

TEERER
EFERTAREBRAR R KT ZLEE
ﬁ BoBELERREEERRERERE
o Htt  EFEFAEE LTRAKNE 14
Wﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ?“Gi%%é?wD*IE
RET TXFTE SIS - S RA S
EEPHENEEN -

Hﬂﬁf

\\

EECRERINEXRERRABZERTR
ERERINBERREZEL— - AR T%m%
BERRAEESERNESTEMH AL
%Uﬁih%ﬁﬁ&o%$@$MMﬂ¢%
BRER  UERETEXREATIATE
FT &l 2 A e 5T RIS R 3 R R B RO A
EEER -

R-Z-FF BRUATRETAEN  AQF
—EHEBETCEERTRRTRIEX

BETARNFEASSF  EEFEHNRK
RRE I REABREEEALRBILIEH
TEE ARABRRASASHEMMERR
BN/ EHARMF - BZIB(EPE
BERRZABALBBILIALHREA -

AARBHAE-E-_ZFRA-TNLBEME
(R ERBUFRNTESHG LA
((BrE)rBr((ZBR]DLEIAE
$EmﬁﬁgﬁiAiMEl M HEH
16,000 R AR B L@ AR Mg 2S 2RA
ﬁ%i%%ﬁAiE%mﬁ%h@mmﬁﬂ
2EEEITRAMNL0.00062% @ RIEN £
MRAE 313N EEA 1% ER o ERTH K&
BRNHBERLVEEELIFEN  EEER
BRERETHEBELENBYET T ARR
o AREEERBNRNE B EEZBHR
hiEE - BRESRETEBRENE  FiE
AEZEE—SEI -



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board leads and supervises the overall direction and development
of the Group’s business and affairs, with the objective of enhancing
Shareholders’ value including making and approving the Company's
strategic implementation, considering substantial investments, reviewing
the Group’s financial performance and developing and reviewing the
Group's policies and practices on corporate governance. The Directors
are responsible for, and has also delegated to the chief executive officer
the authority and responsibility to oversee the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established four
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.

Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises of seven Directors, comprising two executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs.
The Board has a balance of appropriate skill, experience and diversity of
perspectives to meet the requirements of the Group’s business.

Executive Directors
Mr. YUE Zhigiang
Mr. YAN Qingjiang

Non-executive Directors
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement

Mr. TANG Zeping

Mr. DAI Yang
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There are four Board committees in the Company. The table below provides
the current constituents of each of the committees.

EXeNERREELR B eNEENE
fir o

S—_—

Audit
Committee
.................................................................................. EUZAR
Mr. YAN Qingjiang EEILE —
(executive Director) (M1TESR)
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI BIR £ —
(non-executive Director) (FEHTTESR)
Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement HEELE Member
(independent non-executive Director) (BUFRTES) 28
Mr. TANG Zeping EEYEE Chairman
(independent non-executive Director) (BUFRITES) *RE
Mr. DAl Yang FHEE Member
(independent non-executive Director) (BUFRITES) 28

Risk
Nomination Remuneration  Management

Committee Committee Committee

REEEE ¥MZzEe ERERZEE

= = Member

28

Chairman Member =
£ €8

Member Member Chairman

€8 €8 *E

Member Chairman =
€8 i

Member = Member

g8 &8

The list of Directors and their role and function is available at the
Company's and the Stock Exchange's websites. Their profiles are set out in
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” which is
on pages 40 to 49 of this Annual Report.

The Company has seven Directors, of which three are independent non-
executive Directors, in compliance with the requirements under Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules.

During 2020, the Board noted that following the resignation of Mr.
Lee Conway Kong Wai as an independent non-executive Director on 29
February 2020, the number of the independent non-executive Directors
had fallen below one-third of the Board as required under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. However, following the appointment of Mr. Tang Zeping
on 2 March 2020, the Company has complied with the requirement under
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
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The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy in 2013 which sets out the
approach to diversify the Board. Under the said Policy, the Nomination
Committee of the Company reviews and assesses Board composition on
behalf of the Board and recommends the appointment of a new Director
when necessary. In suggesting the Board's composition, the Nomination
Committee of the Company considers a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
Nomination Committee of the Company will also consider factors based
on the Group's business model and specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The profile of our current Board members are as follows:
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive of the Company are separate and are assumed by Mr. Kevin
Cheng Wei and Mr. Wang Dong, respectively. The Chairman’s primary
responsibilities include deciding on the meeting schedule and agenda,
formulating Board policies, ensuring Board effectiveness, promoting
the Company and upholding the Company’s corporate governance
standards. The Chief Executive has delegated authority from the Board

and is responsible for managing the Group's business, including the
implementation of the strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board.
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Operation of the Board

All the executive Directors are responsible for dealing with the business
of the Group in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) have been
consulted on major and material matters of the Group.

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the
Group, including convening Shareholders’ meetings, reporting their work
in the Shareholders’ meeting, implementing the Shareholders’ resolutions,
determining the Group's business plans and strategies, formulating the
Group’s annual budget and final accounts, formulating proposals for
dividend and bonus distribution, and determining duties as conferred
to it by the Articles of Association of the Company. In discharging its
responsibilities, the Board meets and communicates regularly and acts in
good faith, with due diligence and care.

The Board meets regularly to review financial statements, material
investments in new projects, dividend policy, major financings, treasury
policies and changes in accounting policies. All Directors have access
to Board papers and related materials which are provided in a timely
manner. Directors have access to the advice and services provided by the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) with a
view to ensuring that the procedures applicable to Board meetings, and
all applicable rules and regulations, are followed. Draft and final versions
of the minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings, drafted
in sufficient detail by the secretary of the meetings, would be circulated
to the Directors for their comments and record. Originals of such minutes,
being kept by the Company Secretary, are open for inspection at any time
upon a reasonable notice period given by any Director.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board determines to be material, the relevant Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or
any of his/her associates have a material interest and that he/she shall not
be counted in the quorum present at the Board meeting.
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Under the respective appointment letters, the current non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
period of three years unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the
appointment letters. Their appointment may be terminated either by the
Company or by the Director by giving three months’ written notice to the
other party. All the current non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the coming annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company. The Company has received
from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of its independent non-executive Directors independent.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) will retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

The Board believes that the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide sufficient checks and
balances that safequard the interests of the Shareholders and the Group.
The non-executive Directors provide the Group with diversified knowledge,
expertise and experience. Their views and participation in Board and
committee meetings bring independent judgement and advice on issues
relating to the Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of interest and
management process, and ensure that the interests of all Shareholders
are taken into account. More than one of the independent non-executive
Directors possess the appropriate professional accounting qualifications or
related financial management expertise, which exceeds the requirements
under the Listing Rules. The opinions raised by the independent non-
executive Directors in Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good
corporate governance practices.
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director will receive a
comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company’s
external legal advisor, covering business operations, policy and procedures
of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time
to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors are regularly briefed on the
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company and the Company Secretary have been encouraging
the Directors and other management to enroll in a wide range of
professional development courses and seminars relating to the Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance/laws and corporate governance practices
organized by professional bodies, independent auditor and/or chambers in
Hong Kong so that they can continuously update and further improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.

From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials to
develop and refresh their professional skills. The Company Secretary also
coordinates, organises and arranges seminars on the latest development
of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the Directors to assist them
in discharging their duties. During the year, seminar materials, articles and
updates relating to the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements have been provided to Directors.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Group's
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties.

According to the information provided by Directors and records
maintained by the Company, the Directors have each received training
with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a
listed company in compliance with the requirement of the CG Code on
continuous professional development during the year:
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Types of training
5 I8

Executive Directors
Mr. YUE Zhigiang
Mr. YAN Qingjiang

(appointed on 27 May 2020)
Mr. LIU Chen

(resigned on 27 May 2020)
Mr. WANG Dong

(retired on 30 June 2020)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong

Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI
(re-designated from independent
non-executive Director to non-executive
Director on 9 October 2020)

Mr. WEI Zhe Ming
(retired on 30 June 2020)

Mr. XU Liang
(retired on 30 June 2020)

Ms. GUO Kun Kun
(retired on 30 June 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. HUNG Kai Hai Clement
Mr. TANG Zeping
(appointed on 2 March 2020)
Mr. DAI Yang
(appointed on 27 May 2020)
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai
(resigned on 29 February 2020)
Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN
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Delegation by the Board

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the
management of the Company. The Board and the management have their
clearly defined authorities and responsibilities under various internal control
and check and balance mechanisms. The Board delegates matters to the
Board committee(s), executive Directors or management to the extent that
the ability of the Board as a whole to perform its functions would not be
significantly hindered or reduced.

There is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board
for its consideration and delegation. The Board has given clear directions
to management as to matters that must be approved by the Board before
decisions can be made on behalf of the Company.

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and to facilitate effective
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated by the
Board to the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”), Nomination
Committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and Remuneration Committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”) of the Company which were
established with written terms of references in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The adopted terms of references comply with the code provisions as
set out from time to time in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Furthermore,
the Board have also set up a Risk Management Committee (the “Risk
Management Committee”) for the main purpose of formulating policies
and making recommendations to improve the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems.

Each board committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions
and recommendations, where appropriate. Each board committee is also
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense according to
the Company’s policy, if necessary.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee meets at least twice per annum, according to its

terms of reference. Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to make a recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
where applicable, to handle any questions relating to the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard;

to monitor the integrity of financial statements of the Company and
the Company's annual report, interim report and related financial
results (if prepared for publication), and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them; and

to review the Company’s financial control, internal control and risk
management system.

All three Audit Committee members (including the Chairman) are

independent non-executive Directors. The Chairman of the Audit

Committee possesses the relevant financial management expertise and

experience. The committee members, together with our external auditor,

met four times during 2020 and discharged their principal responsibilities

by:

a)

reviewing the interim results and final results of the Group and the
relevant financial statements and reports and significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them prior to the approval by
the Board and reviewing the external auditor’s report and findings
relating to the work that has been performed,;

making a recommendation to the Board on the appointment of
the external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and where applicable, handling
any questions relating to the resignation of the external auditor;
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reviewing the external auditor’s audit plan and terms of engagement
for the work performed,;

reviewing the independence and objectivity of the external auditor,
and the service fee payable to the external auditor; and

reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the
Group including financial control, operational control, compliance
control and risk management.

Nomination Committee

Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
on a regular basis and make recommendations to the Board on any
proposed changes;

to recommend to the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors;

to ensure sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board and Shareholders (when necessary) for
them to make decisions regarding the selection of Board members;
and

to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

All Board appointment will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be

considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of

the diversity of the Board. The Board has adopted a board diversity policy

which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Accordingly,

selection of candidates to the Board will be based on a range of diversity

perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and

educational background, professional experience and qualifications, skills,

knowledge and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s own

business model and specific needs from time to time. Taking into account

the Company's corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,

experience and diversity needed in the future, the Nomination Committee

is comfortable with the existing structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will ask proposed candidates to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form. The Nomination
Committee may request candidates to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary. The appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing members of the
Board shall be made in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and other applicable rules and regulations.

Three meetings have been held by the Nomination Committee during 2020
and the following work has been satisfactorily concluded:

a)  reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

b) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

c)  ensuring sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board for them to make decisions regarding the
selection of Board members; and

d) recommending the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors.

Remuneration Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure on the remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such remuneration policy;

b)  to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss of office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is consistent with the contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

C)  to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to the corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time
to time.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

REZBERBRREARBENTARER
EM1A§M WEEZEERARBLY
P HA] ERIRE AR ER RO -
ﬁﬁ%é&&ﬁ%%AF“AiéﬁéE%
EEEMREXE  HEARBADRNAER
ERAA R E B AR AR OIETT -

REEEEN_Z-_ZENBIT=ZREE
FrgETi RS RESRNTIERIE

@ REEFEMRE RE ARLZ

(b) HEIIFRITERRBUITETIHE

 CREFERHREHERRALINE
FEEREFAREZLEHABEE
EEMEELRE R

d) HEAEFNEE ZOERELRES
SRMES -

FMEES
HIZREBRE:

a) HARAERENRSREEEBNEERR
R 3R e 2018 - Y3t 61 T 3% 55 H A IR
RMBLERREBHENERF - @
EXgRhES:

b) BIEARIEARTEERSREEA
BREMBERS T LR HREMX

MHRE  UERZEHREESNK
R—B: AREEABBAOGKRT—
BoBETAERYRE  T2E%:
K

o BE2REFSITHHRBENAF
TEHEER BHRMAERREME
EHFA -

BERKEFRERAT | £ 2020




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

During 2020, the Remuneration Committee has met four times and
considered, reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration package of all the Directors (including the nominated
candidates) and senior management.

Risk Management Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a) to review and assess the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management systems, and propose changes thereto, to identify,
measure, manage and/or control risks;

b)  to discuss the risk management system with management to ensure
that management has performed its duty to maintain an effective risk
management system;

c)  to consider major investigation findings on risk management matters
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management'’s
response to these findings; and

d) to formulate policies and make recommendations to improve the
Company'’s internal control and risk management systems.

During 2020, the Risk Management Committee has met once to
consider and review the existing internal control system. Management’s
recommendations on financial management function were discussed,
considered and adopted to improve the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems.

The composition of the Board and the Board members’ respective
attendance in Board meetings, general meeting, the Audit Committee
meetings, the Nomination Committee meetings, the Remuneration
Committee meetings and the Risk Management Committee meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2020 were as follows:
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Lo
No. of meetings attended/held
BHiE/ BrEH%A
Risk
Management
General Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration ~ Committee
Board Meeting  Committee  Committee  Committee BREE
eereenenerensnseerseseriessneroessrseerseserirsenersessnseersenene S R Ese | BRRR  BUZAE  REZRR  FMZRR  2AE
Executive Directors UnES
Mr. YUE Zhigiang ehLy e /i i - - - -
Mr. YAN Qingjiang BBk
(appointed on 27 May 2020) (RZZ-ZFRA-_TLHEEH) 44 1" - _ _ _
Mr. LIU Chen BRfE
(resigned on 27 May 2020) (R=E-FFRA-TLARM) 313 - - - - 10
Mr. WANG Dong IREE
(retired on 30 June 2020) (RZBZFFRA=TREH) i 1" - 0 0 -
Non-executive Directors FurES
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong ZRIAT m i - - - -
Mr. Kevin Cheng WE| RS
(re-designated as non-executive (R=E-FF+ANRSM
Director on 9 October 2020) RIITES) 1 - - - - —
Mr. WEI Zhe Ming ’%*ﬁﬂﬁﬁ
(retired on 30 June 2020) (R-E-ZRFRA=TREM) 4/4 17 — — — -
Mr. XU Liang Bats
(retred on 30 June 2020) (RZBZZFRA=TREH) 44 " — — - -
Ms. GUO Kun Kun IRERL
(retired on 30 June 2020) (R=B_ZFRA=TREH) 44 1" —~ — - -
Independent Non-executive Directors  BUFHTES
Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement ARERE n /1 414 33 4/4 111
Mr. TANG Zeping EETLE
(appointed on 2 March 2020) (NZFZFF-AZAEZM) 66 " 44 0 33 —
Mr. DAI Yang ik
(appointed on 27 May 2020) (RZZ-ZERA-TLARZA) 44 i 0N i - -
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai ShErs
(resigned on 29 February 2020) (W=EZFFZAZTARRM) - - - - - -
Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN ERfess
(resigned on 27 May 2020) (RZFZFFRAZTLARD 33 — n 0 n —
Mr. Kevin Cheng WE| RAEE
(re-designated as non-executive (RZFZFFTANA
director on 9 October 2020) AERITES) 6/6 10 33 0 i 10
Average attendance rate THLRE 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
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During the year under review, the Chairman of the Company has held a
meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken and adopted the responsibility for performing
the corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is
committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is in place
to continuously review, monitor and improve the corporate governance
practices within the Group with regard to the prevailing legal and
regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and practices on the
Group’'s corporate governance, developed a code of conduct applicable
to the Directors and employees, monitored the Company's legal and
regulatory compliance, organised training and continuing professional
development for Directors and management and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the disclosures in this Annual Report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in
discharge of its corporate governance function.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective
internal control system of the Group. Our internal control system includes
a well-defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed for the achievement of business objectives, safeguarding assets
against unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring proper maintenance
of books and records for the provision of reliable and timely financial
information for internal use or publication, and ensuring compliance with
relevant laws and regulations. In addition, the Group has established risk
management procedures to identify and prioritise risks for the business to
be addressed by management. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Board has supervised a review of the effectiveness of the internal
control system and has received a confirmation from management on the
effectiveness of these systems during the Reporting Period.
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The systems of internal control are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, business risk; to help safeguard the Group's assets against
fraud and other irregularities; and to give reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material financial misstatement or loss. In addition, it
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and fair accounting
records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules and regulations.

During the year, no incident of serious fraud or misconduct was reported
from employees that had a material effect on the Company’s financial
position and overall operations.

The Group shall review the effectiveness of the internal control system
at least once every year to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of the
system.

MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The management team of the Company meets regularly to review and
discuss with the executive Directors on day-to-day operational matters,
financial and operating performance as well as to monitor and ensure that
the management is properly carrying out the directions and strategies pre-
determined by the Board.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the requirements set out
in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for keeping proper
accounting books and records and overseeing the preparation of accounts
for each financial year/period which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial
year/period and the profit and loss for the year/period. The Directors
have adopted applicable International Financial Reporting Standards in
all material respects, selected appropriate accounting policies and then
applied them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates that
they believe to be fair and reasonable. The Directors use a going concern
basis in preparing the accounts unless it is not applicable.

The Board acknowledges that a clear, balanced and timely presentation
of financial information is crucial in maintaining the confidence of
Shareholders in the Company. Reasonable disclosure of the Company's
financial position and prospects are provided in the reports. Annual and
interim results are published within three and two months after the end of
the relevant financial year/period, respectively.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 91 to 101 of this

Annual Report.

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance for its Directors and officers covering the costs, losses, expenses
and liabilities arising from the performance of their duties. The insurance
policy is reviewed on an annual basis ensuring adequate covers on potential
legal action against its Directors and officers arising from the performance
of their duties and to comply with the requirement of the CG Code. During
the year, no claim was made against the Directors and officers of the
Company.
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Article 164(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that
the Directors or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty provided
that the indemnity shall not be extended to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may be attached to the relevant Director or
officer of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for effective
communication with Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board and
the Board Committees, or in his absence, fellow Directors and other
management members will be made available to answer questions at the
general meetings.

Extensive information about the Group's activities is provided in this Annual
Report, the interim report and circulars which are sent to Shareholders in
a timely manner and are made available on the Company’s website (www.
twr1115.net). Our website serves as a communication platform where
company information including corporate profile, corporate governance
materials, announcements, circulars, business news and financial reports
are made available to the public. All Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company to understand the business
of the Group from the Directors and senior management in the general
meeting.

The forthcoming annual general meeting (2021 AGM") would be
convened in a later time as of the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in
Hong Kong. The Board would monitor how the current situation develops
in order to better suggest how to manage the potential health risks of
a physical meeting and also to decide the appropriate time schedule to
convene the 2021 AGM. Once the situation allows, the notice of the 2021
AGM will then be dispatched to all Shareholders not less than twenty
clear business days beforehand. At the 2021 AGM, the Chairman of the
Board will demand for a poll and the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar will be appointed as the scrutineer for the vote-taking.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, an extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by such Shareholders, provided that
such Shareholders held at the date of deposit of the written requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the
date of deposit which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the
date of deposit of the requisition duly proceed to convene the meeting,
the Shareholders themselves may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as those meetings which may be convened
by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholders
as a result of the failure of the Directors in convening the said meeting
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the
Articles of Association of the Company. Shareholders who wish to move
a resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting
following the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph. As regards
the nomination of a person as a Director, please refer to the procedures
available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by mail in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit 1611-12, 16th Floor, One Island South, 2 Heung Yip
Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall consider a
number of conditions and factors and maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future business development.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there had been no change to the Company’s constitutional
documents.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chow Wai Kit is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and was appointed on a full-time basis as the
Company Secretary. During the year ended 31 December 2020, Mr. Chow
has taken not less than 15 hours of appropriate professional training to
update his skills and knowledge as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. Mr. Chow reports to the Group Chairman on Board governance
matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board policies and procedures
are followed. All Board members have access to his advice and services.
He arranges the comprehensive and tailored induction program for new
Directors prior to their appointment and provides timely updates to the
Directors on relevant new legislation or regulatory requirements. Director
training has been organized on a regular basis by the Company Secretary
to assist Directors’ continuous professional development.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR SMEERZBIED

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) has resigned as the auditor of the  BEEEKESHMELF(BEIRMKE])
Company with effect from 21 December 2020. With the recommendation ERERARZEM BT _TF+_H
of the Audit Committee, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB") has  —+—BE4LER - KARNAIERLZESHE
been appointed as the new auditor of the Company with effect from 21 % BIEEAMEBMERAA(ER])
December 2020 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of EEZTARRAFZEM B _T_TF
PwC and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general TTAZT—BRER DEREIRKE
meeting of the Company. The Audit Committee is mandated to review — B 2T ETHEEARAR TERERE
and monitor the independence of the external auditor to ensure objectivity ~ FAGHERAIF - EREESEREREE
and the effectiveness of the audit process of the financial statements in  FIZEER K EEINEZBEMABLIE - M
accordance with applicable standards. Members of the Audit Committee  HRB BREPTHEERNTHEREX
were of the view that the Company’s external auditor, HLB, is independent 1 - B ZE €K ERE - AR BINEZE
and recommended to the Board to re-appoint it as the Company’s external ~ FIEGBBIA L YAEESELES
auditor at the 2021 AGM. For the year, the fees paid/payable to the R-TE-_—FRFFFASLEERFAEALD
Company's external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services  RIMNEZEED - FA - AR A FHIMNEZEED
provided to the Group are set out below: RMASBERE ERZRIFEZREHEH
[ERZEBREINWT

_—

2020 2019
S8 =5
RMB‘000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Audit services EZR 1,779 7,136
Non-audit services FEEZR
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

To ensure investors have a better understanding of the Group, our
management is pro-active in its investor relations initiatives. Our Directors,
Chief Financial Officer and the investor relations officers communicate
with research analysts and institutional investors on an on-going basis
after our results announcements and participate in non-deal roadshows to
communicate the Company's financial performance and business strategy.

Disclaimer

The contents of this section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are for reference and
disclosure compliance purposes only. The information does not represent and should not
be regarded as legal or other professional advice from the Company to the Shareholders.
Shareholders should seek their own independent legal or other professional advice as
to their rights as Shareholders. The Company disclaims all liabilities and losses incurred
by its Shareholders in reliance on any contents of this section headed “Shareholders’
Rights”.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
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The Directors are delighted to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 110 of this Annual Report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the financial
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 is
set out in the sections headed “Letter to Shareholders” and “Management
Discussion & Analysis” on pages 8 to 13 and pages 16 to 39 of this Annual
Report respectively. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group are set out in the “Management Discussion & Analysis”
section and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements on page 35 to
37 and pages 184 to 205 of this Annual Report, respectively.

In addition, discussions on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group and an account of the Group's key
relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers are set out in the
“Management Discussion & Analysis” section on pages 33 to 35 of this

Annual Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 102 to 103 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year 2020.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 288 of this Annual Report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements during the year in the land use rights and PP&E
of the Group are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively on pages 222 to 226 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 267 of this Annual Report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings as at 31 December 2020 are set out in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 260 to 266 of this
Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme"”) on 7 September 2012. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Board, at its discretion, to grant options to selected
eligible participants to motivate them and to optimise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group.
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The Board may, at its discretion, grant options pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme to directors (including independent non-executive directors)
of the Group, employees of the Group and other persons the Board
considers have contributed or will contribute to the Group. In general, the
maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company, unless otherwise approved by
the Shareholders in general meeting and/or other requirements prescribed
under the Listing Rules. The maximum number of shares available in
respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
is 256,889,300 shares. The subscription price of a share in respect of a
particular option shall be not less than the highest of (a) the official closing
price of the shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange; (b)
the average official closing price of the shares on the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share. The Share Option
Scheme shall remain effective within a period of 10 years from the
adoption date.

The Company granted 25,200,000 share options for the subscription of
25,200,000 shares of the Company on 16 December 2015. However, these
share options had lapsed on 31 December 2018.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options under the Share Option Scheme to each eligible participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company, unless with the prior approval from the Shareholders and with
such participant and his associates abstaining from voting. Options granted
to any Director or substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective
associates, shall be subject to the prior approval of the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who
is the grantee). Where any option granted to a substantial Shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and to be granted to such person in the 12
month period up to and including the date of such grant, (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue at the date of such grant;
and (i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares, in excess of HKD5 million, such grant of options shall be subject to
prior approval of the Shareholders in general meeting by way of poll.
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An offer of a grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme shall
remain open for acceptance for no more than 14 days from the offer
date. Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HKD1 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant. Options may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time
during a period determined by the Board which shall not exceed 10 years
from the date of grant. The subscription price shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion, and in any event shall not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date, (ii) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the offer date,
and (iii) the nominal value of a share. No option may be granted more
than ten years after the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme (i.e. 7
September 2012). Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general
meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years from the adoption date.

There was no share option granted, exercised, lapsed, cancelled or
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme during the year.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017. Up to 31 December
2020, no share has been granted by the Group to any parties under the
share award scheme.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BrRBERE
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's Articles ~ AR AMAGERANLFSEHES (A QA
of Association or the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (law 3 of 1961, as  #fMAZHB)FE2E R AA(— AN —F
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s place of  F35A0 - KGARE) T EEEELE
incorporation. BRI

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY AATHS BN FHE

As at 31 December 2020, the accumulated deficits of the Company RZZT-_ZTHF+-_A=+—H AQAZR:f
amounted to RMB147 million (31 December 2019: RMB123 million). As  BEBAARK147ET(ZT— ijE+ A
at 31 December 2020, the share premium of the Company, amounted to  =+—H : AR¥1238x) - R-E=-F
RMB1,225 million (31 December 2019: RMB1,225 million), is distributable ~ F+Z=A=+—H ' MAEEEHILL—K
to Shareholders subject to the solvency test and the sanction of an ordinary ~ REFEHLAE - KRR GEAARKE 12.25(87T
resolution. (ZE-NE+ZA=+—8: AE@HZ 25
BT ORARE R AR ARRETHRE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES BE  HERBEERRAG

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company nor any HE-Z-_ZF+_-_A=+—HIFE XK
of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's REREFMHBARMERES  HEXE
shares. Bl AR R B ER R
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. YUE Zhigiang

Mr. YAN Qingjiang
(appointed on 27 May 2020)

Mr. LIU Chen
(resigned on 27 May 2020)

Mr. WANG Dong (Chief Executive Officer)
(retired as Director on 30 June 2020)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong

Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI (Chairman)
(appointed as Chairman on 27 May 2020 and re-designated
as non-executive Director from independent non-executive director
on 9 October 2020)

Mr. WEI Zhe Ming
(retired on 30 June 2020)

Mr. XU Liang
(retired on 30 June 2020)

Ms. GUO Kun Kun
(retired on 30 June 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement
Mr. TANG Zeping
(appointed on 2 March 2020)
Mr. DAI Yang
(appointed on 27 May 2020)
Mr. LEE Conway Kong Wai
(resigned on 29 February 2020)
Mr. Jesper Bjoern MADSEN (ex-Chairman)
(resigned on 27 May 2020)

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. YUE Zhigiang, Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI and Mr. HUNG Ka Hai
Clement shall retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves
for re-election at the 2021 AGM.
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Details of the retiring Directors to be re-elected at the 2021 AGM will be
set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before the
2021 AGM.

DIRECTORS' PROFILES

The profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 40 to 51 of this Annual
Report.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS' INFORMATION UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

The changes of directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the date of the interim report of
the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2020 are set out below:

Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI has been re-designated from an independent non-
executive Director to a non-executive Director with effect from 9 October
2020 and remains as the chairman of the Board. Mr. Wei has been
appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and has ceased
to be the chairman of the Audit Committee with effect from 9 October
2020. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9 October
2020 for details. Pursuant to a supplemental letter dated 18 January 2021,
Mr. Wei's remuneration has been changed to HK$1,200,000 per annum
(inclusive of the fee as the chairman of the Nomination Committee) with
effect from 1 January 2021.

Mr. TANG Zeping, an independent non-executive Director, was appointed
as the chairman of the Audit Committee and ceased to be the chairman
but remains as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect
from 9 October 2020. Following such changes in the composition of the
Board committees, Mr. Tang's remuneration comprises a director’s fee of
HK$537,600 per annum under his letter of appointment and additional
fees of HK$40,000 per annum and HK$20,000 per annum as the chairman
of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee respectively. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9 October 2020 for
details.
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Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2021 AGM has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which are required to be recorded in
the register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code were as follows:
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Long positions in shares of the Company: ARATRMDETE -—

Approximate

No. of ordinary percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest shares held shareholding

EEEE i FEEEREE  BRAEBOEAL

Mr. DAI Yang Beneficial owner 16,000 0.0006
Lk bt EnEAA
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE REEHFRPERIBRRNETIRERE
SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE =%

As at 31 December 2020, the following persons had an interest or short R ZZ-ZTH+-A=+—H THALRH
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were  REZEHF KA EEHE336 KM TEERAR
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section AFEMNECMEHENARDARMN HAEER

336 of the SFO: R HEEREIAR
. s
Number of Approximate
Long/short Capacity/Nature shares/  percentage of
Name position of interest underlying shares shareholding
wE BR/ME  BB/RERE BH/RBBRONUA  BEBOEAL
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited Long position Beneficial owner 462,400,740 18.00
(Note 1)
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited (F{zE1) & ERBAA 462,400,740 18.00
Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 18.00
Fund Limited Partnership (Note 2) corporation
ERRMRL-FEFREEZSER e REpEENER 462,400,740 18.00
AR EE(E2)
HESRIREBRAF (Note 2) Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 18.00
corporation
MESRREBRAR(ME2) e REEENES 462,400,740 18.00
FEGTHEARARBNAEEELE Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 18.00
EEZEE (Note 2) corporation
NERERBECEARBNEEEAEEE e REEENER 462,400,740 18.00
EEZEE(ME2)
HERE£REESEEERAT Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 18.00
(Notes 2 & 3) corporation
MERALIEFREEEEEEARAA e SEERMER 462,400,740 18.00
(HF28&3)
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-
Number of Approximate
Long/short Capacity/Nature shares/  percentage of
Name position of interest underlying shares shareholding
Ex &%E//ﬁzﬁ ________ %ﬁ/ﬁﬁ‘éﬁﬁ o BB/ HERANEE RESNEIL
RELRELREEEAREMTLE(Note 4) Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 18.00
corporation
HELREXREEREREARA(HEL) HE EEENER 462,400,740 18.00
BHELREERHARAT (Note 5) Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 18.00
corporation
RELZREERHBRAA(MES) 1A RIEFENER 462,400,740 18.00
RRESKREEREMTDA (Note3,48&5)  Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 18.00
corporation
TRESREBRATLA(ME3 485 HE RIDEE R 462,400,740 18.00
Tibet Water Resources Limited (Note 6) Long position Beneficial owner 437,410,960 17.02
BRKERER AR (ME6) e ERBEAA 437,410,960 17.02
Maple Essence Investments Limited Long position Interest of controlled 437,410,960 17.02
(Note 7) corporation
WEREBRAR(HET) e XEEENER 437,410,960 17.02
True Asset Holdings Limited (Note 8) Long position Interest of controlled 437,410,960 17.02
corporation
True Asset Holdings Limited (Fifz£8) e XEEENER 437,410,960 17.02
Mr. WANG Peter Jian (also known as Long position Interest of controlled 437,410,960 17.02
Mr. WANG Jian Peter) (Notes 8 & 9) corporation
FREE(MHE8 &9) e REEER R 437,410,960 17.02
Notes: BizE
(1) Tianshan Industry Investment Limited is 100% held by Khorgos Tianshan No.1 (1) Tianshan Industry Investment Limited REM
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership, which is in turn held as to 46.36% RRL—FEXRAESARAVOER
by #FEBEMIEEBR AR, which is in turn 100% held by ¥E#EBMERE B100%  EBRIRL-—GEXEREES
ARBREAELEEEEREZES. Tianshan Industry Investment Limited holds EREEGCEMTEBERBEERAAEE
462,400,740 shares in the Company. 4636% @ MBS RMIREER AR AMNBS

ERERRARBAEEEEEBRERZS
& 458 100% e Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited 58 AN2 7] 462,400,740 &% 1n °
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership holds
100% equity interest in Tianshan Industry Investment Limited and is therefore
deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company in which
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited is interested in. Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is owned by ¥iB&RIREERE R
f] as to 46.36%. Therefore, B2 AT EBM AT is deemed to be interested in
462,400,740 shares in the Company. ¥E#ZRAREARBNEABEEEEE
EZE® holds 46.36% equity interest in Tianshan Industry Investment Limited
through T2 EIREBRAE] and Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment
Fund Limited Partnership. Therefore, MB@ER B ARARBNEAEELEEER
Z 8F is deemed to be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is held as
to 0.66% by and is accustomed to act in accordance with the directions of #7i&
RILEEKREESEERAR AR, which is therefore deemed to be interested in
462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.
MERLUEZLREESEIEARAF isowned by MBS RBIEEARATF as to 30%.

HERBEEREEEAREMAT holds 30% equity interest in FEXRILEER
EEGEWARNT. Therefore, FELRREXIRATEARATEATIs deemed to
be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited. BERREZREEREREELRA is held as to 20.05% by
and is accustomed to act in accordance with the directions of FRESEEAR S
{2 7], which is therefore deemed to be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the
Company held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is owned
by HEEREEBRMNBER AT as to 33.11%. Therefore, HEBZEREERMNER R
A is deemed to be interested in 462,400,740 shares in the Company. R [E&
HEBAREMTRF holds 61.67% equity interest in HERREERMNARQF]. P
RELIHEEFEMAT holds 33.11% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No. 1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership through the control of HEZRE
BERHAR DT Therefore, FRESHKREFRELRA is deemed to be interested
in 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited.
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Tibet Water Resources Limited is held as to 100% by Maple Essence Investments
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings Limited. Tibet Water
Resources Limited holds 437,410,960 shares in the Company. For 200,000,000
shares in the Company out of these 437,410,960 shares in the Company, please
refer to the Company's announcement dated 14 November 2019.

Maple Essence Investments Limited holds 100% equity interest in Tibet Water
Resources Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 437,410,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested
in. Maple Essence Investments Limited is wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings
Limited.

True Asset Holdings Limited holds 100% equity interest in Maple Essence
Investments Limited, which in turn wholly-owns Tibet Water Resources Limited.
Therefore, True Asset Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested in.

True Asset Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. WANG Peter Jian. Therefore,
Mr. WANG Peter Jian is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960 shares in the
Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested. For the purpose of
the SFO, the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is taken to have a duty of disclosure
in relation to the said 437,410,960 shares in the Company. The interest disclosed
by the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is that of Mr. WANG Peter Jian which
is deemed to be attributed to her pursuant to the SFO for disclosure purposes.
Nevertheless, she has no interest, legal or beneficial, in those shares in the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors and the

chief executive of the Company were not aware of any other person

(other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who

had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or

underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the

Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and

3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required

to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year or at the end of the financial year
has the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries been a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of
whose objects is, to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
participating in the state managed retirement benefit scheme in the PRC,
the Group has not operated any other retirement benefits schemes for the
Group's employees.

Details of the defined contribution pension scheme are set out in Note 12
of the consolidated financial statements on page 219 to 220 of this Annual
Report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, no Director is
considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, as
defined in the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company existed during the
year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the financial year, sales to the Group's five largest customers and
purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
60.5% and 56.9% of the total sales and total purchases for the year,
respectively. The Group's largest customer and supplier accounted for
approximately 28.9% and 29.0% of the total sales and total purchases for
the financial year, respectively.

During the financial year, none of (i) the Directors or any of their close
associates, or (i) any Shareholders (who, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital),
had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights
in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional
advisors.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent of the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The utilisation status of the net proceeds from the Company's initial public
offering is set out on pages 37 to 38 of this Annual Report.

ISSUANCE OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On 2 February 2021, the Company entered into subscription agreements
(as amended by the supplemental agreements dated 23 February 2021)
with six corporate and individual investors, whereby the investors agreed
to subscribe for and the Company agreed to issue 5% convertible bonds
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$379,620,000 due 2024 at a
total cash consideration of HK$379,620,000. Assuming full conversion
of the convertible bonds at the initial conversion price of HK$0.74, the
convertible bonds will be convertible into 513,000,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 19.97% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company and approximately 16.65% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the conversion shares.
The initial conversion price of HK$0.74 per conversion share represents
the closing price of the shares of the Company of HK$0.74 per share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on 2 February 2021, being the date of
the subscription agreements. The convertible bonds were issued by the
Company to the investors in March 2021. The gross and net proceeds
(after deducting expenses) from the issue of the convertible bonds were
approximately HK$379,620,000 and HK$377,620,000, respectively and
were used for the repayment of the Group’ s borrowings according to the
intentions previously disclosed in the Company’ s announcement dated 2
February 2021. For details, please refer to the Company’ s announcements
dated 2 February 2021, 23 February 2021 and 29 March 2021.
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The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the production
and sales of premium bottled mineral water products and beer products
in the PRC. The Company sought to capitalize on the then market
environment for convertible bond issues to raise capital for the repayment
of the Group’ s borrowings. The Board had considered other alternative
fund-raising methods such as bank loan, rights issue or open offer. The
Board considered that bank loan may incur security pledging on the Group’
s assets and may be subject to lengthy due diligence and negotiations
with the banks with reference to the Group’ s financial position and the
then financial market condition and it may be relatively uncertain and
time-consuming. On the other hand, rights issue or open offer would
involve the issue of prospectus with other application and administrative
procedures (such as arrangements for nil-paid rights shares) which may
lead to relatively longer time and additional administrative cost to complete
as compared to the issue of convertible bonds.

As at the date of this Annual Report, none of the convertible bonds has
been redeemed, converted, purchased or cancelled.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the reasonable knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of its shares in the hands of
the public in accordance with the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable
date of the issue of this Annual Report (i.e. 26 April 2021).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
approximately RMBO0.2 million (2019: RMB0.09 million).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and provided advice and comments thereon.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR SN B AT
PwC has resigned as the auditor of the Company after serving for 9 years @EW*LEHE%9$]\E%‘¥{E$“_7V%Z
with effect from 21 December 2020. HLB has been appointed as the new CBZECEFEF AT —HBRER -

auditor of the Company with effect from 21 December 2020 to fill the I11155%§1£ﬁ$’& AETZEA B2

casual vacancy following the resignation of PwC and to hold office untii  ZHE+-A-+—HEAR  WEBELH

the conclusion of the next AGM. The consolidated financial statements for  KEBTHE 2 =5 THEE ARG TERK

the year ended 31 December 2020 were audited by HLB, who will retire at ~ REFAGLHERAL - BEZT-_TF+=

the conclusion of the forthcoming 2021 AGM and, being eligible, will offer A :JrfElJtirE’Ji’é\ﬁﬁ“#&%%HﬂIﬁI%

itself for re-appointment as external auditor of the Company. %o ZEHAMEBAMERNEE_S-_—FK
RAFASERNRE  HEERTEEE
B RARA B H)INEZEETD o

t

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BEXS

The related party transactions summarized in note 45 to the consolidated — ERGAMBBRRMFISAEE T -ZTF
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 did not +ZA=+—HBIEFENBEB IS TE
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as R EMRAETNAZETEENBER HE

defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. BRAEZS -
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING BRRAFKE
The 2021 AGM would be convened in a later time because of the outbreak “E--FRBEAFAGECOVID-19%E

of COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong. The Board would monitor how  HEEBEZEMRMERHERT EES K
the current situation develops in order to better suggest how to manage  JTERFEHERE  NEEIFHEZNAE

the potential health risks of a physical meeting and also to decide the  B—XRBEHNECRERLR - VTR
appropriate time schedule to convene the 2021 AGM. Further information ~ H-_Z-—FREFFASHEERHE -
will be advised in due course. FREBEEERREA

By order of the Board REZE®M

Kevin Cheng WEI R

Chairman and Non-Executive Director FERINTEE

31 March 2021 —E_—%=A=t—H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street

HLB B M7 &<t F 5 A RN A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tibet Water
Resources Ltd. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “the Group”) set out on pages 102 to 287, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2020 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BYLHMRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for using

the equity method

Refer to Notes 19 and 20 in the consolidated financial statements

RRETER

R FERRERMNERAE 2R
HAMG RV BHRRNBAR/ERNS
B GURHERAERMEAEBRANBR
REBABRFETREN - RATEHE
LEREHEBOER -

BEFENERERRREARNRE

F2HEAMBRRME 19 %20

The key audit matter

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
arising on acquisition of businesses through acquisition
of subsidiaries and investments accounted for using
the equity method as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant
degree of judgments made by the management of
the Group associated with the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated and investments accounted for using the equity
method.

Management concluded that there is no impairment on
goodwill and investments accounted for using the equity
method. This conclusion was based on a value-in-use
model that required significant management judgement
with respect to the discount rate and the underlying
cash flows, in particular future revenue growth. An
independent external valuation was obtained in respect of
the impairment assessment on goodwill and investments
accounted for using the equity method in order to support
management'’s estimates.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for
using the equity method included:

* Evaluating the independent external valuers’
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

e  Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology, key assumptions and estimates used
base on our knowledge of the relevant industry and
using our valuation experts;

e Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of business and industry;
and

e  (Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverable amount of cash-generating
units and investments accounted for using the equity
method and determine the impairment provision were
supportable by available evidence.
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Fair value measurement on financial assets

Refer to Notes 5.3, 22 and 27 in the consolidated financial statements

CREEDABENE
2R A M BRRMEES.3, 22 %27
-

The key audit matter

At 31 December 2020, the fair value of the Group’s
financial assets totaled approximately RMB 366,810,000
were classified under the fair value hierarchy as level 3
financial instruments.

The valuation of the Group's financial instrument is based
on a combination of market data and valuation models
which often require a considerable number of inputs.
Many of these inputs are obtained from readily available
data for liquid markets. Where such observable data is
not readily available, as in the case of level 3 financial
instruments, estimates need to be developed which can
involve significant judgement.

We identified assessing the fair value of financial
instruments as a key audit matter because of the degree
of complexity involved in valuing certain financial
instruments and because of the degree of judgement
exercised by management in determining the inputs used
in the valuation methods.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to assess the fair value of
financial instruments included the following:

*  Enquiring the management the assumptions around
the sustainability of earnings based on the plans
of the investee companies and whether these were
achievable;

e Obtaining management information including
budgets and forecasts from the portfolio companies
being valued and using these to corroborate the key
inputs in the valuation model;

e Checking, on sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used such as comparing
key underlying financial data inputs to external
sources and investee companies’ financial statements
and management information as applicable;

* Evaluating the independent external valuers’
competence, capabilities and objectivity; and

e Checking the arithmetical accuracy on the valuation
model.

We considered management’s fair value measurement on
financial assets were supportable by available evidence.
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BREZRKABSEATTENEREER
MEEBR

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost
Refer to Notes 23 and 25 in the consolidated financial statements

B2 A MBRRME 23 %25

The key audit matter

As at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded the trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost of
approximately RMB342,509,000 and RMB1,371,938,000
respectively before the loss allowance amounting to
approximately RMB59,235,000 and RMB4,670,000 has
been made on trade receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost respectively.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost are based on management’s
estimate of the lifetime or 12-month expected credit
losses to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into
account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue
trade receivables, customers’ and debtors’ repayment
history, collaterals and financial position and the
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions, all of which involve significant
degree of management judgement and estimation.

We focused on this area due to the use of significant
management judgements and estimates included in the
allowance for expected credit losses assessment of trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost
under the expected credit losses model involved.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on provision for allowance for expected credit losses of
trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised
cost included:

®  Assessing whether items in the trade receivables
ageing report were classified within the appropriate
ageing bracket by comparing, on a sample basis,
individual items in the report with the relevant sales
invoices and credit terms;

e Assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates on trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost by examining the
information used by management to form such
judgements, including on a sample basis, testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current conditions and forward-
looking information and examining the actual
losses recorded during the current financial year
and assessing whether there was an indication of
management bias when recognising loss allowances;
and

*  Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability
of trade receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost with reference to historical utilisation
pattern and credit history of trade debtors including
default or delay in payments, settlement records,
subsequent settlements and ageing analysis

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverability of the trade receivables
and other financial assets at amortised cost and determine
the allowance for expected credit losses provision were
supportable by available evidence.
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OTHER MATTER Hitt B85

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended SEBE-_T-NFT+=-A= + HIEF

31 December 2019 were audited by another auditor who expressed an F ,m/\ﬁﬁ&iﬁﬁﬁﬂjﬂ BEMERT - %%

unmodified opinion on those statements on 31 March 2020. MR _Z-_ZEF=A=+— Eﬁ‘ﬁiﬁ#&ﬁ
BRALEIER -

OTHER INFORMATION Htfs 8

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other EEEUHMELRESE - HHWELSBIEFER
information comprises all the information included in the annual report, ~ RKFEEE ' BFBEGAVBERE LK
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our  {FIRIZEEIRE ([HpER]) -

auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the ﬁzfﬁﬁ,m/\gﬂﬂ#&%E’JﬁﬁIT/@%ﬁ@E
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion BRI EZEEMESRREMER
thereon. Eﬁ%u K o

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,  ZERFIFFIGFAUKEHXRE  BANETR
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, BEEMEE  Ei @RS ZEEME
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the B2 & BEEAFBHRRABFIEEHBRH
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit ~ FT7TBABRFEEAEE  SEHEUTEE
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we — BAERRANBER - EREFHEHITHT
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this ' [ H MR AL EMEREEKRERRE
Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to it » HFIBEREZEE - sttt R FI8AEM
report in this regard. ]E o

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR EENERZESRGAAMBERRER
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ENER

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated EE£BAFREEEEHENESSHAN
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 0 R B 75 R 5 E Rl R BB ARG ) Y B2 R
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong  MEREEEMTANGANE®RE - TH
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors ~ ERABAFEGAFBRENBRETFERR
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial ~— HFFeiEERMETMEAE RRAMZEHA
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud "MW%‘JE\E\ °

or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.
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e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

SRBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BEZT-TFE+-A=T—HILFE

- m
Note 2020 2019
BisE ot 3:3 “E-NEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
. ARKTT . ARETT
Revenue WA 7 492,879 721,455
Cost of sales HERA (277,743) (317,140)
Gross profit EF 215,136 404,315
Selling and distribution costs HERDHER (104,842) (112,829)
Administrative expenses THER (67,776) (92,465)
Reversal of allowance for/ CRBERREE
(allowance for) expected BE((AHEEFRE])
credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets BEER (BE) (83,164)
Other gains, net HiHE - 38 8 16,811
Operating profit RERE 132,668
Finance (costs)/income, net B%(ER)/ WA - F8E 9 9,561
Impairment losses on investments accounted FREREARNRERBERE
for using the equity method 20 (873,151)
Share of result on investments accounted FE(R{E A RE AR
for using the equity method HIE M HE 20 14,319
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETSBATRIE,(B8]) (716,603)
Income tax expense FriSHiER 10 (28,515)
Profit/(loss) for the year EEFE/(FB) 11 (745,118)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: EEFEERNS/(F8):
- Owners of the Company —ARNBERA (745,118)
- Non-controlling interests — R —
ges
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable RDREE AEN
to owners of the Company SREF(HE)
- basic and diluted (RMB cents) -BEXRBE(ARESD) 13 0.68 (29.77)

iR A B R R ERE NI P o — F PO -

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
%éﬁf&é@ﬂ&“%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=FT-TF+-A=+—HILFE

- m
Note 2020 2019
B & —ECEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT A
Profit/(loss) for the year FEFE/(FE) 11 16,918 (745,118)
Other comprehensive income/(loss): HtZARA/ (BRE)
Item that will not be reclassified BT AR EFT A
subsequently to profit or loss: FEBMEH
Exchange differences on translation HIEERRERZSIER
from functional currency to M HZHR
presentation currency 37 (12,235)
Fair value loss on financial assets at UARBENEAEZEHTA
fair value through other comprehensive HE2EKE (AR AEE
income (“FVTOCI") FEEESBTAHGEE
W& NEeREERAD
BEEE 22 (10,999) —
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FEHEtZEKRA(FE)
for the year, net of tax MBRBIE (12,235)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ER2EBA (BB AHE
for the year (757,353)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EaE2EBA S (EiE) 858
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company SVUNCIETZEPN (757,353)
- Non-controlling interests — IRk iR —
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FR2ABA (BB AE
for the year (757,353)
The above consolidated statement of other comprehensive income should — ilt4R& Hofth 2 4 & 5% 1 B B I Y 2 —
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. BIE o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

meEBRRR

As at 31 December 2020 R=ZE-T4+-A=1—H

Note
B &E

2020
—2-%F

RMB’000
ARBET R

27,942

469,984
4,445
44,285
721,139

650,697

4,277
6,067

174,482

2,114,835

283,274
79,678
627
1,367,268
60,266

180,811
64,752

2,036,676

324,150
2,374
16,854
28,588
407,777
500,000
147

Non-current assets FRBEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15
Property, plant and equipment ME - BER&E
("PP&E") (Mm% BERRE]) 16
Investment properties REMHREHE 17
Intangible assets B EE 18
Goodwill EES 19
Investments accounted for using FREREANENEE
the equity method 20
Deferred tax assets EEHIBEE 21
Prepayments J”Eﬁy’ 24
Financial assets at fair value through ARBEFEBEEZHA
other comprehensive income Hiire e ([ UAAREE
("FVTOCI") #sﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁxﬁﬁéﬁ
Wz REE 22
Financial assets at fair value through UAREBEFEAEEEHH ABE
profit or loss (“FVTPL") (U2 AREEAEEHEH
FABRNERMAEE 27
Total non-current assets FRBEELE
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables FEWE 55K 23
Prepayments BHIA 24
Tax recoverable EEEk
Other financial assets at amortised cost ~ ESR AT ENEMEREE 25
Inventories & 26
Financial assets at FVTPL UNAREBEGEAEEHFTA
BRENEREE 27
Cash and cash equivalents RekBRaEEY 28
Total current assets REBEEAE
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and notes payables ERE SR RENRE 29
Deferred revenue EFEWA 30
Contract liabilities eRAE 31
Tax payable JER 1A
Accruals and other payables HEREAREMERNR 32
Bank borrowings RITEBR 33
Lease liabilities HEBE 15
Total current liabilities RBEEARE

1,279,890
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2019
— N
RMB’000
ARETT

28,521

521,083
4,679
66,403
721,139

698,283
9,511
6,518

231,881

16,517
2,304,535

258,991
115,428
2,860
831,736
52,716

180,630
515,510

1,957,871

323,881
2,373
29,409
34,355
410,137
576,000

1,376,155



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBRRE

RZZEZTFF+-A=1+—H Asat 31 December 2020

- F

Note 2020 2019

B EE —E-FF “ZT-nF

RMB‘000 RMB'000

______ ARET ARBET T

Net current assets RBEEFE 756,786 581,716

Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBAE 2,871,621 2,886,251
Non-current liabilities *RBEE

Bank borrowings RITIER 33 110,000 140,000

Other payables H A TR 32 16,000 16,000

Deferred revenue RN 30 16,142 18,517

Deferred tax liabilities RIERTEEE 21 7,371 9,695

Total non-current liabilities FRBEEHEE 149,513 184,212

Net assets FEE 2,722,108 2,702,039
Capital and reserves BEXR#E

Share capital AR 35 21,363 21,363

Reserves M 2,700,745 2,680,580

Total equity attributable to owners

of the Company FARBEE AEERERERE 2,722,108 2,701,943

Non-controlling interests RS — 96

Total equity RSB 2,702,039

The consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 287 are approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2021 and

are signed on its behalf by:

YUE Zhigiang E&#
Director %

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

—FZA=T - REEZSERKER

FIRETENREVBKRREN T
7 WIRATESARERE

YAN Qingjiang B&:T
Director %

Ll R A B RS AR R FE SRR B Y R — D

=i
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MEEDRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BEZT-TFE+-A=T—HILFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ARTREAERL
Shares held
for share Other
Non-
award Teserves "
Share Share scheme (Note 37) Retained Subtotal coht;o Intg
capital premium  ARGHED Rt earnings Horota INETESES  Total equity
i ROEE stEBEORG (W&37) BEhE Nt FBEREE RE4E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTR  ARMTR 7 T ARETR TR ABETR
Balance at 1 January 2019 RZB-NE-A-RfLH 21363 1,006,829 (173,037) 17794 226217 3459, 40 345933
Loss for the year EmEi - - - - (745,118) (745,118) - (745,118)
Other comprehensive loss: A2EER -
Exchange differences on translation Wégéﬁ?m@ﬁéwjﬁ%
from functional currency to HERLER
presentation currency = = = (12,235) = (12,235) = (12,235)
Total comprehensive loss EMREERLE
for the year = = = (12,235) (745,118) (757,353) = (757,353)
Convertible bond-equity THRES - BRI (M34)
component (Note 34) = 18,385 = (18,385) = = = =

Capital injections from
non-controlling interests

FEREREA

Balance at 31 December 2019 and

R-B-NETZAZT-RR

1 January 2020 “E_EE--RHER
Profit for the year ERFE
Other comprehensive Efp2Ek)/(BE):
income/(loss):
Exchange differences on translation ~ f¥g % AE AR|E%
from functional currency to MEXZE
presentation currency
Fair value loss on financial assets ~ MAZLEEEEEEHH AL

at FvToc!

PEAENEREELAREDR

Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year

En2EUA/ (BRIAE

Transfer of reserve upon disposal of
financial assets at FVTOCI

Capital injection from non-
controlling interests of
a subsidiary

Dividend paid to non-
controlling interests by
a subsidiary

HENRABEFBAARY
HAL AR SR ARR
REE

HEATERERIE

HEATLNFEEREEORS

Balance at 31 December 2020

R-B-RETZAZT-ANLR

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

21,363

21,363
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1,225,214

1,225,214

(173,037)

(173,037)

147,304

3,192

11,600

1,481,099

16,973

16,973

(11,600)

1,486,472

R uSoN=Y:

g

=
E=]

2,701,943

16,973

20,165

2,722,108

HRBRE

9

(59)

(55)

2,702,039

16,918

14,191

(10,999)

20,110




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
%Aiﬁﬁiﬁéﬁ

“REF AT -HLEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=%

| -_—
Note 2020 2019
ik “ECEF —T-NF
RMB'000 RMB'000
SO .. ARBTT AN
Cash flow from operating activities RETHRER
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETERATFIE(B18) (716,603)
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 11 724
Depreciation of PP&E mE  BERZERE 11 58,359
Depreciation of investment properties REUMENRE 1 175
Amortisation of intangible assets EREESH 11 22,118
Amortisation of deferred income B AR 3 8 (2,425)
Loss on matured financial WAREEEEEE
assets at FVTPL AR B A EIH
CREEBR 8 4,319
Finance income BBA 9 (63,819)
Finance cost BER 54,258
Share of result of investments accounted JEAG i AR A ABRHY
for using the equity method REME 20 (14,319)
Loss on disposal of PP&E HENE  BERREER 1 —
Gain on disposal of financial HENAABENER
assets at FVTPL HEE A MER
MEREERR 8 (10,198)
Fair value changes of financial WARBEEEEE
assets at FVTPL FAHMERNEREE
RABEZD 8 (630)
(Reversal of allowance for)/allowance for @Eﬁﬁ%i‘ﬁﬂﬂﬁfﬂgﬁa
ECL on financial assets BEER) BiE 11 83,164
Write-down of inventories T = HOR 8 17,885
Impairment losses on investments accounted Az A ARKNTERERK
for using the equity method 20 873,151
Operating cash flows before movement in ~ EEESZBHANLER LR
working capital 132,221 306,159
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEEMm),/Hmd (7,644) 28,559
Increase in trade receivables FEWE 5503 m (5,769) (46,855)
Decrease in prepayments, BNFIE R AR ARG 2N
other financial assets at amortised cost Hth e @EER D 39,456 36,546
Increase in trade and notes payable N E Z R R B REIE 269 245,160
Decrease in accruals and other payables FIRE R RAMENTOND (13,876) (775)
(Decrease)/increase in deferred revenue ELWARARARE
and contract liabilities CRLL) (12,555) 8,184
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FREDRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE-T-TF+-A=+—ALFE

Note 2020
G S 8
RMB'000

ARET T

2019
“E-NF
RMB'000
ARETTT

Cash generated from operations
Interest received

Interest paid

Income taxes paid

REZHELNAS
BEKRFE

EfFE
BN

132,102
1,261

(28,256)

(18,429)

Net cash flows generated from
operating activities

KEERELNAEREFE

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of PP&E

Proceeds from disposal of of financial assets
at FVTOCI

Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at FVTPL

Loans granted to third parties
Repayments received from loans to
third parties
Amounts advanced to third parties
Payments received from third parties
Loans granted to related parties
Repayments received from loans to
a related party
Amounts paid to related parties
Payments for investment in associates

REFBEER

BENE  BEER
HERAREBEFER
HEH AR M2 ERE
HERBEEMSHR

BEAAREENER

HEHTABENEREE

HENARBEFAER

HEHTABENEREE

Fr{3 508
EFE=FHE
BRE=HER

ERNE=7BK
BERE=HFE
fis T BAR 77 30R
B U BAR 77 & X

BB 7 508
RAREE R AR

22 46,400

27 (180,000)

27 198,112
(1,054,330)

400,577
(29,275)
29,222
(34,445)

189,800

Net cash flows used in investing activities

REEDFANREREFE

(440,044)
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576,978
492
(375)
(28,869)

548,226

(1,583)

(525,000)

525,157
(1,138,642)

1,354,389

(349,699)
162,481

(288,200)

14,363
(55,623)
(5,020)

(307,377)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEBRERER
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE-T-_FF+-A=+—HLFE

. -~

Note 2020 2019
MTTEE\ :§:§$ :%@_j—LE
RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFR ARETT

Cash flows from financing activities RETDRER
Proceeds from bank borrowings BITERETEHIEA 41 425,000 456,000
Repayments of bank borrowings BERITER 41 (531,000) (471,540)
Loans from third parties BEE=FER 41 12,068 295,697
Repayment of loans to third parties BEE=FER 41 (3,292) —
Payments of lease liabilities HEBENK 41 (150) —
Repayments of convertible bond BEMBRES 41 — (282,789)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ST IERERNRE (61) —
Capital injections from non-controlling ME AR FFERER T A

interests of a subsidiary 20 56
Net cash flows used in financing activities  BEZEMANBESRETE (2,576)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RBeRBEEEYHW

cash equivalents R,/ BFE (450,781) 238,273
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#R & KL EEY 515,510 277,152
Exchange gains B 5 Yeas 23 85
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRBEREEZEY 28 M

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in PR &R &7 2 K B RN I 5T — 6763
conjunction with the accompanying notes. & o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

IR R I

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-Z

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

“EETAZTALEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on 8
November 2010. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
engaged in production and sales of water products and beer products
in PRC and provision of lending services to third parties in Hong Kong
with relevant license.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since
30 June 2011.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Reminbi
("RMB"), which is different from the Company's functional
currency Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD"). The Directors adopted RMB as
presentation currency as the operational entities are located in the
PRC.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to IFRSs
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (the “IASB")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8  Definition of Material

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (CONTINUED)

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to IFRS 16
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions.

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to IFRSs and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in IFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on early application of Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions

The Group has applied the amendment for the first time in the
current year. The amendment introduces a new practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to assess whether a Covid-19-related rent
concession is a lease modification. The practical expedient only
applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the
Covid-19 that meets all of the following conditions:

e the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

* any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2021; and

*  there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes

n lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way
t would account for the changes applying IFRS 16 Leases if the

changes were not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related
lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived
with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the event occurs.

The application of the amendment had no impact to the opening
retained earnings at 1 January 2020.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-_A=t+-HIFE

BRI RKEITERTEREE
BI([ERRE R EER ) (&)
BEA - AEER AR A BB R
RERZE165%)(18E]) — [Covid-19 48
AERE] -

BRI FTIAN c RAFERBH R
ATNE T B BR A7 75 3 5 2E B R BIBR B 7%
FREERH B2 MEZRET IR B ET
“EHASERAHERBTHRED
BBRRRERR R IR EERE MK
WEMBNEESHEREATE o

BBRARARRHBREENE 16
$)(B3T) — [ Covid-1918 B & B
M

AEEBERAFEERERZB -
ZIER BEBASIAFTHAITEEY
5 EL AT iR 2 AT A Covid-19 48
SRERL B —IEMEBE - ZAMT
BEZFHERBRREATEA KT
B Covid-19 EREEMMBLRE :

s HENREHEMNHENLE
ANEREZZMOAERE
RBHERSERZAE
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MIER G R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL 2.

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments’

Amendment to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Reform - Phase 24
Amendments to IFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets
IAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current!
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use?
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of

Fulfilling a Contract?
Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to

IFRSs 2018-20202

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

The Directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs (which include all International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“l1ASs"”) and
Interpretations) issued by IASB. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Listing Rules
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for the financial assets at FVTPL and the
financial assets at FVTOCI, as explained in the accounting policies
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-_A=t+-HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRSs 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2
Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 /Impairment of Assets.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

*  has the power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

*  has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between the members of the Group are
eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-_A=t+-HIFE

GEUBBERRIESHBENE
HEEE)

REER(E)
AEERBRBR LRGN
—ExEPEP—ERALTEER
2% AEEGEFFHEREEG
WIREHR

AHHBRRARNADAREH B AT
HOYE IR 2R - WA SR BR A
BARMEHIREREL - ABME
REAUBIHENHBARXES
AARRMEEHEZBEEEAS
EREMBLRNZHESE BT AR

N/
= o
T

BaEkHEtE2ERE 2 SEXBDH
BRARBEA A RIFERES - I
BRrelzeERERREBNALF
BEANFERER  AESEHE
T s L A R

MEFE  SUMEBARNTERER
fEHAE  EZFRRIEANEER
REAEBEMERE B -

AEBARARNAEEERAE
s WA BIERABAEERE
AAZHMRBNRLRE  —HRA
BHES B -

)G E S St XN SE L o
FEULEI  IIRABREER EES
BT RHEAENRBEREZLOINE
HREMEARFEE -

BEHKERAERAF | FH 2020




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the steering committee that makes strategic
decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognized and measured
in accordance with IAS 12 /ncome Taxes and IAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based payment at the acquisition
date (see below); and

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discounted Operations are measured in accordance with that
Standard.

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in IFRS
16 Leases) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration

transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the

acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity

interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-

date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities

assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date

amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any

non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the

acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess

is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their
fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent
consideration is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held interests (including joint operations) in the acquired
entity are remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be
appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or group of cash
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-
generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash- generating
unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion
of the cash generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity
method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as
held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discounted Operations.
The financial statements of associates and joint ventures used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group's
share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee's identifiable
net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the
investment includes purchase price, other costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment into
the associate or joint venture that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post
acquisition change in the Group's share of the investee's net assets
and any impairment loss relating to the investment. At each reporting
date, the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over
cost, the Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group's
share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement of
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
investment in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with 1AS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over or joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest
in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial instrument, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

ii. the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)

iii. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

(a) Sales of goods — wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of water products and
beer products in the wholesale market. The Group also sells raw
materials and consumables to associates and third parties. Sales
are recognised at a point in time when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customers,
the customers have full discretion over the channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customers’ acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specified location; the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)
(b) Sales of goods — water cards

Sales of water products to certain distributors or end customers are
made in form of water cards (“Water Cards Sales Arrangement”).
Under the Water Cards Sales Arrangement with the distributors, the
distributors sell the water cards to the end customers and use the
logistics network, which is designed by the Group with the Group’s
long-term cooperative logistics suppliers, to deliver water products to
the designated locations at the request of the end customers when
the water cards are redeemed before the expiry dates; and relevant
logistics expenses are charged to the Group. Sales of goods under
the Water Cards Sales Arrangement are deferred as the Group has
ultimate obligations towards the card holders. Sales of goods under
the Water Cards Sales Arrangement are recognised at a point in time
when the water cards are redeemed by the end customers and the
water products are delivered, or when the water cards are expired,
whichever is earlier.

(c) Interest income

The Group provides money lending services to third parties in Hong
Kong with relevant license and earns interest as revenue. Related
interest income is recognised in a time proportion basis using
effective interest method.

(d) Rental income

Rental income from leasing of production lines and a plant is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of premises and office equipments that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

* any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received,

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

* an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ﬁz—’\
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and

measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments

that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease

payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the

lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is

not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of- use assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

* the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review/expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-_A=t+-HIFE

GEUBBRRIESHBRENR
HEEE)

HE#E)

LEFERBRHA(E)

HERE(E)

RGBSR HEREREMNEE
EMBENFTETHE -

RATER AEEeEHMtERE
BEEHAREEREEEFLERES
B):

o HHEMEDHRITEBIEEERE
WEHEBER L EZBERATE
BHEABRUEETHEENRK
BN B BB KETRR
KETHRMENE -

.+ EEMKREATSEEHER
TiEle % ARRHBEET
BAMNREDTLRLY  E
ERT - EEEEREEANN
MREMREETRENRTE
it -

AEBEGEMBRARTEEESR
EESEBNRBIIR

BEHKERAERAF | FH 2020




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

* the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand- alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand- alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of- use asset. When the modified contract contains
a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the
practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2021; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying IFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments
are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with
a corresponding adjustment recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under IFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness
or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entities,
transactions in currencies other than functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group's interests in associates.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a currency translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continuead)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in a
currency translation reserve in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group’s net
assets in HKD to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in currency translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the currency translation reserve are not reclassified to
profit or loss subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets (including property, plant and equipment) are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants relate to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other gains, net” line item.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefit costs

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of
when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring
osts.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another IFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits (continued)

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits
are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities" carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that another IFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

Employee benefits

The employee benefit expenses mainly include salary, bonus,
allowances and other expenditures incurred in exchange for the
employee services. All employee benefit obligations are recognised
during the period when the services are provided, and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss or included in the cost of the
related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)

(a)  Pension obligations - defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

(b)  Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in
various government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance
and other employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the
salaries of the employees, subject to certain ceilings. The Group's
liability in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
payable in each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and other
providing similar services are measured at fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

Th fair value of the equity-settled share based payments determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
held for share award scheme). At the end of the reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share held for share award
scheme.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in the share held for share award scheme will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the share held for share award scheme will
be transferred to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation
The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

GEUMBEBRRRIESHERNE
HEEE)

BIE
PG MR S IR 3R By R IR IR S T
TRH AR

HIRHE

B AN IR TR F MR BE R 5t
B BRBENEBRA 2 HA0FF
BAR DERAETBREMFERE
ARk AT HBE A A B S IR B Rk
PNEARBANANBNIAR AR - K
SENRBERRCETREREE
T2 HEREEHHBRE -

EEHE
BERANRGEAMBRRPEER
BEZREERBNTERRTOE
MRRHE 2 B ZHER - BT
MERE-—REUMBERARER L
ERTUNRER MECHBAEE R
PO AT BE 7B B AR Bt 1) PR DA K 3 R AR
TR ZERAMA R MR TR TS
BTURER  5ERUEEZBEDEER
R -ERTEERRT LT
B BN IR B (EBAGEKRINF
ZEMEENRAEMES - BIFTHE
REMBEERARG - I BERM
ERERABEZINIER AT HE
RELEREALE °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right- of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 /ncome Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision to the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, resulting
from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that
are not subject to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)
Current tax and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost less accumulated impairment losses of each asset to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 12-40 years
Machinery 5to 15 years
Vehicles 3 to 8 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years
Others 10 to 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other
gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Construction-in-progress (“CIP") represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction or pending installation and is stated
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes the
costs of construction and acquisition and capitalised borrowing costs.
No provision for depreciation is made on CIP until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the
assets concerned are available for use, the costs are transferred to
property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with
the policy as stated above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual values using the straight-line
method.

Investment property is transferred to owner-occupied property
when there is a change in use as evidenced by the commencement
of owner occupation. Owner-occupied property is transferred to
investment property when there is a change in use as evidenced by
end of owner-occupation.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are recognise initially at their fair value at
the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Trade name

Trade name acquired in a business combination is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Trade name has a finite useful life
and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trade
name over their estimated useful lives of 18.2 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (continued)
Distribution network

Distribution network acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The distribution network has a
finite useful life of 8 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the distribution network.

Information system

Information system acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The information system has a
finite useful life of 5 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the information system.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

ZoREL A=+ -HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent
from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of
finished goods comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct
costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

* on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification _and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-B=1+-HI%FE

GEUBBRRIESHBRENR
HEEE)

SRMIA(E)
EREEE)
THEESBEREET S (F)

() BEBERARANEHA
HRRBHKALEHTAGEZS
BEEZNBRARRERMNEERHE
R MNSBRATHEREERAAE
FERERMEGFE  HEREREER
BEZEBEERINLTI - HR
HRLBREERECEREEMS
FMBWMAZEMEER MERSHE
ZHBHERAERERNEER - fHiE
EREemTAZEERRA MK
E AEEREETBREERME " R
FMEBMAEBETEREETBLRE
BERERREHRAGYEREAEE
BRI RER -

BEHKERAERAF | FH 2020




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification _and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)
(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised on other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserves; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included
in the “other gains, net” line item in profit or loss.

(iii)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains, net” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
financial assets which are subject to impairment assessment under
IFRS 9 (including trade receivables, other financial asset at amortised
cost, restricted bank deposits and cash at bank). The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on trade
receivables with significant balances or credit impaired are assessed
individually and the remaining trade receivables are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate age groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. BERUBBRRRTESTEENGR
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BIEXEE)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) ERMIEE)
Financial assets (continued) THEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) THEE)AE(E)

RAMEEMIAMS  AEEHEN
ERBBEER2EABHEREEE
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the MM B Mia R UREERREEE
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime m-AAEERREHERCEES

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant

ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(1)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group

presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past

due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following
criteria are generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

e information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collateral held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(if)  Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default

has occurred when a financial asset is more than 180 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

(iri) ~ Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

e 3 breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii)
above);

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

* it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 180
days past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if,
and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the below basis:

e Nature of financial instruments;

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost
of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised
at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with IFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve
is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained
earnings.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-B=1+-HI%FE

GEUMBEBRRRIESHERNE
HEEE)

SRMIA(E)

EREEE)

THEEFEE)

V) FHEEERZGEREZE)
RRBERAEAN FEEERHE
AR ITANKEE  £RETHE
REREREHER  EEKE SR
BRON - EARRE BN B R R AR R o

BILER T BEE
AEEEGREERSREZ AR
NERIEEZSREEYE RS —
EREREAEBRNIIHEEERRK
BHERIEERERHEE - HASE
VAREBETARBEBEZBRNT D
REBRE®R TEHEELFHCDERE
EAAEERERARERZEEZR
BREDRBHTEEINESEARLZ
BE - MASBNRBCEESHE
ERGEZBADIERRER K
SEBEERRAZLREEARER
BFTERIB 2 BEPER o

RIFERZEBHEKATEZ —HER
BRER ZAEREEEZRLER
REEM ZENBETHER

REEEREETARE(REERT
THRREEAERUAABENE
BHEEH AHMGE RRET2)E -
ERRUARBEFEAEZSHA
Hiir e W E @A 25w 25 e
YEBTEENHIEZED  ER
EREEF o

BEHKERAERAF | FH 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and notes payables, accruals and
other payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial quarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their
fair values and measured subsequently at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with IFRS 9; and

* the amount recognised initially less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company's own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Convertible loan notes (continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is estimated
by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does not have an
associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting
the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the
compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in
equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity
date of the convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt
instrument into another one with the substantially different terms,
such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial modification of terms of
an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid
net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective
rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If
the modification is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the
carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and (2) the
present value of the cash flows after modification is recognised in
profit or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains and
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured
to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial asset
hosts within the scope of IFRS 9 are not separated. The entire hybrid
contract is classified and subsequently measured in its entirety as
either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not
financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are treated as separate
derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host
contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument
that are separated from the host contracts are treated as a single
compound embedded derivative unless those derivatives relate to
different risk exposures and are readily separable and independent of
each other.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made by the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in the probability
of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less.

Share capital and shares held for share award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company’'s shares are acquired from the market by the
Bank of Communications Trust Limited for share option scheme, the
total consideration of shares acquired from the market (including
directly attributable incremental costs) is presented as shares held for
share award scheme.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

GEUBBRRIESHBRENR
HEEE)

RERREEEY
RERRERERT RekReF
BYREFRRS  R|RITBHAEFR
REHE R =1EA AR E A5G 5
BRBMERE o

BARBROEBTBFENRG
LERE D ESHED ERFBRET
E RN ROIIER AR S 2
DR EFRER D (EIRER)

fid 2 B IRTIEFEH R D A BLEE I T
semsBEARAKRD - BIETS
BEARONARE(RRERREN
BARA) 25 R REN IR AR
Bt



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z - 2F+_A=1+—HIL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEVBBRRRIESTEENE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES HEE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Related parties BEAL

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group if: fEBATER  AIEEALTREARE

EEREZEALER

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to (@ MHBUTAL: G BIZATHZA
the Group if that person: TR EEERE
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; () FEHIsERE AL
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i HAKBEEATE 3k
(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group (i) AXEEXAABNTR
or the Company's parent. AlZEBEEAE ©
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) THHFATHEMIEE  BZERE
conditions applies: HAEEFHE
(i) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other iy —EBRE-FIWNEER
entity is an associate of the third entity. A Ma—BBAZE=
FHBEE R A] o
(i) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (i) ZERARAKEHEAR
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity BERENERZESH
related to the Group. e BRI El -
(iii) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (i) ZEBZ@HAZALTH
identified in (a). PRSI RR ] o

BEHKERAERAF | FH 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies (continued):

(iv) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(v)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of
accounting estimates, which, by definition, will seldom equal the
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in
applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Depreciation

The Group's management determines the residual value, useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment and investment properties. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual residual value and useful lives of
property, plant and equipment as well as investment properties of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charge
where residual value or useful lives are less than previous estimates,
or it will write-off technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold. The current estimated useful lives are
stated in Note 3.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact on the recognition of deferred tax assets and
taxation in the periods in which such estimates are changed.

Dividends derived from the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC earned
after 1 January 2008 are subject to withholding tax at the rate of
5%-10%. The Group reassessed its needs to make distributions out
of its subsidiaries in the PRC. As a result, withholding income tax has
been provided for the undistributed profits to the extent they are
expected to be distributed in future.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised as management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(¢) Impairment review
(i) Gooawill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary —-Tiandi Green
(Note 19)
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the cash- generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated, which
is the higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit (or a
group of cash-generating units) and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or further impairment
loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4. BRETHEERAEE)
(CONTINUED)
() Impairment review (continued) () HEZEHE)
(i)  Goodwill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary —Tiandi Green () WKEHEBLA—-XHMECELY

(Note 19) (continued) EE(BE19)(E)

The table below summarised the key assumptions used in the TR EEXRESHFTANBRR
goodwill impairment review and the impacts on the value-in-use FERERNBREREETNESHE
calculations upon unfavourable movements of the key assumptions: HERBEAEAERNTE

Decrease in Impairment

Assumption Movement value-in-use loss

Items used of key assumption RMB’000 RMB’000
EREE
D REE X

BR o TRBR L IRRERER ARMTRL ARETR
Annual revenue growth rate 3.0%-3.6% Decreased by 1% 71,466 —
FPALRE A 1%
Long-term growth rate 3.0% Decreased by 1% 77,586 —
REERE B 1%
Gross margin 41.2% Decreased by 1% 30,310 —
EFE B 1%
Pre-tax discount rate 15.7% Increased to 16.7% 52,865 —
BATRRIR & EINE16.7%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Gooawill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary —-Tiandi Green
(Note 19) (continued)

Based on management’s analysis, negative movements of the above
key assumptions are unlikely to happen given prudent assumptions
had been used in the goodwill impairment analysis. As such, no
impairment loss had been recognised for the goodwill arising from
acquisition of Tiandi Green for the year ended 31 December 2020.

(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water

As at 31 December 2020, in view of the operating performance of
the associate — High Natural Water, the Group performed impairment
assessment on the associate — High Natural Water. Determining
whether impairment loss should be recognised requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the relevant associate which is the
higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a eight-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 12.5% (2019: approximately 12.4%). The cash flows
beyond the eight-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0%
(2019: 2.5%) growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are
less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or discount
rate, a material reversal or further recognition of impairment may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HEZZF+-_A=1+-RLEE

4.  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 4. BRETHEERAEE)
(CONTINUED)
() Impairment review (continued) () WESZME)
(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water (continued) (i) REBEEZELFG-BREAAKHIRE

(%)

The table below summarised the key assumptions used in the TREIRERBRRAKRESEH
impairment review for investment in Highland Natural Water and FTANERBRREE LN AR RRE
the impacts on the value-in-use calculations upon unfavourable EANEHRUFEREETELERD
movements of the key assumptions: -7

Decrease in Impairment

Assumption Movement value-in-use loss

Items used of key assumption RMB'000 RMB'000
EREE
B BER X

BR o TRER IERRRR ARRTR ARETR
Annual revenue growth rate 3.0%-42.4% Decreased by 1% 80,708 28,363
FIRAZRE B 1%
Long-term growth rate 3.0% Decreased by 1% 54,872 2,528
REERE B 1%
Gross margin 54.6%-54.9% Decreased by 1% 37,799 —
ER& B 1%
Pre-tax discount rate 12.5% Increased to 13.5% 70,655 18,311
HATBE T &K EINE13.5%

Based on management’s analysis, negative movements of the above ERERENDT ERFRESITE

key assumptions are unlikely to happen given prudent assumptions ERBER® FRETEREAKRA

had been used in the impairment analysis. As such, no impairment RELEAMEEH At HE-_TZ

loss had been recognised for the investment in Highland Natural ZE+-_A=+—HLEFE  HER

Water for the year ended 31 December 2020. BRERBRRAKEENERMEE
Ko
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of the associate -
High Natural Water amounted to approximately RMB441,390,000
(2019: RMB491,603,000), after taking into account the impairment
losses of approximately RMB873,151,000 (2019: RMB873,151,000).

(iif)  Trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost are based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Allowance of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Due to greater
financial uncertainty triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group
has increased the expected loss rates in the current year as there is
higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could led to increased credit
default rates. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in the tables in Note 5.1(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2020, certain of the Group's unquoted
equity investment and structured financial products amounting
to approximately RMB366,810,000 (2019: RMB429,028,000) are
measured at fair value with fair value being determined based
on unobserved inputs using valuation techniques. Judgment and
estimation are required in establishing the relevant valuation
techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions
relating to these factors could affect the reported fair values of these
instruments. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in the tables in Note 5.3.

(e) Provision for financial guarantee contracts

The Group makes estimate on costs required to fulfil the relevant
obligation of guarantee contracts when the guaranteed amount
is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Such estimation
is based on the available information as at reporting date and is
determined by the Group’s practical experience, the default history,
the collateral held and financial position of relevant customers
assessed on an individual basis in the industry and taking into
consideration of industry information and market data. Where the
actual obligation the Group requires to fulfill is more than expected,
a material provision may arise. Amount of corporate guarantee
provided by the Group is disclosed in Note 44(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(f)  Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible asset

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the assets belong.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are approximately RMB469,984,000, RMB27,942,000 and
RMB44,285,000 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

@Z\

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

ZoREL A=+ -HLEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise and monitor potential adverse effects on the
Group'’s financial performance in a timely and effective manner.

5.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The functional currency of a majority of the entities within the Group
is RMB and most of the transactions are settled in RMB. However, the
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from its transactions,
which are primarily denominated in HKD.

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and may consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arises.

As at 31 December 2020, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by
5% against HKD with all other variables held constant, the total net
assets of the Group would have been approximately RMB16,369,000
(2019: RMB10,857,000) lower/higher respectively, mainly as a
result of foreign exchange translation of the consolidated financial
statements for the Company and its Hong Kong subsidiary whose
functional currency is HKD; the post-tax profit for the year would
have been approximately RMB2,273,000 (2019: RMB2,801,000)
lower/higher.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ir)  Interest rate risk

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

The Group's borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank and cash balances
and borrowings which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates.
During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group's
borrowings at variable rates were mainly denominated in RMB. At
31 December 2020, if interest rates on floating-rate borrowings had
been 5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-
tax profit for the year would have been approximately RMB839,000
(2019: RMB916,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expense on floating-rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2020, the Group has bank borrowings amounting
to approximately RMB275,000,000 (2019: RMB276,000,000)
and borrowings from third parties amounting to approximately
RMB301,825,000 (2019: RMB290,309,000) at fixed interest rates
and these expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As at
31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of bank borrowings,
borrowings from third parties with fixed interest rates approximated
their fair value due to their short tenures and the influence of fair

value interest rate risk is marginal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ifi) ~ Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments
in equity securities measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI. The Group
invested in certain unquoted equity securities for investees operating
in beverage and information technology industry sectors for long
term strategic purposes which had been designated as FVTOCI. The
Group has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Details of sensitivity analysis are disclosed in Note 5.3(a).
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(b) Credit risk (b) EFEEE
Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash FERBEREGFAEE - FER

at bank, restricted bank deposits, trade receivables, other financial
assets at amortised cost and certain financial assets at FVTPL (i.e.

BARBRTRE  RRHBITHER
BWE S - NEHAATENH M

investment in structured financial products). The carrying amounts CRMEERNAABEAZEAHESD
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation SFAERNETeREE(BIRERE
to those financial assets. The Group does not hold any collateral or ERMEMNKE) - REERLASER

other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) cash at bank and restricted bank deposits and investment in

structured financial products

Substantially all of the Group’s cash at bank and restricted bank
deposits and structured financial products are held in major financial
institutions located in the PRC and Hong Kong, which management
believes are of high credit quality. There was no recent history of
default of cash at bank and restricted bank deposits and structured
financial products from such financial institutions/authorities. The
management considers the credit risk is insignificant and no loss
allowance was recognised.

(ii)  Trade receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In this regard, the management considers that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as nil (2019: 14%) and
17% (2019: 27%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers, respectively.
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits
and credit approvals.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables (continued)

The Group has trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products and trade receivables arising from loans to third parties. For
the trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer products,
the Group perform impairment assessment under ECL model which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. And the Group uses two
categories which reflect their credit risk, and how the receivables loss
allowance is determined for each of those categories. For customers
suffered financial difficulties, the Group recognised as Category 1,
and for the other customers, the Group recognised as Category 2. For
the trade receivables arising from loans to third parties, the Group
uses three categories which reflect their credit risk and how the loan
loss allowance is determined for each of those categories.

The summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group's ECL
model for loans receivables from third parties is the same as the ECL
model used for other receivables, which are set out below.

For trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer products,
the expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales
over the past years and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the GDP and the unemployment rate to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

5.

B RBERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)

(b) FEREEE)

(i) EREZH(E)
AEEHAKNEEERHEEELN
BUESFRRAE=TERELNE
WE R o BRI EE w5 & E
ENREBRESR  FEEEREES
NRHBELRBERRNEEBBRER
EITRER S o REEE AW ER 5
[ B EL (= P L B DA e 4 fe] 78 72 25 R M
BRI EKRTIRBRER - AEEK
EBRVBKRNENEFRARE R
MEMEFPERRE _F - HREA
E-TEFEENEBRESZR K&
B 68 A = AR R e bR AL A A EBR A K
T E = AR EFBRER -

SR EBERE S TR ROESE
B AR M BB S R A
FRNESEESRELER - #5)
T -

RAKMEBEERBEELNRKES
K5 BHBRREERBELFN
S SR IA K it B RS AR PR O R 52
FEEER -UELBRAETETRE
NERBREERF EERUGIRE N
REBRERRNERMMAELEER -
AEBIFENEEBEMRERR
SEBEE - Bl AEEREZE
FARNERSHHRELRRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF+-A=+-BILEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBREREEE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)
(i) Trade receivables (continued) (i) BREZ(E)
On that basis, the loss allowance for trade receivables due from third EHEREF R_ZE-_ZFLE_-F
parties as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 was determined as follows: —“NE+ZA=t—0 ERE=H
MEWRE S REBRBBETNT
_ _—
—
Category 2
|

More than

Within 1 year  1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2020 ZECEETCAST-H Category 1 Current  pastdue  pastdue  past due Total
-5 HE  BH-Fh BH-ZRE ANABRE gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR AR%TR

Expected loss rate REEAX 100% 0.18% 1.15% 6.49% 51.02%
Gross carrying amount FHEes 19,094 33,377 86,995 144,868 58,175 342,509

Loss allowance E4itE 9,404 29,681

Category 2
k|

More than
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2019 “E-NETZA=T-H Category 1 Current past due past due past due Total
=R P8 BE-E£n BE-ZRE RHBERE it
RMB'000 RIMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR  ARETR

Expected loss rate REBAE 100% 0.02% 0.08% 4.91% 12.13%
Gross carrying amount FHELES 76,446 160,299 74,109 137 1,661 312,652
Loss allowance BARE 76,446 26 63 7 1,207 77,749
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZH+-P=+-HIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)
(if)  Trade receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, loan receivables due from a third party
amounting to approximately RMB24,088,000, the expected loss rate

was closed to zero and thus the loss allowance was insignificant as

the loan was secured by a property with value sufficient to cover the

loan balance as at 2019. This balance was fully settled during the

year ended 31 December 2020.

The movement of loss allowances for trade receivables is as follows:

5.

MEERERE)

51 BM¥RMERE)

(b) EEEEE)

(i) EREBEZH(E)
RZZE-hE+-A=+—0" Ek
F=HEXH A AK24,088,000
T AREBERNEBERNIAE
HREH—EMEERT  BHEX
REODT ARBABEITEKN -
ZHEEFRBE_T_TF+=A
ST —HIEFEEREEE -

EKE SFFOBRBELHNOT :
—

RMB'000
AR¥T T

Balance at 1 January 2019
Impairment loss recognised during the year
Written-off

R=F-AE—A—A

FAERHRERK
6!

1,833
77,749
(1,833)

Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020

Reversal of impairment loss during the year

WZZ-hAE+-A=+—-0kK
“E-TF—-F—HArER

FRRERBENRED

77,749

(18,514)

Balance at 31 December 2020

RIBEZEF+-A=1+-—HWEH

59,235

Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable

expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable

expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a

debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure

to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 180 days

past due.
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ERWESFRAERGEIREES
TUAMEE - &R EHEERDNER
BREETBRE)EBAREETRAK
SEMENE BNEHER180
AR RBEE L S AR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iif)  Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of an asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition by considering available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information and the following indicators:

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the group and changes in the operating results of
the borrower.

Other financial assets at amortised cost are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a borrower failing to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group categorises
a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make
contractual payments more than 180 days past due. Where loans or
receivables have been written off, the Group continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where
recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

5.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-_A=t+-HIFE

B RBERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)

(b) FEREEE)

(iii) LBSRAAAENE M T HEE
AEEEHEEETIRERRZRE
BAOMREN  YREHEREREN
fEEERRRTEERN - £5HEE
ERRETEZIEME  AEEKR
&R HE E IR E Q0 B B ) i
REHHBEZONERETLE I
ERESHAELRIFIERMEEER
BB IRIER -

- SHERABTEENENNR
EXREBEY BB R
ROERAEHEATHED

—  ERAERZENERAENE
X2 R

- WBRABERRRITANERE
B BREFARKEENMNK
ML B R AR ERE

EUERKAGTENEMEREES
BEMSMEERD - NERAKRERETT
EARBEENGE > BT M -
EEBARERBEHEE 180 AL
AHNFK  ARERERRERKE
DR - B E SR YA
W AEEBELATARINTIES
PAE AU 8 R e SRR o E R e
WRE - AR B ARER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

of those categories. A summary of the assumptions underpinning the

Group's ECL model is as follows:

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBREREE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)
(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) (i) HEBHALFERMEHEE
(&)
The Group uses three categories for those receivables which reflect AEERZZRKFIBEA = AR
their credit risk and how the loss allowance is determined for each [ i E A5 PR R B DA I 4R ) B E 5 =

BAMBRER - THASERBHE
EEBENNREMNT
-

Category

Company definition of category

BRNAERARE

Basis for recognition of loss allowance

BRARABBENEE

Performing

Underperforming

BE

Non-performing
(credit impaired)

TREERE)

Write-off

35

Receivables whose credit risk is in line with
original expectations

EER R E RIS B KR

Receivables for which a significant increase has
occurred compared to original expectations; a
significant increase in credit risk is presumed if
interest and/or principal repayments are 30 days

past due

B[R 78 HAR Lk 15 B B R 3 42 0 ) JE MR SR0E
WFS R,/ HAEEFEHIOR  AREEE
2B AR S N

Interest and/or principal repayments are
90 days past due or it becomes probable a
customer will enter bankruptcy
FIER/SAeEHBHOBREFEAE
ANBRERFF

Interest and/or principal repayments are 180
days past due and there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery
FIER,/SA®EH A 1800 - BAEEHE
EWE -

12 month expected losses.Where the
expected lifetime of an asset is less than
12 months, expected losses are measured
at its lifetime ECL (stage 1)
12EAEBRER - BRERFERE 12
ARMEE  BHMBEXRE2BEREEE
BIZ1RR)GE -

Lifetime ECL (stage 2)

2HEMEEHR(FE2ER) -

Lifetime ECL (stage 3)

2HRBEEER(E3IREE) -

Amount is written off

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z - 2F+_A=1+—HIL%E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBREREE)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)

(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)

(ifi)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) (i) HNEBHEAGTEMAM 2 HEE

(#&)
Over the term of the other financial assets at amortised cost, the EUERKATENEMSHEEN
Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for ECL HRAN AEEEARNRESREE
on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group considers EREHESRBRAGEERRA
historical loss rates for each category of customers. No significant oA ERBAEEBRER K&
changes to estimation techniques or assumptions were made during EeEZREEREPHELELRE -
the reporting period. RiEHENEERTSRELNERR
WREREE -

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all the other financial assets RZZE_FTFR=ZZF-NF+=FA
at amortised cost were within their contractual credit period. The =t+—H FBUNEBRKATENE
loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost as at 31 @’i\ﬁﬁﬁﬁi’ﬂﬁEAEAfxﬁ1Zf§HﬂW °
December 2020 and 2019 was determined as follows: RZEZTFRZFT-NF+ZA

=t—H NERKAGFENEMLS
BEEMNBRBEETNT :

-
31 December 2020 —ECTF+A=+—H Performing Total
EE st
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Expected loss rate AR XK 0.34%

Gross carrying amount RHEEAE 1,371,938 1,371,938
Loss allowance BREE 4,670
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBREREEE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 B¥EREZE)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)
(ifi)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) (i) HNEBHEAGTEMAM 2 HEE
(&
_ _—
=
31 December 2019 —E-NE+ZRA=+—H Performing Total
EE met
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

Expected loss rate EEE R XK 0.26%
Gross carrying amount FREEARE 833,904 833,904
Loss allowance BREE 2,168
As at 31 December 2020, no other financial assets at amortised cost RZZEZZEF+-A=+—H " #{RA
with a contractual amount (2019: RMB3,247,000) written off during EMEABRK AT ENEMERE
the period. The gross carrying amount of other financial assets at E(ZT—nF: AR¥3,247,000
amortised cost, and thus the maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: To) e DMERK AT ENEMEREE
MEEELEREBBRORE KRR
APEMT
_ ot
=
2020 2019
it 223 —E-NE
RMB’'000 RMB'000
SO ARBTT AT
Performing E® 1,371,938 833,904
Written off g — 3,247
Total gross other financial DA AT EN B e REELRE
assets at amortised cost 1,371,938 837,151
Less: Loss allowance o BRRE (4,670) (2,168)
Less: Written off W s — (3,247)

1,367,268 831,736
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BAMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-T-BFTCAST-ALEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBREREEE)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 B¥EREZE)

(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)

(ifi)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) (i) HNEBHEAGTEMAM 2 HEE
(&

The movement of loss allowance for other financial assets at NERKAENEMEREENE

amortised cost is as follows: REHBZBWOT :

—
RMB’000
AR¥T T

Balance at 1 January 2019 RZE-NF—A—BHNEH —
Impairment loss recognised during the year FABRIRERKX 2,168

Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 WR-T—hFE+-_F=+—8BNK

“Z-TF-A-BNER 2,168
Impairment loss recognised during the year FAREROREEKX 2,502
Balance at 31 December 2020 R-B-EF+ZA=+-BWER
There was no other financial asset carrying a significant exposure to Hith &R EEVREGREREERR
credit risk. A o
(c)  Liquidity risk (c) HEMEE
Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient BENRBUEAREEBREERAR
cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount MEEREERANEREEREN
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market #EFHPAES  KRMETEN
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, BN - AR AEERBERN SR
the Group's treasury function allows flexibility in funding by - AEENESNEBRERRRE
maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents. MReRBEEEFBYMUREEENE

B .

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity EREERBEEAREREEEAEE
position based on the expected cash flows. MEEeMRERETEA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBREREE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) () FiEttEpEE)
(i) Financing arrangements () BEZH
The Group has the following undrawn bank borrowing facilities: AEEEBATHARRERORITER
BE -
—_—
. )
As at 31 December
W+=A=+—-H
2020 2019
- el 33 —E-NF
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Fixed rate: B EF &
— expiring within one year —R—FRNEm 40,000 40,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE_Z-ZF+-A=1-HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEREEE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BBEBERE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) () FiEttmEpEE)
(i) Maturities of financial liabilities (i) Z@EEIEA
The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities in relevant TERAMERERBRESDENEHAF
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of SEFEE S EBE A ARNNAE
the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts ENemBE RTPMRENEEY
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. BERNNENARTRRERE ©
At 31 December 2020 R-B-BF+-A=+—H

=3

Undiscounted cash flows

AFRRER

Weighted
average Total

effective Within ~ Between 1 Over carrying

interest rate 1year and 5 years 5 years Total amount
mE¥H

BRRE  -£HR -E1f  EEHE ay REELE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR  ARMTR AR¥TR ARBTR ARETR

Non-derivative financial liabilities {74 4REE

Bank borrowings BITER ; 517,791 113,914 631,705 610,000
Trade and notes payables ENESFRENEE 324,150 324,150 324,150
Lease liabilities BEBE . 150 150 147

Other financial liabilities Ehemak 403,536 403,536 403,536

1,245,627 1,337,833
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBREREE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) () FiEttEpEE)
(i) Maturities of financial liabilities (continued) (i) EHEETHAHE)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H
- A,
Undiscounted cash flows
RFRRLR
Weighted
average Total
effective Within -~ Between 1 Over qarrying
interest rate Tyear and 5 years 5 years Total amount
IEF
BRI —FR —Ehf RENE By REESE

% RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ Efi4&REE

Bank borrowings BITRER 3.1 551,740 190,920 - 742,660 716,000
Trade and notes payables FRECEVEGES S - 323,881 - 323,881 323,881
Other financial liabilities B mAE — 392,443 — 16,000 408,443 408 443

1,268,064 190,920 16,000 1,474,984 1448324

The Group provided a financial guarantee amounting to AEER-Z-_EF+-_A=1+—H
approximately RMB170,000,000 to one of its associate for obtaining Fh— A A R B IRITIE IR LB
bank borrowings as at 31 December 2020. Given the financial BHER L A K% 170,000,0007T 2
position and earning ability of the associate company, management KB E DRI R I Bk R B F e
believe that the risk of default for the associate for the loan ERERABENREEERNEY
repayment is very low and thus management believes that there is no R Bt ERERR A%
material liquidity risk arising from the financial guarantee provided by ERUENMBERTBEELERNRD
the Group. = o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group's capital is mainly from equity funding and borrowings for
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on
the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as borrowings
divided by total capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus

borrowings.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

=

TEF-A=t—HILEFE

BBERERE)

52 BFXERER
AEEERBEANBERRRELAEE

BEEE N

e A RR IR E

o REMASEREE RN SR

REREBETRE

PUBE B £ o

REFBXHAEEARE  AKEAH

BRXNFREREABRE

B~ BATHRE

CARREE
HEEEWRE

BE_Z_ZER-_T-NF+-A

:+—H¢¢F'

AEBNERTR

E=2d

REBRAEE RER -

HERE AT
EEH REEED

ERBHEABE R BB

—H - ARENEE

PER o ZALRIR
c BRI

BRA MR R PRI R IO SRET

m

—hFE+=A

:+—HW§EEE%$W?Z

As at 31 December
W+t=H=+—~

2020 2019
— ? —= ﬂi :Zi—j'LﬂE
RMB’000 RMB'000

e ARMTT SRR
Bank borrowings (Note 33) RITREF(MIEE33) 610,000 716,000
Borrowings from third parties (Note 32) EZHER(HIFE32) 301,825 290,309
Total borrowings EpSE 911,825 1,006,309
Total equity R B 2,722,108 2,702,039
Total capital BREEE 3,633,933 3,708,348
Gearing ratio BEAGLE 25.09% 27.14%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020

QE

TEETCAST-ALFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. HMBEBRERE)
5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments 53 &RMIAMNAAEETE
This section explains the judgements and estimates made in AEBMETRANBERGA VK
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are BEABRKENERIANAR
recognised and measured at fair value in the consolidated financial {BER AR 21 B R fh 5t
statements.
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (a) AREEER
To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in ABHEEALEBEMABAZED
determining fair value, the Group classifies its financial instruments AEREER AEERESER
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An HEMEERIAEDA=ZE - BER
explanation of each level follows underneath the table. ZBRIIRMT -
The following table presents the Group's financial assets measured TEREINAEEAR-_Z_ZTFRK=-F
and recognised at fair value at 31 December 2020 and 2019 on a —NEFET_A=Z+-BREFELEN
recurring basis: RABEFERRANERHEE
Level 3 B
%38
2020 2019
—7—?q£ _j—LﬁE
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Recurring fair value measurements HEMEARBENE e ARBTT NS e
Financial assets ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
FVTPL NABEFEEAEE
quJKTé!mE’JﬁmﬂﬁE
- Investment in structured —RERGEBIEENEmD
financial products 27 180,811 180,630
~ Investment in GT Express (Beijing) —BRERBREN(ILR)
Information Technology Co., Ltd. EERMARRA
("GT Express”) (BBEM]) 27 11,517
~ Investment in Shanghai MKT —RER LBEER 27 | 5,000
192,328 197 147
FVTOCI AREEAEEHEED
qu)\Ei\ﬁﬂiﬁ%Z 3 )
EREE
— Investment in CRE —RERHERE 22 58,000
— Investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu —RERLERELER 22 LY 173881
174,482 231 881
Total financial assets BEBMEE 366,810 429,028
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The table above analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at
fair value as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 by level of the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity securities) is
based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

5.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-_A=t+-HIFE

MERBRERE)

53 @RMIANAAEEFTEE)
(a) AREEERE)
FREFEARBEZHERMNAA
BASBHNER  HMASER=-Z
ZEERZFT-NEFE+ZRA=1T—H
BAREBEIIEZEBIA - B@EH
ABBEDETXAmO>BEFEARR
BEREAN=FEARR

FIBE:-NEBMHEENERTA
(MAHEEZTETARERES)
MARBERREHRAEHEE
o AEERBEMEEMBZMS
HEREREAE - ZFTAGIA
F1E -

F2B:UHNERTHEENTR
TAMBIMBIINTETR)NRA(E
ENRAEENBAIBRTSBRER
BELVRBERNB TR OMGEER
MEE - Wit E-—BIANDAEE
BENMBEARBAZERIBEH
% BIZIRFIAFE2RE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZH+-P=+-HIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is
the case for unlisted equity securities.

B RBERE)

53 EMIANAABETESE)
(@) RAALEEERE)

F3E: M—EXZEEAWAHNE
WIHRBAEENHBBEME * RIZ
TAIAEIE - FF L ERE

BULER
—
Financial Fair value Valuation Significant
assets/financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy technique unobservable input
SREE SRARE RUTABNAAREE MRBEER fHERN EXTTEEBAHUE
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
ZBIEF “E-NF
TZA=1t-H e
RMB’000 RMB’000
................................. AR T T
Financial assets at FVTPL
URAREEFEREE
AABRNEREE
- Structured financial 180,811 180,630 Level 3 Market approach Discount rate per
products annum
—REENENER F3IE WHE FRERX
- GT Express 11,517 Level 3 Discounted cash Discount rate per
flow method annum
-EREH F3B Banfix FRIRE
- Shanghai MKT 5,000 Level 3 Market approach Discount rate per
annum
- HEEER FIE WHE FRHEX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BAMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-T-BFTCAST-ALEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MERREEE)
5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued) 53 2RMIANAAEBEFTES)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (a) AREEERE)
_ _—
—>
Financial Fair value  Valuation Significant
assets/financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy technique unobservable input
SREE CRERE RUT AHNALEE AABEER ~HERM EARTBRGAEE
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
g 33 “E-NE
ToAZ1-H et
RMB‘000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET T
Financial assets at FVTOCI
WARBEFEREZSFA
Ho2ENENeREE
- CRE N/A* 58,000 Level 3 Discounted cash Discount rate
flow method per annum
—hERiE TER* Z38 Benmix FRIRE
- Shannan Yalaxiangbu 174,482 173,881 Level 3 Discounted cash Discount rate
flow method per annum
—EERER £3E HenmBiA FRIRE
* Those financial assets were disposed of during the year ended 31 December * FHSREERBE-_Z-_TF+=
2020. A=Z+—HLEFEALE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBREREE)
5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued) 53 @RMIANAAEEFTEE)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (a) AREEERE)
There is no transfer between Level 1,2 and 3 during the year. FRAFIE F2EREIE2EME
(EaCIEE R
(b) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (b) FEI3IEBALBETEZHE

-

—

Financial Financial

assets assets

at FVTOCI at FVTPL
DRREESE

BEZFA UQABENE

Hit2EKzE BEHESHHA
NEMEE BENIMEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

At 1 January 2019 RZZE-NF—A—H 231,881 190,795 422,676
Additions BE — 525,000 525,000
Expiration of embedded MARSTEEEDIE (M3 8)

derivative asset (Note 8) — (4,319) (4,319)
Net gains recognised i B RERR 6% W (P RE8)

upon disposal (Note 8) = 10,198 10,198
Fair value changes (Note 8) NABEEH(HES) — 630 630
Disposal HE — (525,157) (525,157)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NF+ZA=1—

1 January 2020 kR-—E-ZTF—A—H 231,881 197,147 429,028
Additions BE — 180,000 180,000
Net gains recognised upon HE R R A F s (3 8)

disposal (Note 8) — 12,482 12,482
Fair value changes (Note 8) NREEZH(KES) (10,999) 811 (10,188)
Disposal HE (46,400) (198,112) (244,512)
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-ZF+-A=t+-H 174,482 192,328 366,810
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(c)  Group’s valuation processes

The Group's finance department performs the valuation of the
financial assets during the financial reporting process, including
level 3 fair value. Management engages external valuation experts
to facilitate the fair value evaluation as and when necessary. During
the valuation, management considers the business performance of
the investee in comparison with competitors in the same industry, as
well as the external valuation report if any. Risk adjustments specific
to the counterparties (including assumptions about credit default
rates) are derived from credit risk ratings determined by the Group's
internal credit risk management group. Discussion of valuation
process and results are held between chief financial officer, the
finance team and qualified external valuers that are responsible for
the valuation.

(d)  Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The management considers that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

5.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-B=1+-HI%FE

MERBRERE)

53 @RMIANAAEEFTEE)
() FEBEZGEEF
AEEMBAFIRTBRBIETHE
REEETHEREFIEAAE
B) EEERETERSEFINDG
BEERETRABENMG - EEER
MEFEZRIERTERFHFUER
ZIEH EE R RN (E ER
H(WE) - RHBEFHHTERER L
(BREEBAEREOENRE) IAXR
EERNRBERRAKRERE J\iﬁ?zmﬁ’ﬂé
AEBERSEL EREUKBE - &
ﬁ%@%%ﬁ@%&éé%%%ﬁﬁ
e HERT RERETHR

() UHREEEEULLEETE
HWEMEEREZBEBZANE
]

EEERS  HRePBHRRAERN

M%%%$E§ TREENTRA

EMREEEERRBEES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports regularly reviewed by the executive Directors, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM"), that are used to make strategic
decisions.

(@) Description of segments and principal activities

(i)  Water business segment

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and selling a
range of water products through wholesales in the PRC, selling raw
materials and consumables to associates and third parties, leasing
production lines and a plant to associates.

(i) Beer business segment
The Group manufactures and sells a range of beer products mainly in
the PRC through wholesales.

(b) Segment information disclosures

Sales between segments are based on the agreed terms between both
segments. The revenue from external parties reported to the CODM
is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The amounts provided to the CODM with respect of total assets and
total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE_Z-ZF+-A=1-HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DHRERE)

(b)  Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) PHEMKEE)

The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable BE_T_ZF+_A=1+—HIHF
segments for the year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows: B FEQLERFERREENEHBA

EFN B HBERDT -

7

Water Beer Inter-

business business  Corporate segment
segment segment  and others  elimination Total
Uik BEAW  LEREM  2PEMS @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR  ARETR

Total segment revenue PEHRAEE 180,065 311,503 1,311 - 492,879
Cost of sales HEMA (94,878)  (182,865) — - (27m18)
Gross profit e 85,187 128,638 1,311 — 215,136
Share of result on investments accounted &5 AERZ AR
for using the equity method HRENE (247) (1,850) (2,097)
Reversal of allowance for/ (allowance & BEERLHEEFRE
for) ECL on financial assets BBEn/ (&E) 16,876 (845) (19) 16,012
Adjusted EBITDA* RELERTER
B spmn e - 40,115 143,542 (22,037) 161,620
Finance income BEUA 1,261 — - 1,261
Finance costs HBER (12,508) (10,659) (22,211) (45,378)
Depreciation and amortisation HERESR (28,206) (54,300) (274) (82,780)
Profit/(loss) before tax BEARE/ (BB) 662 (44,522)
Income tax (expense)/credit FER(ZR) /B (10,975) 64
Profit/(loss) for the year EEFE/(B58) (10,313) AR:E (44,458) 16,918
* Adjusted EBITDA is a key financial measure regularly monitored by CODM * HEEREVTELHENFBEAEE
in managing the Group's performance. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated RERREEBASERANE E5
by excluding the following effects from the profit/(loss) for the year: (i) EEE BEEGRETNEEENF
impairment losses on investments accounted for using the equity method; ATEHBRAT B EFEFE/
(i) finance (cost)/income, net; (iii) depreciation and amortisation; and (iv) (BE)OAEIEL  ((VFEREREA
income tax (expense)/credit. BMEREARERE: (MK (ER)/
WA - R G AT E B R(v)
PSR (BA), Kk -
Adjusted EBITDA is not accounting measures under IFRS and should not be HE R BT E B AT B IR E
considered as an alternative to the profit/(loss) for the year as a measure REBRERANBTHEHRERS
of operational performance. Adjusted EBITDA does not have a standard & ATERREREFENE/
calculation method and the Group’s definition of adjusted EBITDA may not (BR)GTEEERE - HRERE
be comparable to that of other companies. B ofr 6 8 4 A R S AR MO S B

A BAKEHHERGBERTESR
HAFIEMER TR EEREMAA
RVHETTEL S o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZH+-P=+-HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b)

Segment information disclosures (continued)

The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable

segments for the year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows:

2HERE)
(b) ZEHERKEE)

HE-_ZE-_ZF+-_B=1+—HIHF
B FELEARERRENEHT
EBAHNLHBERLET -

Water
Business
segment

KDE
RMB'000

ARET T

Beer
Business
segment
EE 2 H
RMB'000

ARET R

Total
#at
RMB'000
AR¥T T

Segment total assets
- Investments accounted for
using the equity method

NEEEE

—EREDEARNRE

3,519,945

650,697

2,415,281 5,935,226

650,697

192,328

174,482
4,277
16,816
(2,171,618)

4,151,511

1,232,434

Unallocated RO E

Financial assets at FVTPL UAREEFEAEEEHFTA
EBENeREE

Financial assets at FVTOCI UARBEFEBEEZSFA
HvzEUENEBREE

Deferred tax assets EREFIBEE

Assets of corporate and others ¥R EHMEE

Inter-segment elimination 7> B I EH

Total assets HWEE

Segment total liabilities DEBEEE

Unallocated ROE

Deferred tax liabilities ERHIBEE

Liabilities of corporate TrERHEMEE

and others
Inter-segment elimination 7> B I 8
Total liabilities HEeR

495,614 1,728,048

7,371

329,037

(635,053)

1,429,403
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z - 2F+_A=1+—HIL%E

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. 2WERE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁg(lﬁg)_
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable HE_T— h¢+ A=+—HL#F
segments for the year ended 31 December 2019 is as follows: FE TELRERARERREENEHA
ZHRHHBAOSHERMT -
—
Water Beer Inter-
business business Corporate segment
segment segment and others  elimination Total
KRE BEAH  CEREM PR &t

B0 RMBOOO  RVEO00  RMBOOD  RMBO00
ARBTL  AREBTR ARETL ARETLI  ARETR

Total segment revenue PHBAEE 408,698 311,855 2,255 (1,353) 721,455
Cost of sales HEKK (151,064)  (167,429) - 1,353 (317,140)
Gross profit 7 257,634 144,426 2,255 - 404,315
Share of result on investments accounted [ElEEBEREAR
for using the equity method HRENE 17,284 - (2,965) - 14,319
(Allowance for)/reversal of allowance CREERBEERE
for ECL on financial assets (BfE)/BEEE (78,718) (4,446) - - (83,164)
Adjusted EBITDA* REEETITER
BRAIAE 86,221 169,099 (26,957) — 228,363
Impairment losses on investments RAEREAR
accounted for using the equity BRERERRE
method (873,151) = = = (873,151)
Finance income FIBIA 36,490 27,326 3 - 63,819
Finance costs HHEH (17,730) (9,096) (27,432) — (54,258)
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH (26,244) (54,202) (930) = (81,376)
(Loss)/profit before tax BEERA(ER)/
yilpEd (794,414 133,127 (55,316) = (716,603)
Income tax expense FiEHER (6,749) (21,572) (194) — (28,515)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(B8R)/HE (801,163) 111,555 (55,510) — (745,118)
* Adjusted EBITDA is a key financial measure regularly monitored by CODM * HERREVMEREANEAEER
in managing the Group's performance. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated Z:L;%%%AﬁKEI%IEE?IEJ
by excluding the following effects from the profit/(loss) for the year: (i) BiR% - AREBSBTER BT

5EE%§?D[S%DAT?¢Eu+*”¢ff'J/Fﬁ/
(BE)NFRBE () ERERZEA
ERMRERERE (ii),ﬁ\ﬂ%(%ﬂ%)/
WA B (NITEREH Rv)

impairment losses on investments accounted for using the equity method,;
(i) finance (cost)/income, net; (iii) depreciation and amortisation; and (iv)
income tax expenses.

PrSTER -

. . . HEERERTESHEANNIELIER
Adjusted EBITDA is not accounting measures under IFRS and should not be B ERE LR E TR RS
considered as an alternative to the profit/(loss) for the year as a measure % B RERGETRSEERE,
of operational performance. Adjusted EBITDA does not have a standard (BRI QBeEE. AREARE
calculation method and the Group's definition of adjusted EBITDA may not BT E B AR R EEE s E
be comparable to that of other companies. o BAEEYERAR AR ES

SHATFIEH) E & A A AR E M A A)
HBETTEHH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. 2WERE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) oBEMEEE)
- ""
Water Beer
segment segment Total
KD B EE S B st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBETTT ARBTT

Segment total assets DEREE 2,650,909 2,375,042 5,025,951
— Investments accounted for —FRAEREARNIZE
using the equity method 698,283 = 698,283
Unallocated ROE
Financial assets at FVTPL UAnEETEAEZEHAA
BRNemEE 197,147
Financial assets at FVTOCI UAnEETEAEZEHAA
Hit 2 EBRA e REE 231,881
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIBE E 9,511
Assets of corporate and others ~ (MEREMEE 26,359
Inter-segment elimination 7> B I 8 (1,228,443)
Total assets mEE 4,262,406
Segment total liabilities DEEEE 1,525,605 526,668 2,052,273
Unallocated RO E
Deferred tax liabilities EEMEAE 9,695
Liabilities of corporate TrEREMBE
and others 315,241
Inter-segment elimination 7> B i 54 (816,842)
Total liabilities Hmas 1,560,367
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)
Entity-Wide information
Breakdown of total revenue by category is shown in Note 7.

Revenue from external customers of the Group were all derived in the
PRC for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax
assets are all located in the PRC as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

() Information about major customers
Revenue from customers over 10% of the Group's total revenue is as

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-A=+-BILEE

TEER(E)

(b) ZEHERKEE)
ERuEEH

il Bl R CE NG E i S A

BE—_T-_TFER-_FT—NF+=A
=t+—HIFE KEENIFEFH
WAREHE -

RZE-_ZEFR-_TE-—NE+=A
=t—8 ¥RPEEGRIARE
EHBBEERIN AR HBE -

(0 EEREFHESR
REEASELRATER10%HEP

follows: WU AT
-~
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-RA=1t—-HLEE
2020 2019
—ECEE —T—NE
RMB‘000 RMB'000
e e ARRTT RN
Customer A EEA N/A*
142,276 NEA*
Customer B ZFB N/A*
83,611 NEA*

During the year ended 31 December 2020, sales of approximately
RMB17,819,000 (2019: RMB59,124,000) are derived from associates
in the water segment, shown in Note 45(a).

* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the revenue of
the Group for the respective year.

HE-_Z-_ZEF+-_A=+—HItHE
EHE KEBHIBHENARE
17,819,000 (=T —NF: AR¥
59,124,000 L) REREEE N F] - 2R
Bt 55 45(a) °

* TBEBARBBREEEFIA10% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

7.  REVENUE 7.

Revenue from external customers are mainly derived from the sales
of water products and beer products, interest income from lending
services provided and lease of production line and equipment. The
Group also sells raw materials and consumables to associates and
third parties and leases production lines and a plant to associates.
Breakdown of the revenue is as follows:

L'ON

INHEFHRAETERBERHEERS
8RR EE an % B B A 4R £ 48 BOR
BEENFMERA - AEETHEE T
BEARREZFRMERFEM U R
HETHEAREESR —BHE

WABRAT

Year ended 31 December

BEE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2020 2019

- el 33 “E-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFT

Revenue from contracts with customers: EEARWA :

Recognised at a point in time TR (G0 (T2 #% 37 °]

Sales of water products KERIEE 172,666 353,185

Sales of beer products R E mIEE 310,206 310,502

Sales of raw materials and consumables FEM B R M HE 1,248 L
484,120 712 980

Revenue from other source: H R WA -

Rental income HEWA 7,448 6,220

Interest income from lending services provided IR EFRIREELEMFISUWA 1,311 | 2,255

8,759 8 475

Total et

492,879 721,455
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-T-BFTCAST-ALEE

8. OTHER GAINS, NET 8. HMRE FHE .

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2020 2019
—E-FF “ZT-nF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT

Other gains/(losses) HFE, (B%)
Government grants BB
- Tax refund (note (a)) — R (M5 @) 24,320
— Amortisation of deferred income — IR AN 5 2,425
- Other government grant (note (e)) — H b BUR B (BT (e)) —
Gain on disposal of financial assets BEAAABENEAHEHFA
at FVTPL (note (b)) BRODEEEMNURER (P (b)) 10,198
Fair value changes on financial assets UNARBESNEEHEESHFA
at FVTPL (note (b)) BRNeMEENAAEE
ZE (M5 (b)) 630
Loss on maturing financial assets MRABEEBESETABR
at FVTPL (note (c)) MEmEETHEMEBX
(P EE () (4,319)
Write-down of inventories (note (d)) T E MR (FIEE (d) (17,885)
Others HAth 1,442
16,811
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
ToREL A=t -HIERE

ﬁz—’\

8.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

OTHER GAINS, NET (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

The Group is eligible to receive subsidy income from the local government
in relation to the domestic subsidiaries’ fiscal contribution to the local
economic development as a major tax payer and employer in Tibet.
Accordingly, tax refund amounting to RMB1,800,000 was recognised for
the year ended 31 December 2020(2019: RMB24,320,000).

The Group purchased financial products issued by a financial institution in
the PRC. These financial products will mature within one year with variable
return rates indexed to the performance of the underlying assets. During
the year, the Group disposed these investments amounting to approximately
RMB180,630,000 (2019: RMB510,000,000), which resulted in a gain
amounting to approximately RMB11,866,000 (2019: RMB10,198,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held structured financial products
amounting to approximately RMB180,000,000 (2019: RMB180,000,000),
which was measured at FVTPL. The unrealised fair value gains of
approximately RMB811,000 (2019: RMB630,000) were recognised for the
year.

As at 31 December 2019, the derivative financial products related to share
option measured at as FVTPL was matured and the Group has not exercised
the equity option, amounting to approximately RMB4,319,000 which was
recorded as loss on financial assets at FVTPL.

This relates to inventory for a specific customer who is in financial
difficulties, thus the cost of the inventory is assessed to be impaired during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

Other government grant represents various form of subsidies granted to
the Group by the local government authorities in the PRC for compensation
of expenses incurred by the Group. These grants are generally made for
business support and awarded to enterprises on a discretionary basis. There

are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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9.

FINANCE (COST)/INCOME, NET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z - 2F+_A=1+—HIL%E

M (BA) WA - RE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2020 2019

k- -3 3 —Z-hEF

RMB’000 RMB'000
e ARMTT SRR
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net PE X (18%k), Wz 38 (256) 86
Interest costs on bank borrowings RITBRMEER (26,454) (30,540)
Interest costs on convertible bond (Note 34) —Hﬁﬂ EHFEE R (HFE34) — (17,846)
Interest costs on borrowings from third parties =5 EZRAF 8 & F (21,924) (9,647)
Interest costs on lease liabilities %ﬁf@ BFEE R t) —
Other finance costs Hib B %2 (€19 (381)
(48,728) (58,328)

Amount capitalised (note) B8 (i) 3,350 4,070
Finance cost MEER (45,378) (54,258)
Finance income — interest income PRI — FI B A 1,261 63,819

Finance (cost)/income, net B (BA) WA FE (44,117) 9,561

note: Interest of approximately RMB3,350,000 (2019: RMB4,070,000) has been
capitalised in assets under construction for the year ended 31 December

2020. Interest was capitalised at the weighted average rate of its general

bank borrowings of 3.63% per annum (2019: 4.19% per annum).

M : BEZS_TFF+-_A=+—HILF
& FIEHARE3,350,000L (=%
—h&: AR®4,070,0007T) B &K
CEERIREE - fIBR— KRBT
EBRIEFEERNEK3.63% (ZZ—R
FFREL19%)EAIL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZH+-P=+-HIFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated

statement of profit or loss represents:

10. FAEHER
AT REGEBERIAANAERE
Be%

Year ended 31 December__

BEEt-A=t—-HLEE

2020 2019
- el 323 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

SO ARRTT AN

PRC Enterprise Income Tax: B EPTS :

— Current tax —BIEARi A 10,394 40,748

— Under-provision in prior year —BEFERETR 4,501 —
14,895 40,748

Deferred tax (Note 21) RIERTE(FHFE21) 2,910 (12,233)
Income tax expense FTi5Hi & B 28,515

The taxation on the Group's profit/(loss) before income tax differs

from the theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax

rate as follows:

REBNBPAEHAAE,/ (BE):
BB BEERNNRAEERRFHER
HEERSEE  FRM L

Year ended 31 December_i

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2020 2019
—E-EE —T—hF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETSELAIAE, (E58) 34,723 (716,603)
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate of 15% BEERER15% T EMFHIE 5,208 (107,490)
Preferential tax rates on income of ETEEERONBKAMER
certain group entities (note) MERERE (M) (6,141) (13,709)
Loss not subject to tax HERTER 5,913 130,017
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised AEARKBERAREBIENH BT E 6,836 1,283
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes TAMBFEX 11,305 34,913
Incomes not taxable for tax purposes TEHMBEA (9,817) (25,578)
Under-provision in respect of prior years HRATFERETTE 4,501 —
Withholding tax from distribution of BB 2 ) B A
profits by a PRC subsidiary PE £ R TEHITR 9,079
Income tax expense P ER M
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

note: The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under current laws

of the Cayman Islands, there is no income, estate, corporation, capital gains
or other taxes payable by the Company. The group entities established
under the International Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands

are exempted from British Virgin Islands income taxes.

The group entities incorporated in the PRC are subject to PRC enterprise
income tax. Major operational entities of the Group are located in Tibet
and were entitled to preferential income tax rate. Based on the tax ruling
announced by the PRC central tax authorities, the corporate income tax
rate of Lhasa is 9% for the years from 2015 to 2021. From 2022 onwards,
the corporate income tax rate in Tibet will resume to 15% if no further
announcement from the PRC central tax authorities is made. The remaining
entities incorporated in the PRC were taxed based on the income tax rate of
25% for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 25%) as determined in

accordance with the relevant PRC income tax rules and regulations.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2019:
16.5%). On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HKD2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above HKD2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong profit tax has been made for this year

as the Group has no assessable profits in Hong Kong.

The relevant deferred tax balances had been measured based on the

expected tax rates applicable in the future.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-_A=t+-HIFE

10. FRGBIERAE)
fi -

ARRRFASESEMAL - BEH
SRERTER - ARABEEME
BPREH  BED - AR AR
BRHEMREA - REAEELRS
MBEREBARNEK I NEEEBE
HRANRBRLEBHOMEH -

Bl E#FISH - AEEME
BARNARTZZMEHES
REPEPREEEERHHOBL
O NENCEMERHER T
—hAFEE-_—FA9% -B_-F
ZCFR MPEP AR BERETE
A0 - BIAEEE S EMEEE
KHEMEZ15% - LA B M
KUMEEREBEZ_S=-_TF+=4
=+ BIEFERBHEBNREFG
AR B R 3R 011% 25% M BRI R (=
T 25%)BF -

gat W
i3
¢

BEENBHREEZI65%(ZT— N
F:165% B ERFR - RZF
—\E=ZA=+—H BELELRE
BT FBBUEET) (B TR)E
PIER(MEBER])  SIAFIEH
MR o EHIERR_Z—N\F=A
ZTNBRBEENAEE - UREH
HE - REMEHMARSL - 5ERE
[ 3 8 %5 2,000,000 7 7T #)35 F B
/$8.25% + A 2,000,000 % 7T &Y
HEHHEAA165%  FFEFE
BRI EE F B REFSBER
16.5% BB —FEE N - ARAE
EREBYEERTEN - SRR E
EARFRBBMER o

ABETHEAHREREBHIV AR
ERNBETUFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

11.  PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 1. FEF®(&8)
Profit/(loss) for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): FEMNB/(BE)EMBR/GIA)T
5|55 :

—

"

Year ended 31 December

BEt-RA=t—-HLEFE

2020 2019
S B d ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
Niawd & ErT

Auditor’s remuneration ZERIN &

- Audit services — B R 1,779 7,136

- Non-audit services —IEEE IR — —
Raw materials and consumables used PITFR R A1 R} B 1 174,482 221,779
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) BRAESHE(ME18) 22,118 22,118
Depreciation of PP&E (Note 16) ME - BB REEFTE(ME16) 59,560 58,359
Depreciation of investment properties REMEMENE (I 17)

(Note 17) 234 175
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15)  {FFREEEFE (M 15) 868 724
Short-term lease expenses CHESER 2,783 1,641
Employee benefit expenses (Note 12) EERMEBR(ME12) 62,184 83,059
Advertising and marketing expenditure EERTiZHEEER 20,740 36,017
City construction tax and education surcharge MERERHEW NE 6,951 11,758
Electricity and other utility expenses BHRHEMEEIRE R 7,732 12,193
Legal and other consulting services fee ERNMEMBAREE R 7,266 7,239
Exploration rights expenses RERER = 500
Transportation costs EEA A 61,855 57,048
Gross rental income from REMERS WAL

investment properties (4,705) (5,924)
Less: direct operating expenses incurred A FRESESBAN

for investment properties that REMEELNERES

generated rental income ERX

during the year 5,173
(Reversal of allowance for)/allowance for CREERBEERRE

ECL on financial assets (BEeER) B

— Trade receivables (Note 23) —EKE SR (Mi23) (18,514) 77,749

- Other financial assets at amortised cost — B A EN

(Note 25) Hit & RE& & (B 25) 2,502 5,415
Loss on disposal of PPE ME - BEREENEERXKX 89 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

12. BEEANEA -

FARMBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-T-BFTCAST-ALEE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1t—-HLEE

Wages and salaries

Provision for medical and other
employee benefits

Contributions to defined contribution
pension scheme (note (a))

Contributions to the housing scheme

TEEF®
BN EAE RN A

REHFRARS BT (M )

{F 55 5+ 8450 (P EE (b))

(note (b))

notes:

Pension scheme

The Group pays contributions to publicly administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual basis. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available.

Housing scheme

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations, the Group is
required to make contributions to the Chinese state-sponsored housing
fund at 10% of the salaries of the PRC employees. At the same time, the
employees are also required to make a contribution at 10% of their salaries
out of their payroll. The employees are entitled to claim the entire sum of
the fund under certain specified withdrawal circumstances.

2020 2019

S B Ed ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
ol SEET
52,705 66,853
3,137 5,511
3,761 6,178
2,581 4,517

62,184 83,059

RIKEFE

AgERREY  ANELERLEER
BARSRBEEHELHK - WZES
TERMEEXNMARENAHE
LRETEHRERRERGMEMNGE
B NEETEE - SHIEER
HERME - HANEHEHBAES
BHEM - BNEREATRFEDR
SHEARNFBOOERTRRBAE
&

EREFE

BETREEHNENEESR  A5HE
VEETEREREHEM10%E S E
B EBNER A ESELHER - [
B EEMENEFSHIRNI0%(E
At EETHERBET B8R
BIERZENEELBSMN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

12.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 12. BRERNEAE)
notes: (continued) BiEE : ()

(c)  Five highest paid individuals (0 hEEaFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for FEEASERE RS TMALEE
the year include three (2019: four) Directors and chief executive, details of ZR(ZE-NF WB)EERITHY
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 45(c). AE  BEOMSFEERM 450
The emoluments paid and payable to the remaining two (2019: one) highest 28I MR AFEEDNRE
paid employees who are neither a Director nor chief executive of the NYESBMEA(ZE-NE: —8)T
Company are as follows: FERRRELTNFTHAENTESH

MEEZBMemT

) _—
F

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-RA=1T—-HILEFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Basic salaries and allowances EA#H & K28 2,257 1,219
Contribution to pension scheme RIREFHEIHET 16 16
Bonuses TEAT 98 97
1,332
(d)  The number of the highest paid employees who are not the Directors (d WHFEARARESMIETBRABZ
nor chief executive of the Company whose remuneration fell within the ERHMEEMASRETHEE R
following band is as follows: N
) o
.

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+—-HLEE

HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 %L E 1,500,000 % 7T

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2020



13.

14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-A=+-BILEE

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 13. BREA(F#E)
(@) Basic earnings/(loss) per share () BREXEF(HHE)
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, basic earnings/(loss) per share is RZE_ZEER_T—NFE+_A
based on the following data: =+—8 S8REKXEF (BB
ERUTERE -
. P n
Year ended 31 December
BZE+-_A=1+—-HLEE
2020 2019
i el 323 —E-NE
RMB'000 RMB'000
oo ARBTT NI
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners RNREE AEEFE/(EiE)
of the Company 16,973 (745,118)
.
Year ended 31 December_
BZE+-_A=1+—HLEE
2019
—E-NF
‘000
OSSOSO OOOPSNROOOPSUUROOOSNUOOOOOPNOOOOOOPRROOOOOON .. TE — TR
Weighted average number of ordinary BEITERRMETHE(FR)
shares in issue (thousands) 2,503,267 2,503,267
(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (b) SREBEERA(FHE)
No diluted earnings/(loss) per share for both 2020 and 2019 were HRBE_E-_Z2FR _T—N&F
presented as there were no potential ordinary share in issue as at 31 TZACT—HUEBEEHERTY
December 2020 and 2019. R AR EEYN T _TFR
T-NFHEREFEFN,(BE) -
DIVIDENDS 14. RE

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2019:
nil).

HE-_Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HIHF
BV ERADNDEBRFRTRER
RIS RERARETEZZRRT
FARE(ZE—NEF:T) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES 15. FREEE HEAE

Land Rental
use right Premises Total

TR HAgF mar

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T R AR®BT T ARBT R
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Ht=E (a)) (BfEE (b))

Cost BR AR
As at 1 January 2019, RZZE-NF—HA—8"

31 December 2019 and RZZ—NF

1 January 2020 +ZA=+—8kK

—E-FTF—H—H 33,435 = 33,435

Additions (note (c)) NE (FEE) — 289 289
As at 31 December 2020 R-ZE-ZEHF+-A=1+—H 33,435 289 33,724
Accumulated depreciation Rt E
As at 1 January 2019 RZZE—NFE—HF—H 4,190 — 4,190
Depreciation for the year FRE 724 — 724

As at 31 December 2019 and RZZE-AFE+-A=1+—8

1 January 2020 R_Z_TF-H—H
Depreciation for the year FRTE
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-EF+=A=+-—-H
Carrying value RREE
As at 31 December 2020 R-Z-FBF+-A=1+—-H
As at 31 December 2019 R-E-NF+-_A=1t—H 28,521 28,521
As at 1 January 2019, land use right are recognised as right-of-use RZFE-NF—A—B THERE
assets upon the application of IFRS 16 “Lease”. RERIBmEERE 1655 1HE |

AEERREREERE -
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15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

All of the Group’s land use rights are located in the PRC and each has a
lease period of 50 years.

As at 31 December 2020, land use rights with carrying value of
approximately RMB27,797,000 were secured for bank borrowings with
carrying amounts of approximately RMB120,000,000 (Note 33) (As at
31 December 2019, land use rights with carrying value of approximately
RMB28,521,000 were secured for bank borrowings with carrying amounts
of approximately RMB156,000,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group leases an office for
its operations. Lease contract is entered into for fixed term of 2 years. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from new leases entered,
excluding those classifies as investment properties.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had lease liabilities as

FARMBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-T-BFTCAST-ALEE

15. ERAEEE HEAEE)

B aE

(a)

AEBEMBELERAEACATE -
HEHRHYAS0F -

RZZE-_TE+-_A=+—R EE
EAH ARK27,797,0007T # 1 i
FRAECHERTEREREANDARE
120,000,000 7T & R 77 f& & (P 3£ 33)
(R=—F-hE+-_A=+—-0 &
EE AL AR 28,521,000 TH i
FRAECHERTERERERANDARE
156,000,000 JLHISRITEFR) ©

REBEEZT-TF+-A=+—H1
FE ASEHAERLRZAREE -
AURNHAEEHETHRA2F - 1
ErEORTGETIHBESEIRRE
B AEECEAEGANTEELER
BHP R FITHEAR o

THEERRMAFHEMELNE
REEE TERREARENR
EREE

RZFZFFER-ZF-NF+ZA

follows: =+—B FAEEMNHEEGGEWTAH
NG
. _—
Present value of i
the minimum lease
payments Total minimum lease
EEEENRNAE REHENREE
2020 2019 2020 2019
bt il T F Embl T F
RMB'000 RMB'000 IVIER0] RMB’000
e B ARWTT RSSRm R T S
Within 1 year 1R 147 150 —

Less: total future interest expenses

B RRF DB RAE

Present value of lease liabilities HEAGBENRE
Analysed by: D
Building BF

(3) —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. V¥ BEKRRKE

Construction
Buildings ~ Machinery Vehicles Others in progress Total

g7 HE L] HEf  HRIE @t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR

Cost HA
As at 1 January 2019 RZE2-n%-A-H 190,303 745,452 4,337 25,455 83,217 1,048,764
Additions HE = 305 181 505 4,308 5,299
Transfer upon completion TREEE 11,067 34,603 — - (45,670) —
Transfer to investment properties ERERENRENE (6,438) = = = = (6,438)
As at 31 December 2019 and RZE-NE+ZA
1 January 2020 St-HR-ZCEZE
—R-H 194,932 780,360 4,518 25,960 41,855 1,047,625
Additions RE 444 3,059 252 112 4,697 8,564
Disposal e - (2,969) - - - (2,969)
Exchange alignment g — — (42) (189) — (231)
As at 31 December 2020 i 23
+ZA=1+-H 195,376 780,450 4,728 25,883 46,552 1,052,989
Accumulated depreciation S RERAE
and impairment
As at 1 January 2019 RZZ-NE-A-H 54,508 395,049 2,767 17,443 = 469,767
Deprediation for the year FRTE 6,200 50,666 370 1,123 — 58,359
Transfer to investment properties ERERENENE (1,584) - - - - (1,584)
As at 31 December 2019 and RZE-NE+ZA
1 January 2020 =+-Ak
“B-FE-A-H 445,715 526,542
Deprediation for the year FRE 50,551 59,560
Disposal & (2,880) (2,880)
Exchange alignment B R — (217)
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-%F
t+=A=1+-H 493,386 583,005
Carrying value BREE
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-%fF
+ZA=1+-H 128,011 287,064 469,984
As at 31 December 2019 RZZ-NE
tZA=1-H 334,645 521,083
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z - 2F+_A=1+—HIL%E

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 16. Y% BERREE)

Certain idle machineries with the cost amounting to approximately RZBE—ZF8 MARNDAREK

RMB2,978,000 (2019: RMB2,978,000) were considered obsolete 2978000 L(ZE—NFE: ARK

before 2012, and an impairment provision of approximately 2,978,000 0) % T H B W R 15

RMB2,311,000 (2019: RMB2,311,000) had been made accordingly BEE URBEEENAAEBEREE

based on the assets’ fair value less costs to sell. FX AN AR e A9 A R %6 2,311,000 7T
(Z2—-N%: AK%2,311,0007T)
R ERRE -

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged to ME - BERRENECRESER

the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: KB FBEAT

-

Year ended 31 December

BEEt-A=t—-HLEE

2020 2019

—E-TE —E-NEF

RMB’000 RMB'000
oo R ARMTT
Cost of sales HERAR 55,191 54,272
Selling and distribution costs HERDIHER 64 62
Administrative expenses THER 4,305 4,025
As at 31 December 2020, the Group was in the process of applying RZE-TF+-_A=1+—H K&
for registration of the ownership certificates for certain of its building B ERt A BRE B A A K 283,000 7T
with an aggregate carrying value of approximately RMB283,000 (ZZ2—NF: AR¥303,0007T)H
(2019: RMB303,000). The executive Directors are of the opinion AETEFHEREMBREEERL &
that the Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy or use the TEERRAEERRGEZENEA

property. SHAERZIE

As at 31 December 2020, factory plants with carrying value of RZE-_TEF+-_A=+—H K
approximately RMB143,878,000 were secured for bank borrowings HERK AR ¥143,878,0007T #)
with carrying amounts of approximately RMB55,000,000, BMEERERTREEROARK
RMB65,000,000 and RMB50,000,000 (Notes 33(b), 33(d) and 33(f)) 55,000,0007T + A K #65,000,000
(As at 31 December 2019, factory plants with carrying value of 7T & A R #50,000,000 7T B9 8R 17 15
approximately RMB95,381,000 were secured for bank borrowings (B FE33(b), 33(d) & 33(f)) (R = Z
with carrying amounts of approximately RMB66,000,000 and —NEF+ZA=+—8 KEEAY
RMB100,000,000). AR # 95,381,000 7T K9 5 £ 4 1 #
TRREERAR 66,000,000 7T~ A

EE# 100,000,000 7LAVERITERR) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 16. Y% BERREHE)
The category of machinery includes production lines leased by the BENDEBEASERBELEHE
Group to two related parties (2019: two) under operating leases with RMAEKT(ZE-—NF: mE) D
the following net carrying amounts: MEEES  REFENT
o
. . )

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HLEFE

2020 2019
S B El ==
RMB’000 RMB'000
Nawd SEET

Cost DN 97,559 97,559
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January N—A—BE&E (60,639) (54,336)
Depreciation for the year FETE (6,303) (6,303)
Carrying value REE 36,920

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FRUKBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE_Z-ZF+-A=1-HILFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REMEHE
_ _—
=
Building
BF
RMB’000
AREBTR
Cost B
As at 1 January 2019 RZZE-NE—A—H —
Transfers from property, plant and equipment Mz BERBEHEE 4,854
At 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 R-ZB-NE+=-A=+—0 ZB-2F
and 31 December 2020 —B—BR=-E-BF+=-A=t—H 4,854
Accumulated depreciation REIE
As at 1 January 2019 RZE-NE—A—H —
Depreciation for the year FAME 175
As at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 RZZE-NEF+ZA=+—AHkK
—T_TF—-A—H
Depreciation for the year FRFE
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-EH+=ZA=+—-H
Carrying Value BREE
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-EHF+=ZA=+—-H
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF+-A=+—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

17.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The Group leases out various part of its factory under operating
leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 1 year (2019: 1 year).

The fair value of the Group's investment properties as at 31
December 2020 and 2019 has been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by an independent
qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group. The fair
value is determined using direct comparison method (2019: direct
comparison method) by reference to recent sales price of comparable
properties on a price per saleable square foot basis. As at 31
December 2020, the fair value of the Group's investment properties
amounted to approximately RMB7,580,000 (2019: RMB7,400,000).

Details of the Group's investment properties and information about
the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period are as

17.

REMEMEE)
AEBEREEHELEEREOTR
g Hek ARE - BO—ROF
AEVE(CE-NF15) -

AEBR-_Z_ZEFR_T—NE
TZA=+t—HNKREAUFHEND
ABENERERASEVERENSE
VEEREEMEMETHNHERSE
B ATEDNRAEELBE(ZE
—hEF  BEELRE) 2FALERY
EHOHEERRUBERRER
AEEVET R-_T-_TFE+_-A
=t+—H AEBREHEHEND
nEEHAEARET,580,000(=F
—NEF : AR%7,400,000) °

BEPR  AREREUFHEN
BREBAABEERNERIIRM

follows: DK
-—
2020 2019
it St 22 —FNF
Fair values Fair values
Carrying at Level 3 Carrying  at Level 3
amount hierarchy amount  hierarchy
E3E F3E
fREE AAEE RHEE QAEE
VRO [ R00 RMB'000 RMB’000
_________ ARETRE ARBTR PNk SN
Industrial building located in PRC IR FREMNTEEF 4,445 7,580 4,679 7,400
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18.

FARMBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TET-ASH-ALEE

BIVEE

Trade Distribution Information

Network System Total
2 A EER#A st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTRT AR¥TxR

151,100 209,473

103,389 120,952

Name
[
RMB'000
................................................................................... ARBTR ARMTR ARWTT ARETT
Cost B
As at 1 January 2019, R-Z-hE—-A—-H"
31 December 2019, “E-AFt+ZA=t+-H-
1 January 2020 and “E-2F-A-HBEK
31 December 2020 “E-2Ft+ZA=t-H 58,200
Accumulated amortisation ESg §
As at 1 January 2019 RZZ-NF—H—H 17,531
Charge for the year ENE 3,198

As at 31 December 2019

R_ZE-NFt-A=+t—RHK

and 1 January 2020 “E-EF—-F—H 20,729
Charge for the year F A% 3,198
As at 31 December 2020 RZZE-EF+Z-A=+—-H 23,927
Carrying amount REE
As at 31 December 2020 RZZE-EHE+-A=+-—-H 34,273
As at 31 December 2019 RZFE-NFE+=A=+—H 37,471

Amortisation of approximately RMB3,230,000 (2019: RMB3,230,000)
is included in the “Administrative expenses” and RMB18,888,000
(2019: RMB18,888,000) is included in “Selling and distribution costs”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

18,888 22,118

122,277 143,070
18,888 22,118

141,165 96 165,188

9,935 77

28,823 109 66,403

AR #3,230,000 (T
—NF: AR¥3,230,0007T): A
REBRRMITHRER] MARK
18,888,000 THIE (=T —\F : A
R 118,888,000 L )it AIRA R R
MIEERDHER] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

19. GOODWILL 19. EHE

As at 31 December
R+=B=+—H

2020 2019
—ECEE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBEFTT

Tiandi Green Ripare PAREL 721,139

The goodwill of approximately RMB721,139,000 was generated HWAR®ET21,139,000tE B E L
from acquisition of a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014. RZZ-MFRE T REEHNER
Tiandi Green was viewed as one CGU within the beer segment. The e RibGEWEATERES AN
recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in- —EREELEN REELBEMN
use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections AkEeBENERNEREENTEE

based on financial budgets approved by management covering a four- oS BEERTEREEENE
year period when optimum market share is expected to be reached. B BETHERBEEIRENS
Cash flows beyond the four-year period are extrapolated using the DR INFHROMEEZE AR
&
S

ERER EU iﬂ@iﬁﬁﬁmﬁim
T AfhEHE R EHA -

estimated growth rates.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2020 and —E_EFERZE-NFEREED
2019 are as follows: SFEMERNEERENT

2020 2019
i e 323 —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREF T

Annual revenue growth rate FIRAE R E ENLZBEAL7  -4.8%-11.7%
Long-term growth rate REERXK 3.0% 2.5%

Gross margin EME ALV  46.6%-46.7%
Pre-tax discount rate i AT BL IR & 15.7% 15.5%
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19.

20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Revenue growth rate and gross margin are based on past
performance and management 's expectations on market
development. The long term growth rates used is in line with the
long term inflation rate forecast in China. The pre-tax discount rate
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
specific risks relating to the CGU.

The Directors are of the view that there was no impairment of
goodwill as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

FARMBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z - 2F+_A=1+—HIL%E

19. BE#@)
Wkﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ
REBEHMSERNEHGE -
ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ§+A¢IE%LETﬁ
A —5 o FTAMMATRE IR E - R
SHENEBEENE I MBI RE
ReELEMEBRNETRR

EER “EERZFT-NEF
+-—R= + ﬁ% ﬁﬁﬁﬂ@

20. ERAESZZEARNKRE

=
2020 2019
—BTEF “T-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Balance at 1 January W—H—B## 698,283 1,574,938
Additions (note (a)) ANE (FFE@Q)) — 21,020
Share of result S (2,097) 14,319
Declaration of dividend (note (b)) TR B (M7 (b)) (45,489) (38,843)
Impairment loss recognised MRREEX — (873,151)
Balance at 31 December R+_A=+t—H#&# 650,697 698,283
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

ToREL A=t -HIERE

ﬁz—’\

20.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

In May 2019, Center Faithful Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company and third parties entered into an agreement to establish
Ltd ("Great Wall
5100"). Great Wall 5100 is a company specialising in the distribution of

a company named Great Wall 5100 Technology Co.,

water products. Based on the articles of association of Great Wall 5100,
the Group owns 40% of its equity interests and has right to participate
in operational decision-making process of Great Wall 5100. As such, the
Group treats the investment as an investment accounted for using the
equity method. As at 31 December 2019, total equity contribution to
Great Wall 5100 is approximately RMB20,000,000, including cash payment
of approximately RMB4,000,000 and other payables of approximately
RMB16,000,000.

On 6 September 2019, Tibet Glacier Mineral Water, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and third parties entered into an agreement to
establish a company named Mingzhu 5100. Mingzhu 5100 is a company
specialising in the distribution of water products. Based on the articles of
association of Mingzhu 5100, the Group owns 34% of its equity interests
and has right to participate in operational decision-making process of
Mingzhu 5100. As such, the Group treats the investment as an investment
accounted for using the equity method. As at 31 December 2019, total
equity contribution to Mingzhu 5100 is approximately RMB1,020,000.

In 2020, Highland Natural Water, an associate, declared cash dividends.
The Group recognised approximately RMB45,489,000 (2019: approximately
RMB38,843,000) cash dividends according to the percentage of the equity
interests held by the Group.
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20. EREREARNRE®)

P

(a)

RZT—NEFRR  ARRZENE
RAPHECEARDAEE=FFT
UHEKLESA-TEREERA
AREE-ZZ]) - RO —ZF
AB—REMHHEKERORT - RIE
ERA-—TTHRAER  AEEE
ERBAE-—ZTT40%NEZLEES
HEGERTBR Al 2EER
ZERERCRAEREARNRE - R

Z—NAFE+=ZA=+—8 HEH
I—ZTHENERHELERADA
R 20,000,000 7T * BIERSHIEL
AEHE 4,000,000 7T K E AR FER T A A
R¥ 16,000,000 7T °

—FAARB ARAZE
A A B P RUK ) B RKEE =T
I KL —EARBRL %
EXIPNSICHZE Sl Rl A
REKERDHEODE - BEAK
I-ZTHNRAER AKEEEHR
RE—ZT34% iz TEES2EE
RERFEBRE - At AEERZE
BRABAEDEARNRE -RZF
—ﬂ¢+_ﬂz+—ﬁ*ﬂ%%ﬁ—

TELMNERHELEROARK
1,020,0007E °

RZZZTF BEARRRRAK
SRAEBWE - REERBEAEEF
BREBSEERARSBREHARE
45,489,000 TC( —T—NE : YARE
38,843,0007T) °



20.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20.

(CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December

2020 and 2019.

FARMBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-T-BFTCAST-ALEE

EREREARNRE®)

TXEHIR-F
+=AZT-BAEEZBEAT -

[ 1
A
_H}r
i
|
A
|
=
_FH

Name of entity

Place of
business/country
of incorporation

EXME

% of
ownership
interest

and voting
rights held by
the Group
FEE
FrERRERER
RREBDH

Principal
activities

Tibet Highland Natural
Water Limited
= RARKER AT

Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage
Packaging Ltd.

AR BHAARMERBREETLF

Great Wall 5100 Technology
Co., Ltd.
A —SEREERAA

Guangzhou Mingzhu 5100
Drinking Water Co., Ltd.
EMNTB% A — ST AKER AR

The PRC

P

The PRC

A EX

The PRC

I

The PRC

I

25

40

34

Manufacturing and distribution
of water products

BUER D HKER

Manufacturing and distribution of
bottle preforms, caps and other
raw materials and consumables

BHER D HRERES b R H
KM

Distribution of water products

7 $H7K EE i

Distribution of water products

DHEKER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)

(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland EABELNANBERBE-SEX
Natural Water AKX
The tables below provide the summarised financial information of the TREINBRRARKZHBERE
Highland Natural Water shown in its financial statements prepared in 2 DRBZARIRBEERM GRS
accordance with IFRSs. HHRENTBEREAIREBE R
Summarised statement of financial position MBRRE AR
_ _—
—
As at 31 December
W+=BA=+—-H
2020 2019
it 53 —E-NE
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARBETT

Current assets RBEE 367,735 620,175
Non-current assets FERBEE 590,208 637,971
Current liabilities RBEE (544,212) (727,716)
Non-current liabilities ERFAaE (20,922) (23,435)
Equity attributable to owners ARAEA NEEER

of the Company 392,809 506,995
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland

Natural Water (continued)
Summarised statement of profit or loss

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-A=+-BILEE

20. EREREARNRE®)

EXBEQARAMBENBE-BRX
RK(E)
BERHE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2020 2019
SEBH -
RMB'000 RMB’000
Nkagd EETR

300,650 451,554

(11,823) 36,052
1,065 (3,746)

(10,758) 32,305

(10,758) 32,305

Revenue L'ON

(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETISBLAT (B51R),
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisRiEe,/(£R)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER) /7B

Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2HE(ER)WaesE
Dividend received for the year FABER RS

38,843

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of Highland Natural Water adjusted for differences in
accounting policies between the Group and Highland Natural Water.

N EBEBRBREERRRAKEBER
RPMENNFTE  CRAKEES
RRAKZEGHARENERELT

%5510
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)

(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland EABELNANBERBE-SEX
Natural Water (continued) RK(E)
Reconciliation of summarised financial information BBERBMENHE
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented BRENMBEMBERG S B ®RE
to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Highland Natural NERNAEBRNSRAAKERD
Water recognised in the consolidated financial statements: AREI(E A ¥ B -
-—
As at 31 December
W+=BA=+—-H
2020 2019
- 33 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
_ _ _ AR®T R ARETT
Opening net assets as at 1 January R—A—BHFENEEE 506,995 563,005
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER),/ 7B (10,758) 32,305
Declared of dividends TR (103,428) (88,315)
Closing net assets ERFEE 392,809 506,995
Elimination of unrealised profit
from intra-group sales ARERABHEFN BEHRE (499) (562)
Adjusted total net assets HBENAFEE 392,310 506,433
Interest in the associate REE R AR 161,134 211,347
Goodwill S 280,256 280,256
Carrying value ARE(E 441,390 491,603
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued)
Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in
Highland Natural Water. The recoverable amount of the investment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is higher than
fair value less disposal costs. Management assessed the recoverable
amount and recognised no impairment loss during the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: approximately RMB873,151,000). The
main factors that led to the impairment during the year ended 31
December 2019 was due to the continuous weakness of market
performance in 2020.

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering an eight-
year period when optimum market share is expected to be reached.
Cash flows beyond the eight-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rate.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2020 and
2019 are as follows:

20.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-B=1+-HI%FE

EREREARNRE®)

EABENAMEERBE-SREX
RK(E)

MEENMENEERZ)
EEEBHNERAAKLEETH
B - &ﬁmTW@ >R YR NME
REBENTE (FRAREBREE
W$)%E°¢E%ﬁﬁﬂ@%ﬁ
#HoRBE-_E-_SFE+_A=1+—
BLEEFETEBRRAERL (=
E—RE'@AE%8B151MO
) cBHEE_T-NFT+ZA
“t+-HESERENTFERZRZ
SoTFMGRAFERY -

ZENEERATERHEEEREE
ETHERARAEEINREMSMNEN
NFHENTBRE L RARERE
R - BRNFHRNEERENE
AMEHEREHA -

—E_RER-F-NFERAEEN
A8 %@%WEKF“WT

-~
2020 2019
—z-—z; LI

Annual revenue growth rate FIFAERR
Long-term growth rate REJIE R &
Gross margin EF=
Pre-tax discount rate AT AL IR &

3.0%-42.4% 8.0%-9.1%
3.0% 2.5%
SUNRIELY L/ 55.7%-55.8%
12.5% 12.4%

Revenue growth rate and gross margin are based on past
performance and management’s expectations on market
development. The long term growth rates used is in line with the
long term inflation rate forecast in China. The discount rate used is
pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the business.

WARBRRREMNERDREBERR
LEBBHMSERNBEDE -
BORHERZETENRABRE
FR— B - AR R ABATRER
X RBREXBHBENSERR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)

(CONTINUED)
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material BRIFERKENTANGEER
— —
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+t—HLEE
2020 2019
—E-TE —T-NEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
. rener RGeS
The Group's share of profit/(loss) REEELGEF,(1BX) 2,627 (1,840)

The Group's share of other comprehensive ~ A%k EEEE 2 WG
income

The Group's share of total comprehensive A& EE2E A%

income (1,840)
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEERZEHE N AR
Group's interests in these associates HAREERRE 209,307 206,680
21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS LIABILITIES 21. BEBEEE BLEHEAE
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as EXRBEERELERBEENS T
follows: LU
_ o
=
As at 31 December
W+=A=+—-H
2020 2019
— v —= qi :’;&_j_[li
RMB’000 RMB'000
S ARBTT AT
Deferred tax assets ELREEE 4,277 9,511
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEeE (9,695)
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December
2020 were not offset because the deferred tax assets and liabilities
related to income taxes were levied by different taxation authorities.
The movement of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is
as follows:

21.

HE-R-REF-_A=t-

HILFE

EERBEE BERBREER)

RZZE_FTF+-_A=1+—8"

ETE

MBEEERBBEHEHIREE - JHA
REZEZECREEERABEAHEN
PSR T BB IS B B -
RERBEEERBENEHNOT -

FRIE

Net Other
impairment Deferred Withholding  temporary
losses income tax  differences Total
Htt
HEBEXFE B W BB  ERUEESR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
...................................................................... AE#}:FE }\E#$i AEﬁé’t:Fi AEﬁ%:FJTE AEM?E
Deferred tax assets EEREEE
As at 1 January 2019 “Z-NE—R—H 347 1,776 = 715 2,838
Credited/(charged) to RMEEEL/GtA)
profit or loss (Note 10) (BEE10) 7,006 (46) — (287) 6,673
As at 31 December 2019 and RZE-NF+ZA
1 January 2020 =+t-Bk
“E-FF-HF—H 7,353 1,730 = 428 9,511
Charged to profit or loss (Note 10) BT A (M 10) (5,163) (63) — (8) (5,234)
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-%F
t=A=+-A 2,190 1,667 — 420 4,277
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE
As at 1 January 2019 RZZ-NE—A—-H — — (2,500) (12,755) (15,255)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10)  REZE (M 10) — — 2,500 3,060 5,560
As at 31 December 2019 and RZZE-NF+ZA
1 January 2020 =+—-Ak
“E-FTF-H—H = = = (9,695) (9,695)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) PERERT (HF10) — — — 2,324 2,324
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-%F
t=-A=t+-AH — — — (7,371) (7,371)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

@2—’\

21.

TEETAST-ALER

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2020, certain subsidiaries’ future taxable income
would not be available against which their temporary losses could be
utilised and also the losses of those subsidiaries would not be offset
by the taxable income of other subsidiaries within the Group, as there
is no legally enforceable right to do so. As such, the Group did not
recognise deferred tax assets of approximately RMB22,383,000 (2019:
RMB10,985,000) in respect of losses amounting to approximately
RMB89,531,000 (2019: RMB43,955,000) that can be carried forward
against future taxable income. As at 31 December 2020, tax losses
of approximately RMB89,531,000 (2019: RMB43,955,000) will expire
after five year of assessment on the following dates to offset the
future taxable income:

21.

EEBEEE EEBEEEE)
R-F_FTF+-_A=1+—-HB HT
PR B 7 A O R R R SR A U 7S A R
HERMUER MASHBRRNE
BARAAEEE MK E QR ER

BBALE  RRLTEBEEREN
BAA BB RITEN - RAKRELE

FRATEEARARERBTIMANBBROA
R #89,531,000L(Z T —LF: A
R #43,955,0000 ) BREERBE
EHAR22383,000(ZZF— N
£ AR®10,9850007) c R-F
“EE+ A=+ BEBEAKRER
UL A 4 A R ¥ 89,531,000 t(= %
—NF : AR#¥43,955,0007T) K
EEBERARIHFEERNTIH
HfEm

o

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

Expiring in RATEE &R
- 2021 ——T=—%
-2022 ——T-CF
-2023 —-—T-=%F
- 2024 —Z—ZTZmF
- 2025 —-—ZT-hHF

2020 2019
- “TNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBEFIT
14,625

15,644

7,544

6,142

45,576 —

43,955

Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB130,395,000 (2019:
RMB134,057,000) had not been recognised for the withholding tax
that would be payable on the distributable retained profits amounting
to approximately RMB1,867,890,000 (2019: RMB1,841,140,000)
of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries. The Group has no intention to
distribute these retained earnings out from the PRC subsidiaries in
the foreseeable future.
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REE A 4 A K #1,867,890,000 7T
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22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z - 2F+_A=1+—HIL%E

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 22. URAREBEFEEESEHTAREM
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2EHUBENERHEE
—

Year ended 31 December

BEE+t-A=t-HLEE

Balance at 1 January

Disposal of investment in CRE (note (a))
Net loss recognised upon disposal

Fair value changes

Balance at 31 December (note (b))

notes:

(@)  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of the
investment in CRE, at a consideration of approximately RMB46,400,000,
which was also the fair value as at the date of disposal as the investment

2020 2019
—w—wqi :g_ﬂﬁz
RMB’000 RMB’000
. ARBTT AR
R—B—BH&E 231,881 231,881
HERFE BN E (M5 (a) (46,400) —
HERBRANFER (11,600) —
NAEEEH 601 —
R+=ZB=+—-RA10&& (b))
(133
@ REE-Z-_TF+-_A=+-BIt

FEHE AEEUAREEDARE
46,400,000 TC(MMABZIEERHE B H

no longer meets the investment objective of the Group after group HRABE)HERPHRENEE

restructuring carried out by the investee. A cumulative loss on disposal of

T BRAERECEETEMR  ZR

approximately RMB11,600,000 has been transferred from other reserves to ETBREASERENEN - ZH

retained earnings.

(b)  The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group's equity interest (b)
in a private entity established in the PRC. The directors have elected to
designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they
believe that the investment is held for long-term.

EMAFHELHARE 11,600,0007T
EEEMREBEEEZB TR -

L ETRARERRAKRERT
BRUALABRNBEAERZ EF
BERELRENER/URABE

BAARDH AR LSS KEORE
BE - BALRRARRERESS
A -

ARHKERARAF | F& 2020




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. EWRESGR

As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—-H

2020 2019

= —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEFT

Trade receivables due from third parties BUWE=FESHK 342,509 312,652
Loan receivables due from W E= E%%’K(W )
a third party (note) 24,088
342,509 336,740
Less: allowance for ECL (Note 5.1(b)) B EEMEE B RRE (MEE5.1() (59,235) (77,749)
283,274 258,991
As at 1 January 2019, trade receivables from contracts with RZE-NEF-—HA—H XBE
customers amounted to approximately RMB268,564,000. FPEHNNEREZIRORARYE
268,564,000 7T °
note: As at 31 December 2019, the balance included a loan to a third Mzt RZZ—NFF+ZA=+—1  %#&sH
party amounting to approximately HKD26,890,000 (equivalent to BE-ERTE=71E7426,890,000
RMB24,088,000), which represented lending principal of approximately (BB E AR 24,088,0007T) -
HKD17,000,000 (equivalent to RMB15,229,000) and accrued interest of H e 3R £ 4917,000,000 7% JT(48
approximately HKD9,890,000 (equivalent to RMB8,859,000). The loan was W AR ¥15,229,0007T ) & & 5t F
at a fixed interest rate at 15% per annum and secured by the borrower’s £ #19,890,000% T(HHE N AR
property located in Beijing. The loan was fully settled during the year ended 8,859,0007T ) © & f& K BV [E] T F A &
31 December 2020. B15% @ WA A ML R EEE

o ZERERBE_Z_ZF+=A
=T —BIEFERAULE -
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23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group's trade receivables
due from third parties were all denominated in RMB and the Group's
loan receivables due from a third party were all denominated in HKD.
The credit period is generally 90 to 180 days. The aging analysis of
trade receivables based on invoice dates is as follows:

23.

FARMBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z - 2F+_A=1+—HIL%E

EWREZRE)

RZE
:+i

LA

F%

ZEFRZZE-NEFETZRA
B AEERKE=FEIHX
ARBGHEMASBEREKE=F
BB TLEE - EEHAT R0

F180Kk - BBEZREZEAHI D 2 ER

BZRNERROWOT
.-
As at 31 December
R+=HA=+—8H
2020 2019
—7—?$ :g_hﬁ
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARBETT

Within 6 months 618 AR

Over 6 months but within 1 year HiBeEAETERF
Over 1 year but within 2 years BB FETEB2F
Over 2 years B2EF

For the trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products, the Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure the ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. For
the trade receivables arising from loans to third parties, the Group
uses three categories which reflect their credit risk and how the
loan loss allowance is determined for each of those categories. This
resulted in the recognition of loss allowance for trade receivables
amounting to approximately RMB59,235,000 (2019: RMB77,749,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Information about the impairment assessment of trade receivables
and the Group's exposure to credit risk can be found in Note 5.1(b).

8

55,243 161,775
65,205 75,426
145,205 67,027
76,856 32,512

336,740

K&

BEABERMBEREENFE IR
EESEBEENNERE

KBEAEKNEBERHEELN
FEH&ZT FOBRHMEREER - XA

= E3R FEE’]FH&Z%% g

Eﬁﬂ 828 51 e Bk L 4= 3 LR A I
mEEEE = ERAME; ME?E%%

e
1

BE_T-_ZTF+-_HA=1+—H
E’.Eﬁwﬂf%g% m%

KEHEYN B ARES9,235000L(=
T—NE: AR¥77,749,0007T) °

A
S

W E ZFRE G R AEEIE
R B R FNHIES.1(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

24. PREPAYMENTS 24. FAFE

As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—-H

2020 2019
S B =
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET7 [N

Prepayments for purchase of raw BERMK - REURDE
materials, services and properties, BB M ek TR KB
plant and equipment 121,946
Less: Non-current portion - prepayment o EREES —BEWE
for purchase of properties, S )
plant and equipment (note) T FRIE () (6,518)
Current portion REEH D 115,428
note: These balances represent prepayments made for the purchase of properties, M : ZE5ERERBENE  BERRXE
plant and equipment, the ownership of which has not been obtained at (KA RRERERER)MBMH
year end. IR o
The carrying amounts of current and non-current prepayments are nERIFRBDENFENRTEAT
denominated in the following currencies: FIEHEEHE
_ _—
"
As at 31 December
W+=A=+—H
2020 2019
—BEF —E-NF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBETIT
- RMB — AR 85,278 119,420
- HKD —BT 393 496
- Usb —XT 74 —
- EUR —BT = 2,030

121,946
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE_Z-ZF+-A=1-HILFE

25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST 25. DESBRAGHENEMNESREE
—_—

-

As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—-H

2020 2019
S B =
RMB‘000 RMB’000
ARET7 [N

Amounts due from third parties (note((a)) JE W5 = 5 3R IE (T 3E (a)) 1,266,516 612,710
Amounts due from associates e ekt & A B R IE (T3 (b))

(note((b)) (Note 45(b)) (Pfd5E 45(b)) 34,445 189,800
Government grant receivable I8 FFF #68 B MK — 24,320
Deposits e 246 213
Others (note((c)) H (M 3E () 70,731 6,861

1,371,938 833,904
Less: allowance for ECL (Note 5.1(b)) W B EEEERE(FHEES.1(b) (4,670) (2,168)

1,367,268 831,736
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

25.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

The balances mainly include the following items:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2019, the loans to third party companies with
outstanding principal amounting to approximately RMB579,286,000
and accrued interest of approximately RMB22,912,000, which bore
an annual interest rate of 10%. Based on the contractual terms,
the loans will be repaid before 31 December 2020. Amounting
to approximately RMB226,631,000 was pledged by Shannan
Yalaxiangbu's equity interests and secured by Fudi Packaging's
machinery and amounting to approximately RMB375,567,000 was
pledged by Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interest.

As at 31 December 2020, the loans to third party companies
with outstanding principal amounting to approximately
RMB1,260,616,000, which bore an annual interest rate of 10%.
Based on the contractual terms, the loans will be repaid before 31
December 2021. The Group does not hold any collateral over the
loans.

As at 31 December 2020, Amount due from a third party of
approximately RMB5,836,000 (2019: RMB5,836,000) mainly
represents the prepayment made for purchase of equipment, which
was transferred to other financial assets at amortised cost due to the
rescission of contracts.
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25.

DBSREATENEMEREE

(&)
P

(a)

BHTIEREIATIER

(i

(i)

(iii)

RZE-NAF+ZA=+—
B - BEFE=HRAX
BEASCSHEONABARE
579,286,000 70 7 B X I JE &+
A B AR 22,912,000
FREE10% - BES DK
R RERBR T -ZF
+T-A=t+—HHEE - &8
#4) N R % 226,631,000 7T /& LU
MR EMRED R R ARG
B ZBEBERT - SBHOA
[ # 375,567,000 7C i LU 7 7
RAMBRIEL R o

RZZE_ZTF+ZA=+—
B BRETZHEE=FAA
AEBLALSBEHNAARE
1,260,616,000t(= T — /1
F ARBZLIZER &
FEE10% - BIEA LK
ZERBN_ZT-_—F+_A
=+—BAEE  AEELK
RZEERFEEAKRR o

RZTZZTF+=_R=+—
B BER—ME=FRAIKNK
BH ANRES,836,000L(=F
—NF: AR®5,836,0007T)
TERARERBEMENER
B SR BEREGARKREER
EEHKATENEMER
BE -



25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(b)

As at 31 December 2020, included in the balance was a loan to Fudi
Packaging, with principal amount of approximately RMB34,445,000, which
bore an annual interest rate of 10% and was unsecured. Based on the
contractual terms, the loan will be repaid before 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2019, the balance represented a loan to Highland
Natural Water, with principal amount of approximately RMB189,800,000,
which bore an annual interest rate of 10% (2019: 10%) and was unsecured.
Based on the contractual terms, the loan will be repaid before 30 June

2020. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the loan was repaid.

As at 31 December 2020, the balance mainly included the dividend
receivables from Highland Natural Water of approximately RMB49,005,000
(2019: RMB3,516,000), other tax recoverable of approximately
RMB7,766,000 (2019: RMB46,000) and advance to staffs of approximately
RMB1,676,000 (2019: RMB605,000).

Information about the impairment assessment of other financial

assets at amortised cost and the Group’s exposure to credit risk can
be found in Note 5.1(b).

25.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-FF+-F-+-ALEFE

DR ATt BENHtEREE
(&)
MIEE - ()

b)) RETFEHLELEASEBHAARE
34,445,0007T 2 B R EH At F
MERBI%NBEAEER - BEESH
EH ZEFXEN-_Z-_—F+-A
—+—HAEE -

R-E—NE+-A=+—0 #&
ERMIESRAAKZER  £~2d
B4 A AR 189,800,000 * F Fl
EHE10%(ZE—NF 10%) BA
BIHE - REGHER  ZEFTER
—E-TEXNA=THEEE-BE
“E-TFE+-A=t+-BILtEEH
M ZERCHEE -

(© RZEZTF+ZA=+—80'#&
#®EZBIELH AK49,0050007T
ZEBRERAAKBE(ZT—N
£ ANR#35160007T) HAR
#7,766,000 T A] B FHIE(ZF — 1
F ANRA46,0007 ) RO AR
1,676,000t 2 BN EIT B R(ZF
—NF : AR¥605,0007T) °

BRNERK A ENEMEREE
KR ER & R ARBEERRAER
BRI 1(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED) 25. LESEATTENHEMESREE
(&)
The carrying amounts of other financial assets at amortised cost are BB R A ENEMLREENE
denominated in the following currencies: EEN T EMHE -
- D

As at 31 December
R+=ZB=+—H

2020 2019
S B =
RMB‘000 RMB'000
LSS ARET

- RMB - AR 1,360,860 825,396
- EUR — BT 5,836 5,836
- HKD —BTT 572 494
- Usb %7t — 10
1,367,268 831,736
26. INVENTORIES 26. BE . A
—
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2020 2019
ZE-EF “E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARBETT

Raw materials R 42,119 33,445
Finished goods - at cost R — AR 13,988 16,411
Work in progress RS 4,159 2,860
52,716
The cost of inventories which was recognised as an expense HE-_T-_TF+-_A=+—HItHE
and was included in “cost of sales” amounted to approximately B m2ABRAVIAMSERAE N
RMB174,482,000 (2019: RMB299,310,000) for the year ended 31 e AL A ARE174,482,000 7
December 2020. (ZZ—h%: AR¥299,310,000

L) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-ZF+-A=1-HILFE

27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 27. UARBEAEEHSBHTIARSE
NeEmEE

_ o

=

2020 2019
—z-z+ [T

RMB'000 RMB'000

SO ARBTT NI
Balance at 1 January RN—A—BH&s 197,147 190,795
Additions in structured financial products HETEMNERAE 180,000 520,000

Expiration of embedded derivative asset BARITEEE DB (FIEE8)

(Note 8) (4,319)
(Disposal of)/investment in Shanghai (RE)/%E LS8 ERME)

MKT (note) (5,616) 5,000
Net gains recognised upon disposal (Note 8)  HERERM K FEE (H:E8) 12,482 10,198
Fair value changes (Note 8) AABEEES(HES) 811 630
Disposal in structured financial products EEMEVEMLE (192,496) (525,157)
Balance at 31 December RT=B=+t—RW&H 192,328 197,147
Less: non-current portion B IERBE D (11,517) (16,517)

Current portion

REWD

180,811 180,630
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 27. URAREBEFEEESHTARR

(CONTINUED) MERMEEZ)

note: In May 2019, Zhuhai Guangyuan Huijin Equity Investment Fund (Limited M : ZEZT—AFRA ARARKBAA
Partnership), a subsidiary of the Company, acquired 20% of the equity KEtEESREREES(BRA
interests of Shanghai MKT. Shanghai MKT is a company specialising in BN EEEEREN20%EE - L
programme development and intelligence property agency. As at 31 BEERR—REMNREEAMER
December 2019, total investment in Shanghai MKT is approximately HMSEERENDRR - RZE—hF
RMBS5,000,000, which was accounted as FVTPL by the Group. During the +tZRA=+—8 HEeEEENE
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of the investment in wEL A ARES5,000,0007T @ NEE
Shanghai MKT at a consideration of approximately RMB5,616,000 and a EEERBUNAREENEBLEEE
gain of approximately RMB616,000 was recognised in the consolidated ABRHEREEAKR HBHE-ZT=
statement of profit or loss. ZFEFZA=ZT—HEFEHR A

SENUREHARES,616,000 THE
REBBREFHNRE  KEHARE
616,000 LR & Bk P HER

All financial asset at FVTPL are denominated in RMB as at 31 RZE-TF+-_A=+—HK=Z
December 2020 and 31 December 2019. —NEF+ZA=+—H ' U2 nEE
STEREEH ABENESREES
BAAREEHE -
Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining BHETAABEMANAERRR
fair value is provided in Note 5.3. B BRI MIEES.3
28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28. BHeRkREZEY
. J"'L
As at 31 December _
Wt+t=H=+—8~
2020 2019
—7—7q£ :%é—j’]_,ﬂi
RMB’000 RMB'000
e ESSL & SRR
Cash on hand FERE 596
Cash at bank RITFR 452,675
Restricted bank deposits XRERITIER 62,239
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FARMBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-T-BFTCAST-ALEE

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) BERBLEEWE)
) —_—
As at 31 December -
R+=B=+—-H
2020 2019
i - F
RMB’000 RMB’000

Denominated in: FHEE
- RMB — AR
- UsD —%7T

— HKD — BT

- Others —HAh

ARBTR ARBETT

63,403 513,971
1,018 1,017
312 450
19 72

515,510

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's cash and cash
equivalents amounting to approximately RMB63,834,000 (2019:
RMB514,208,000) were held in the financial institutions located
in the mainland of PRC. The remaining balances of approximately
RMB408,000 (2019: RMB706,000) were held in major financial
institutions located in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies
and the remittance of the foreign currencies out of the mainland of
PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

The Group earns interests on cash at bank at floating bank deposit
rates, which range from 0.001% to 1.35% per annum for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: range from 0.01% to 1.35% per
annum).

As at 31 December 2020, bank deposits of approximately
RMB50,268,000 (2019: RMB62,239,000) are restricted mainly
as guarantee for payments of bank acceptances and imported
equipment.

R-FB-_TE+-F=+—-H XK
SENHSRBRSEENHARKE
63,834,000C(— T —hE: AR
514,208,000 7T ) (R £ H B A BE 6 &
HWHERE - EH O AKK408,000T
(ZZ—N%F: AR%706,0007T)H
ERBERTHENEZSRERERSS -

MARBEHENSSRALARINEAR
BOMNELRBAEEL - AETHE
B R EERESMNES IR RIS ARG -

AEBRFHRITERFIERRITE
FHEAME BE-_T-_ZF+_-F8
S+ —HLEFE - BBAFRENT
0.001% E135% (ZE—NF : FF
ENTF0.01%E1.35%) °

RZZBE-ZEF+-A=+—0 %8
#8177 5 4 A K #50,268,000 T
(ZZ—NnF: AR¥62,239,0007T)
TEEARRITALEEREOREN
IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-A=t+-HILFE

29. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

29. ENESRREAERE

, _—
)
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—-H
2020 2019
—E_EF =y
RMB‘000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Trade payables ENE S 82,360 64,202
Notes payables ANES 241,790 259,679
324,150 323,881

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the aging analysis of trade

payables based on invoice dates is as follows:

RZBE-_EFR_-_ZT—NLF+=A
—t+—H ERNBEZEAHNENES

FREREBE DT ¢
-~
=
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2020 2019
—E-FH “Z-nF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
Within 3 months 3EAR 38,808 34,180
Over 3 months but within 6 months B3 EAETBE6EA 1,671 13,147
Over 6 months but within 1 year BB 6 8 A BN EE1F 19,689 9,528
Over 1 year but within 2 years BB EENBBE2F 14,885 3,136
Over 2 years HBid2F 7,307 4,211
64,202
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29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group's trade payables were
all denominated in RMB and were not interest bearing.

The credit period on trade payables are generally within 90 days.

As at 31 December 2020, the bank acceptance notes amounting to
approximately RMB241,790,000 was guaranteed by bank deposits of
approximately RMB48,543,000.

As at 31 December 2019, the bank acceptance notes amounting to
188,663,000 was guaranteed by the Company and a subsidiary of the
Company. The bank acceptance notes amounting to approximately
RMB71,016,000 was guaranteed by the Company and a third party,
and was pledged by 7% of an associate’s equity interests.

According to the agreement of bank acceptance notes, maturity dates
of notes payables are based on the following schedule: approximately
RMB68,790,000, RMB110,500,000 and RMB62,500,000 on
18 January 2021, 1 March 2021 and 16 November 2021
(2019: RMB68,790,000, RMB110,577,000, RMB9,296,000 and
RMB71,016,000 on 18 January 2020, 29 February 2020, 10
April 2020 and 25 December 2020), respectively. The amount of
approximately RMB179,290,000 (2019: 179,367,000) was repaid
subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

All bills issued by the Group are with a maturity period of less than
12 months.

29.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-_A=t+-HIFE

ENEZRREAREE)
RZEZZTFR=ZT-NF+ZA
=+—H AEBEHNEFESTHEU
AREFEBL TS °

BNEZRNESEHARTE THBR0
9&0

RZZE-ZTE+-A=+—8"  4HA
FR % 241,790,000 7T B 3R 17 & 5 [E &
LASRTTTE 3040 A R 48,543,000 T 1E
HH o

RZZE-hE+-A=+—0"' AR
188,663,000 7T /) iR 177 5 [E 3 /A
ARE RADE— KB R RRER
& M AR¥T71,016,000 7T B IR 17 %
REZHARARE=-FRERE
DA N R 7% RS EL o

BREBERTEALEZHZ  BENREZ
HEMBERTIGHE : R —
E—A+NAB - —E-—F=ZF—
BRZFT=Z—F+—-—HA+ X BIH
) 3IE 5 Bl 4 & A K %68,790,000
T AR #110,500,0007T & A B
#62,500,000C(ZF—fLFE: R
Z_TF-A+/N\B  ZT_ZF
“—AZthB ZZE-ZEFWA+
B2 -+ -_A-+HHBS
Al & AR #68,790,0007C « A R ¥
110,577,0007C + A% 9,296,000 7T
& ANER#71,016,00070) ° AEH A
R#179,290,000 L(ZE—1F : A
R # 179,367,000 7T ) H) 5B 7 3 4
RigfEE -

ASEMBETHAEZREOHMR BB
12184 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

30. DEFERRED REVENUE 30. EZEWA
7
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—-H
2020 2019
—E_EF “T-nF
RMB'000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARBETT

Non-current ERB

Government grant BT ED 16,142 18,517

Current wE

Government grant BB 2,373

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group's deferred revenue RZEBE-EBFR-_Z—-NF+=A

was all denominated in RMB. =+—B  RAEERETHA R
AREGHE -

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water and Tiandi Green, the indirectly wholly ARRIREE BN B R B ERE ) &

subsidiaries of the Company were granted and received subsidies FOK R R 4% 39 1 3 U B B 3

from the local government to compensate its efforts to increase its R ERBERFRNBERER

production capacity in the past years. i T E)FEBN o

During the year ended 31 December 2020, amount of approximately BE-_Z_ZH+-_A=+—HL#F

RMB2,374,000 was credited to consolidated statement of profit or EHIR - AR 2,374,00070(=F

loss (2019: RMB2,425,000) (Note 8). —NE : AR¥2,4250007T)Riza

BaRk e (MEe) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE_Z-ZF+-A=1-HILFE

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. AEAE
-1
As at 31 December
R+=HA=+—8
2020 2019
il = s
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Prepaid cards SELNRN 964 861

Advance from customers HWEFE 15,890 28,548
29,409

As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to approximately RZE-NF—A—B 6RAAEH

RMB21,225,000. RARY 21,225,000

Contract liabilities arise from the prepaid cards and advance payments ERBEREENRERHAREER

made by customers while the goods are yet to be provided. mEEE PR TENRE -

The prepaid cards and advance from customers of the Group are BNRERAREBKE P FIEHTA

non-refundable. R ©

BEHEKERBERLAT | £ 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 31. BEAE#E)
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRIITHREERRAFREENS
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to RAEFMrEsE  UERNBTHE
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods. ERITHEEBASEA WS

Advance

Prepaid from

cards customers
A+ HEWEFRE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BEZ-_F-_FHF+-HA=+-H
LFE
Revenue recognised that was included FHTAGRABREHRNEERRA
in the contract liability balance
at the beginning of the year

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-E-NF+=A=+-H

HFE
Revenue recognised that was included FH A G RBEEARNEBERBA
in the contract liability balance
at the beginning of the year 14,697 6,528
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group's contract liabilities RZZE_FTFR=_ZF-NF+=FA
were all denominated in RMB. =t—B AEEMNAREEHUA

R¥EHE -
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32. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FARMBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-T-BFTCAST-ALEE

32. BREAREMENR

As at 31 December

Salary and welfare payables
Payables for value added tax and other taxes
Accrued operating expenses
Payables for purchase of equipment
Professional service fee payable
Amounts payable for equity
investment in associates
Amounts received from a third party
Deposits from customers
Borrowings from third parties (note)
Others

FERTEN 2 R @ A
FESUIEER M AMTHIEA
BREEEN
BERBRNTUR
BNEXRGRE

FER B R RS E 2 508

(= €l 0p R
BFEER
F=ER (M)
Hit

Less: Non-current portion — other payables
for equity investment in an associate

R IEREE D — RN
B DB IRE 2 FUR

Current portion

REBEBD

Rt=A=t+-7
2020 2019
SE8H =
RMB'000 RMB'000
ArnTr NS
17,878 16,679
4,241 10,896
10,161 9,125
9,105 13,798
4,690 10,565
16,000 16,000
49,044 49,044
392 1,298
301,825 290,309
10,441 8,423
423,777 426,137
(16,000) (16,000)

410,137
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

32. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

note: The balances include the following items: Bfax

32. RREAREMENRE)
EHBEUTIER -

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

The loan from a third party company with outstanding principal amounting
to approximately RMB1,683,000 (2019: RMB1,792,000) and accrued interest
of RMB160,000 (2019:RMB62,000). The loan bore an annual interest at 6%
and is repayable on 2 December 2021.

The loan from a third party company with outstanding principal amounting
to approximately RMB170,174,000 (2019: RMB181,134,000) and accrued
interest of approximately RMB19,852,000 (2019: RMB6,297,000). The loan,
which was mainly used for the repayment of convertible bonds, bore an
annual interest at 7% and is repayable 31 December 2020. The lending
company is ultimately held by Mr. Wang Peter Jian's spouse, and Mr. Wang
Peter Jian is the substantial shareholder of the Company. The loan was fully
repaid as at the date of this report.

The loan from a third party company with outstanding principal amounting
to approximately RMB2,104,000 (2019: RMB2,240,000) and accrued
interest of approximately RMB182,000 (2019: RMB58,000). The loan bore
an annual interest at 6% are repayable on 31 December 2020. The lending
company is ultimately held by Mr. Wang Peter Jian's spouse and Mr. Wang
Peter Jian is the substantial shareholder of the Company. The loan was fully
repaid as at the date of this report.

The loan from a third party company with outstanding principal amounting
to approximately RMB83,992,000 (2019:RMB89,401,000) and accrued
interest of approximately RMB8,682,000 (2019: RMB2,966,000). The loan,
which was mainly used for the repayment of converti ble bonds, bore an
annual interest at 7% and is repayable on 31 December 2020. The lending
company is ultimately held by Mr. Wang Peter Jian. The loan was fully
repaid as at the date of this report.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

RE-BE=ZFRATAKREEALLE
BHARY,683,0000T (ZE—11
£ AR®1,792,0007T) 2EFR K E
SR BARKE160,000T (ZZ—A
£ AR#62,000T)  ZEHREF
EE6%RER_E-_—F+=-A=H

o

+

E
ey

E-—RAE=HRAAEERASSHED
BARE170,174,000T (ZF—1
F: AR#¥181,134,000T) 2 &
RRERFEHARE19,852,000
T (ZZ—NF: AR¥%6,297,000
) c HEREIEARNEETERRE
5 ENRAETRRER-_T_TF
+ZA=+—REE - ZEXRDAH
ITERENEBSREREE  TBALE
RADAMNEERTR - HEARSE A
0 EREREEE -

KRE-—MEZHARARREELAESE
HEANRE2.104,000T (ZZ—AH,
F o AR¥2,240,000T) 2ERR
EAFISHARE182,000T (=ZF
—NE : AR¥S58,0007T) ° ZERX
FHERBRANR-Z=_ZF+=A
=+ —BEE - ZERARNBTEE
ENRBRERFE  TBRELERAR
BAMTERRE - BEAREAS -

FEE2REE -

E—BEZARAKEBEASSEN
AANR#83,992,000T (=

F: ARE¥89,401,0007T) 2 &R
JEEHF B AR 8,682,000 (=
—NF : AR¥2,966,00070) ° %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z - 2F+_A=1+—HIL%E

32. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 32. EREARHMEMNRE)

—  The loan from a third party company with outstanding principal amounting E-ME=ZALRAIREERESHE
to approximately RMB1,262,000 (2019:nil) and accrued interest of NAENRE,262,000T (ZE—AH
approximately RMB69,000 (2019:nil). The loan bore an annual interest at FE) CERREFFEOARE
6% and is repayable on 4 February 2021. The lending company is ultimately 69,0007t (ZF—NF : &) - %E
held by Mr. Wang Peter Jian. The loan was fully repaid as at the date of this REFER BN RBEN=ZE=—F=H
report. TAEE - EZQTJX’D\TEEEEHEEEE*

BEEAR - HERERESHE  BRE
BERE -

—  The loans from Mr. Wang Peter Jian with outstanding principal amounting - REIBEERBEASSBAARA
to approximately RMB13,380,000 (2019: RMB6,271,000) and accrued R#13,380,0007t (ZE—NF: A
interest of approximately RMB285,000 (2019: RMB88,000). The loans R#6,271,0007T) 2 EHREF S
bore an annual interest at 6% and are repayable on 28 February 2021 #WAR®285,000 (ZZE—NF :
respectively. The loan was fully repaid as at the date of this report. AR¥88,0000T) « ZERENER

6% RADRBR-_E-_—F_8 —-H\
BEE BEAREEH  EHE

The carrying amounts of the accruals and other payables are HRBAREMENTNEEENLT
denominated in the following currencies: FIEHEHE

_ _—

7

As at 31 December
R+=B=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBETT

- RMB - AR 93,924 128,966
- UsSb —%7T 817 1,653
- HKD -7 329,036 295,518

426,137
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

33. BANK BORROWINGS 33. #RITEX
. J""-
As at 31 December
R+t=—HA=+—H
2020 2019
k- 3 3 —T-NEF
RMB‘000 RMB'000
_ _ _ ARETR /\E%?T_E
Non-current FEFRE
Long-term borrowing from RORITER-ARERER
a bank-Guaranteed and pledged (note a) (MI7E a) 140,000
Long-term borrowing from RERITER—BER (M g)
a bank-pledged (note g) 110,000 —
00
Current RE
Current portion of long-term borrowing from KEFSEITHE R REN LS
a bank-Guaranteed and pledged (note a) —BRERER (M a) 140,000 100,000
Current portion of long-term borrowing from KEFSEITHE R REN LS
a bank - Guaranteed and secured (note b) — B RE LI (KT b) 55,000 90,000
Current portion of long-term borrowing from REFSEITHE R REN L H
a bank - Guaranteed (note ¢) —BREF(KFE 110,000
Short-term borrowing from RERITRE R — B RE R
a bank — Guaranteed and secured (note d) (FEE d) 65,000 66,000
Short-term borrowing from RERTER—ERIELER
a bank — Guaranteed and pledged (note e) (MI7E e) 160,000 160,000
Short-term borrowings from RERITRER—BRE (M 1)
banks — Guaranteed (note f) 50,000 50,000
Long-term borrowing from RORITER - BER (M 9)
a bank-pledged (note g) 30,000 —
500,000 576,000
Total borrowings AR EE 610,000 716,000
All bank borrowings were denominated in RMB as at 31 December RZZEZZTFER-ZZF-NF+ZHA
2020 and 2019. :-I-—EI . Pﬁﬁﬁﬂfﬂaw@u/\&ﬂ%

-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

The borrowing with principal amount of approximately
RMB290,000,000 was guaranteed by the Company and was
pledged by 35% of a subsidiary’s equity interests. The interest
rate was based on the directive interest rate announced by
the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch, which
was 4.75% per annum for both years as at 31 December
2020 of which 2.00% interest is charged in advance, which
will be refunded when the relevant authority in the Chinese
Central government refund the interest allowances to the
lender. The tenure of the borrowing is from 8 November
2018 to 7 November 2021 and repayment terms are based
on the following schedule: repayments of approximately
RMB50,000,000, RMB100,000,000 and RMB140,000,000
on 7 November 2019, 7 November 2020 and 29 October
2021 respectively. The first payment has been made by the
Group based on the contractual terms. According to the loan
agreement, unpaid principal of RMB100,000,000 is required to
be repaid on 7 November 2020. Accordingly, borrowing amount
of approximately RMB100,000,000 was recorded as current
liability as at 31 December 2019 and amount of approximately
RMB140,000,000 was recorded as non-current liabilities as at
31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the borrowing with
principal amount of approximately RMB100,000,000 was repaid
and the remaining balance of approximately RMB140,000,000
was recorded as current liabilities as at 31 December 2020.

(a)

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-B=1+-HI%FE

33. BITERE)
P EE -

X e BEHNBARE
290,000,000 7T/ {& 3K B A2 &
RERE - UMBAF35%K
EEE - FRERFBARE
TR L X 1T A B 35 R F
R RZEZTF+ZA=1—
AASE475% HhEEH
Br2.00% A 2 - AP EAH R
BRBEBIFIMERAREFR
BREREE - BRHA-ZT
-NE+—-—ANBE=ZT=—
F+—HB+ 8 WIRU T2

BE: SRR E-AEt—
AtE —F-FEt-At

Bk-—E-_—F+A=+N1H
8 & % A R %50,000,0007T
AR ¥ 100,000,000 7T & A R #E
140,000,000 7T ° A EEE R &
EREREEEENE - REE
A BR-_T-_ZTF+—A
THEENAINEAEEEAA
E#100,000,000 7T ° A - B

- NF+-A=+—8HK
1%‘:—’%’3/&&% 100,000,000 7T 51|
AERBEE MR_ZE—NEF
TZA=+—BENEROARE
140,000,000 7T A5 A IE i B &

f&e

BE—_Z-_TF+-_A=+—H
¢¢E~$ﬁ\5%%AE%
100,000,000 TTHI &R EEE -
8T 4 AR % 140,000,000 #) 4
BR_ZE_FEF+-_A=+—H
SIRREEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(b)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

The borrowing with principal amount of approximately
RMB100,000,000 was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group
and secured by the Group's factory plant with carrying value
of approximately RMB61,715,000 (Note 16) and land use rights
with carrying value of RMB26,789,000 (Note 15). The interest
rate was based on the directive interest rate announced by
the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch, which
was 4.75% per annum for both years as at 31 December 2019
of which 2.00% interest is charged in advance, which will be
refunded when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central
government refund the interest allowances to the lender.
The tenure of the borrowing is from 18 March 2019 to 17
March 2021 and repayment terms are based on the following
schedule: repayments of approximately RMB10,000,000,
RMB15,000,000, RMB30,000,000 and RMB45,000,000 on 18
September 2019, 18 March 2020, 18 September 2020 and 7
March 2021 respectively. The first payment has been made by
the Group based on the contractual terms. Due to certain terms
of the borrowing agreement, the bank has the potential right
to request for repayment of the loan before the contractual
maturity dates. Accordingly, the outstanding borrowing
amounting to approximately RMB90,000,000 was recorded as
current liabilities as at 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the borrowing with
principal amount of approximately RMB35,000,000 was repaid
and the remaining balance of approximately RMB55,000,000
was recorded as current liabilities as at 31 December 2020.
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33. BITERE)

B -

(b)

(%)

e 2BEHNARARE
100,000,0007C ) f& 3 B &
SENNBARRERSE
TAAEBERENAAR
%61,715,0007T # T W & =
(F1e) REEEBEAARE
26,789,000 7T &9 4 Hb {58 FA 4 (Ff
IS EER e MIEERPE
ARBITHEFR LI T AR
ERAE RZE—-hF+=
A=+—HABF475%  H
OTE L BR2.00%F B i
RABEFRREGE@ABFARE
AAREFNSBERRE &
XBA-—FT-NAF=A+N\A
EFE2-_—%=ZRA++H I
BUTHEEE: 2RIR=F
- NWENRATNA - ZE=F
F=A+/\B - —FE-ZFH
A+N\BRERZZE-Z—F=ZARt

A& &% AR 10,000,000
7t~ AR #15,000,0007C * A
R #30,000,0007c & A R #
45,000,000t - AEEE R E
ERIEREEEENE - ARE
RBEHE LR ZBRITHEE
ERIMB ZAERERERD
BERER - At RZT—NEF
+ZA=+—H8 ' HKREEER
#) A R #90,000,000 7T 7 &%
BaE-

BE-ZT-TF+-A=+—H
LEEHRE AeeBHOARA
R #35,000,000 7T 8 f& F 2 (&
# - % T4 AR%S55000,000
THEBRR-_ZT_TF+T-A
=+—RIRRBEE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(0)

The borrowing with principal amount of approximately
RMB120,000,000 was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group.
The interest rate was based on the general interest rate in
Tibet, which was 2.75% per annum as at 31 December 2020.
During the period of the loan, the interest rate will be adjusted
according to the directive interest rate published by the People’s
Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch every twelve months.
The tenure of the borrowing is from 28 April 2018 to 28 April
2020 and repayment terms are based on the following schedule:
repayments of approximately RMB5,000,000, RMB5,000,000
and RMB110,000,000 on 18 October 2018, 18 October 2019
and 28 April 2020 respectively.

The borrowing with principal amount of approximately
RMB66,000,000 was guaranteed by the Company and
secured by the Group's factory plant with carrying value of
approximately RMB27,616,000 (Note 16) and land use rights
with carrying value of RMB1,008,000 (Note 15). The borrowing
with principal amount of approximately RMB66,000,000 was
repaid and RMB65,000,000 was reborrowed during the year
ended 31 December 2020. The loan is at fixed interest rate of
4.35% per annum for both years. The tenure of the borrowing
is from 30 June 2020 to 29 June 2021.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-B=1+-HI%FE

33. BITERE)

B -

(@

(%)

e 2BEHNARARE
120,000,000 7C #J f& B B A &
BHMEABRERE - FIXE
TERERN KX K=
T-TF+-_RA=+—HASE
F275%  NEFEME - F =X
BIREABARBITREF L
XIRmEOERNES12MEA
HETRE - BFRHER=-FT—N
FUWA-Z+NHE-_E-ZF
MA-+NB TRIATHE
BE: f‘EIJEA—ﬁf/\¢+H
A= —-nE+ATN
EI&_y_?EEH + AR
& & # A R #5,000,0007T
A E #5,000,0007C b A R #
110,000,000 7T °

X2 BEHARARE
66,000,000 7T #J f& X M A8 A &
RERE VUASEERE
A ANR®27616,000TH T
BB E M E16) REEEEAA
R #1,008,000 7T # 1+ 0 5 FA 4
(BFEE1S) BRI - R 2L
A AR #66,000,000T 28X
BEE TREZE-Z-_ZF
+tZ A=+ HLEFEBHBERE
A A R 65,000,000 © % &
FHNETEFFNERL35% ° BX
WAE-_TFEA=1THEZ
EZ-—FA-t+NH-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 33. RITERE)
notes: (continued) BisE - (%)
(e)  The balances include the following borrowings from banks: (e) MBI TIIRITIER :

() The borrowing with principal amount of approximately i) Xe22BARAREK
RMB100,000,000 was guaranteed by a subsidiary of 100,000,000 #) f&
the Group and was pledged by 15% of an associate’s MASE B QA
equity interests. The borrowing with principal amount RERSE Y hH— BB
of approximately RMB100,000,000 was repaid and BRANS%MBREEE
reborrowed during the year ended 31 December 2020. HeoAXeeBEANRARK
The loan is at fixed interest rate of 1.85% per annum 100,000,000t Z E K E
(2019: 2.25% per annum). The tenure of the borrowing is BE IRBE_ZT_Z
from 30 September 2020 to 29 September 2021. FTZA=T—BLHFE

HEEER ZEFRHE
EEMEE185%(ZF
—NEF  FHE225%)
EXBHA_T-_ZTFNA
“t+HE-Z-—FNA

“thB-

(i) The borrowing with principal amount of approximately i) "e2BHORARE
RMB60,000,000 was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the 60,000,000 JT & {& X B Z<
Group and the Company, and was pledged by 15% of an SEN-—BHRBRRAIRA
associate’s equity interests. The borrowing with principal NAMRERE -
amount of approximately RMB60,000,000 was repaid and i & N A)15% M AR RE 1
reborrowed during the year ended 31 December 2020. Ef - Xe2BAORAR
The loan is at fixed interest rate of 3.85% per annum % 60,000,000 T2 EHE
(2019: 4.15% per annum). The tenure of the borrowing is BE URBE_T_ZT
from 19 November 2020 to 19 May 2021. F+ZA=T—BLELEE

HEBEER  ZEFE
TFEMEE385%(ZF
—NEF  FHEL5%) ©
ERBMAE_T_TF+—
AtARE-ZE-_—F7H
A+hBe
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(f)

The borrowing with principal amount of approximately
RMB50,000,000 was guaranteed by the Company and a
subsidiary of the Group and pledged by the Group’s machinery
with carrying value of approximately RMB54,547,000 (Note
16). The borrowing with principal amount of approximately
RMB50,000,000 was repaid and reborrowed during the year
ended 31 December 2020. The loan is at fixed interest rate
of 4.05% per annum. The tenure of the borrowing is from 6
March 2020 to 5 March 2021.

The borrowing with principal amount of approximately
RMB150,000,000 was guaranteed by the Company and was
secured by the land use right of a third party. The interest rate
will be adjusted according to the Loan Prime Rate (“LPR") for
one-year loan every twelve months throughout the repayment
period. The tenure of the borrowing is from 5 March 2020 to 4
March 2023 and repayment terms are based on the following
schedule: repayments of approximately RMB10,000,000,
RMB10,000,000, RMB20,000,000, RMB20,000,000,
RMB40,000,000 and RMB50,000,000 on 15 August 2020, 15
March 2021, 15 August 2021, 15 March 2022, 15 August 2022
and 4 March 2023 respectively. The first payment has been
made by the Group based on the contractual terms. According
to the loan agreement, unpaid principal of RMB10,000,000
and RMB20,000,000 are required to be repaid on 15 March
2021 and 15 August 2021, respectively. Accordingly, borrowing
amount of approximately RMB30,000,000 was recorded
as current liability as at 31 December 2020 and amount of
approximately RMB110,000,000 was recorded as non-current
liability as at 31 December 2020.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-_A=t+-HIFE

33. RITERE)

et - ()

(f)

K& & BHEARE
50,000,000 7T K {& 5K B AN A )
RAEEM—FENEBQRER
FoUHASEEREAENAA
R #54,547,000 70 8 # 22 {E &
H(HsE16) s AESBEHAA
R #50,000,0007C 2 E 50 (&
B UREz_Z-_FTF+_-A
“+—BUHFEBRBER - %
ERHETEFFERL05% ° {5
HHEA—E-EF=-A HEZ
E-_—F=ARH-

K e BEHAEARE
150,000,000 7T K9 f& 5K B A 2 A
RERE  YUF=HHLHE
FREEE - NEXREE —F
HEFNFIEEREERTSR
ENX((ERTHREMNE])
BNREAETAR - (EFHA
TE-TF-RRAHAE-ZT =
FE=AMNE - WIRATEE
B oRR-_E-_TFENA+HA
H - —E-—%=A+AH"
—“E-—4FN\A+HA =%
—ZH¥=ZR+RB ZE=Z
FNATERR-_Z-_=F=
AW A 45 AR 10,000,000
T A K #10,000,0007T
A E #20,000,0007T A
R %20,000,000t° A E
#40,000,000t & A R %
50,000,000 7T ° HRIEE T E -
KAEEARES AR10,000,000
7T & A R 20,000,000 7T 78 5
AR-ZE-—F=A+HAN=
E-—FN\A+HBEE K&
BERBEARKREEHER
15 - Al - 49 AR 30,000,000
THEFIR -_E-_ZEFE+ A
=+—RIABRBEE HAR
#110,000,000 T RER = F
—EF+-_A=T—HIAKER
BEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020

QE

33.

34.

TEETCAST-ALFE

BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank
borrowings were repayable as follows:

RITERE)
RZZFB-_FTE+-_A=1+—HR=F
—NFETZA=+t—H FTEBRT

EREERBMT

_—

As at 31 December

R+=B=t+—H

2020 2019
—w—?ﬂi :f&—j’bﬂf
RMB‘000 RMB’000
____________ ARBTR ARETT
Within 1 year 1FR 500,000 576,000
Between 1 year and 2 years 1822F 60,000 140,000
Between 2 years and 5 years 2ESHF 50,000 =

610,000 716,000

CONVERTIBLE BOND - LIABILITY COMPONENT

The movement of convertible bond-liability component is as follows:

34, MBRRESZ-RERD

ARRES -AESIOZEHMT

—hE—A—-ABNaERS

Liability component at 1 January 2019 K=

Interest expense (Note 9) FEEA(PHEE9)
Cash settlement Reks
Currency translation differences INEFTEZTE

RMB'OO
ARBF T

457,673

17,846
(486,363)
10,844

Liability component at 31 December 2019 n=

—hWE+ZA=+-BHNEESS

The Group's convertible bonds with par value of approximately
HKD525,000,000 were matured on 24 June 2019. None of the
bond holders exercised the conversion option of the convertible
bonds and thus the Group was required to repay the bond holders
in cash upon maturity. On 16 July 2019 (the contractual repayment
deadline), the Group had repaid the bonds in full, amounting to
approximately RMB486,363,000 (equivalent to HKD545,599,000),
representing principal of approximately RMB468,517,000 (equivalent
to HKD525,000,000) and interest of approximately RMB17,846,000
(equivalent to HKD20,599,000).
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7K % B ™ {E 4 4 525,000,000 7 7T H)
MEEEN _E-AFE A -+
BEE - BIBESFBBEATETRR
ﬁ%mm At REBERE
BRURGEEBESFFEA -RZT
—NE+tAR+ A AB(AHEFEILA
H) AEBEEXRHEEEFHARE
486,363,000 7T (18 & 7 545,599,000
B BIARE#H AR 468,517,000
7t (48 % 7 525,000,000 7T ) & 7
B4 AR 17,846,000 T4 & R
20,599,000 7T) °



35. SHARE CAPITAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-ZF+-A=1-HILFE

35. RARKRGRE

Number of
ordinary
shares
(thousands)
EBRRHA
(FR)

Nominal
value of
ordinary

shares

BERREE
HKD'000
TR

Equivalent

nominal
value

of ordinary
shares
EBR
REEZE
RMB’000
AR® TR

Balance as at 1 January 2019,
31 December 2019,
1 January 2020 and
31 December 2020

R-B-h&-HA—8"
—E-AF+=A
=t+-0 -ZB-%F§
—A—-BR=-F=-2F
+ZA=t+-BH&&

2,568,893
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZH+-_A=+-HIFE

36. SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME 36. ARMEBEZEENRS

o
Number of
Ordinary shares
(thousands)
TmREE RMB’000

(TR AREFT

R-E-h&—-A-H"
—E-NE+ZA=t-B-

Balance as at 1 January 2019,
31 December 2019, 1 January 2020

and 31 December 2020 —EEF-A-HR
—E-EF+=-A=1+-—H
ok 23 65,626 173,037
On 18 August 2017, the Group adopted a share award scheme for RZZE—+FNATNB FEEK

purposes of (i) encouraging or facilitating the holding of Shares
by the Selected Participants; (ii) encouraging and retaining certain
individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) providing incentive for
the Selected Participants to achieve performance goals. Based on the
rules of the scheme, the Group may grant shares of the Company to
eligible participants in the future.

On 8 September 2017, the Group entered an agreement with Bank
of Communications Trustee Ltd. (the “Trustee”) to establish a share
award scheme trust (“Share Award Trust”), where the Trustee may
purchase or subscribe ordinary shares of the Company on behalf
of the Group from the open market, based on the instructions of
the Group. The Share Award Trust is consolidated in the Group's
consolidated financial statements as a special purpose entity.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group purchased
5,000,000 shares of the Company through the Trustee for a total
consideration of approximately RMB14,169,000.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, no share has been
granted by the Group to any parties under the above mentioned
share award scheme.
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BIRTEXERAANTREANDETL
9 & AR 32 B £ B B =t BERE([ R4
RBET) Bt IEATREAR
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%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%%$%§%é%
B#kEze AR

BE-T-NF+ZA=1+—BLLt#F
B AEEFEBXFAEE 5000000
BRAEARGIRND BRENDAEARE
14,169,000 7T, ©
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37. OTHER RESERVES

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FARMBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TET-ASH-ALEE

Hitbf#

Convertible
Statutory Currency Investment bond-
Capital surplus translation revaluation equity
reserve reserve reserve reserve  component Total
BE TERES
ERffE BRARE  NMRERE REERRE -Ends @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(note (i) (note (ii) (note (iii) (note (v)) (note (iv)
(B (i) (e (ii)) (Bt (iii)) (W) (3 (iv)
Balance at 1 January 2019 RZZ-NE-R—-BREE 32,847 185,498 (58,806) = 18,385 177,924
Exchange differences on translation from R RERAEREEN
functional currency to presentation currency ERER = — (12,235) — — (12,235)
Reclassification to share premium ENMPBERNEE = = = - (18,385) (18,385)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and RZZ-NFTZA=1-8
1 January 2020 RZZ-Z25-A-H
ki 32,847 185,498 (71,041) - - 147,304
Exchange differences on translation from W EBBRREREEN
functional currency to presentation currency  EXER = = 14,191 = - 14,191
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTOCI PAREBFEEEETHA
E2ENRNSREE
HALEERE = = - (10,999) - (10,999)
Transfer of reserve upon RENAREEGZAL
disposal of financial assets at FVTOC| FUt AR EREY
TRAEBNEEES = = - 11,600 - 11,600
Balance at 31 December 2020 RZB-Z2E+ZA=1-H
HER 185,498 162,096

notes:

(i) Capital reserve

Excess amounts contributed by shareholders on top of the share capital are

recorded as capital reserve. In addition, the reserve is used to record the

differences arisen as a result of transactions with non-controlling interests

that do not result in a loss of control, if any.

B

BERFEBHBRAED LT RE AR
e ltoh ZRBEBRANCETEER
BRESENE) W EIFERER
RGPELMER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

37. OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the provisions of the articles of association of the Group's
subsidiaries located in PRC (“"PRC subsidiaries”), the PRC subsidiaries shall
first set aside 10% of its profit attributable to owners after tax as indicated
in their statutory financial statements for the statutory surplus reserve (except
where the reserve has reached 50% of the entity's registered share capital)
each year. PRC subsidiaries may also make appropriations from its profit
attributable to shareholders to a discretionary surplus reserve, provided it is
approved by a resolution passed in a shareholders’ general meeting. These
reserves cannot be used for purposes other than those for which they are
created and are not distributable as cash dividends without the prior approval
obtained from the shareholders in a shareholders’ general meeting under
specific circumstances.

When the statutory surplus reserve is not sufficient to make good for any
losses of the PRC subsidiaries from previous years, the current year profit
attributable to the owners shall be used to make good the losses before any
allocations are set aside for the statutory surplus reserve.

The statutory surplus reserve, the discretionary surplus reserve and the
capital reserve of the PRC subsidiaries may be converted into share capital
of the PRC subsidiaries provided it is approved by a resolution passed in
a shareholders' general meeting and meets other regulatory requirements
with the provision that the ending balance of the statutory surplus reserve
does not fall below 25% of the registered share capital amount.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the reserve of the PRC subsidiaries has
reached 50% of the entity's registered share capital.

Currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising from the difference between functional and
presentation currency are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the reserve.

Convertible bond-equity component

This represents the equity portion of the convertible bonds. The entity shall
transfer the part initially included in other reserve to share premium upon

expiry.
Investment revaluation reserve

The FVTOCI reserve represents cumulative gains and losses arising on the
revaluation of equity instruments at FVTOCI that have been recognised
in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to retained
earnings when those equity instruments at FVTOCI are disposed of or are
determined to be impaired.
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37.
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BEE -
(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(&)
FEERBAES

BEAEBE RS EONB AR H
EELARMAGERARG
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EREEREEFBREREZRSHA
Be-BRABERINA M
KREETIEREEMRE  ARES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BAMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-T-BFTCAST-ALEE

SUBSIDIARIES 38. MEAQA
The following is a list of significant principal subsidiaries of the Group R_ZB_ZFR-_FT-NAF+ZA
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019: —t+—H AEEBEXTEWERQF
HEZEMT
-
Place of incorporation and
business/date
of incorporation/
Company name type of legal entities Issued/paid-in capital Effective interest held  Principal activities
AMAIREEHE/
14E SRALEN/ HERARE BE/RERE gEfisEE  iEED
Indirectly held: 2020 2019 2019
SRR e R SRR e -t T N T
Tibet Zhongji Jiahua Industry PRC/T January 2004/ USD16,000,000 pYMOXTHO[ROI] 100%  Investment holding
Co, Ltd. Limited liahility company
BETREFELARARLA  PE/-ZEMF-A-B/ 16,000,007 REXINIESD 100% REBK
ERAR
Tibet Glacier Mineral Water PRC/31 October 2005/ CIVEAREROOM RMB118,000,000 100%  Water products
Co, Ltd. Limited liahility company manufacturing and
sales and leasing
EkIBRKkERAT hE/ZFTRE N AE® 100% B4 HERMEKER
tA=+-B/ARAR (EROOXOpAR 118,000,000
Beijing 5100 Management PRC/13 July 2007/ RMB1,000,000 REARCVORIIN)] 100%  Water products market
Consulting Co., Ltd. Limited liability company operation and
management
IRI-SRERENARLA hE/ZE5LE AEH AE% 100% KERTAEERER
tAT=R/ERAA 1,000,000 1,000,0007C
Tibet Glacier Mineral Water PRC/21 April 2010/ RMB3,000,000 RIMB3,000,000 100%  Water products marketing,
Marketing Co., Ltd. Limited liahility company promotion, distribution
and relating
ERIERKEHERAT hE/ZF-3F Nt A% 100% &% #E 7HR
mA=+-B/ERAA 3,000,0007% 3,000,000 BEKER
Tibet Tiandi Green PRC/28 April 2009/ CYEYOONOOE  RMB200,000,000 100%  Beer manufacturing
Beverage Development Co., Ltd.  Limited liability company and sales
AR ERnERARLA TE/ZFENE N A% 100% BEEERHE
MAZTN\B/BRAE pUNNORIIp  200,000,0007T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

38. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 38. MERTE(#E)
- "'L
Place of incorporation and
business/date
of incorporation/
Company name type of legal entities Issued/paid-in capital Effective interest held  Principal activities
AMHIREELE/
L iMAIAE/tRERER B/ BARA BB AR IEED
Indirectly held: 2020 2019 2019
R R SRR Al T e
Wealth Keeper Limited Hong Kong/30 October 2012/ HKD1 HKD1 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability company
Wealth Keeper Limited &%/-2-—EtB=1R/ 187 18T 100% RERR
ERAA
Tibet 5100 Water Resources Hong Kong/6 September 2013/ HKD100 HKD100 100%  Investment holding
(HK) Limited Limited liability company
BESI0KER(ER)ERAR &%/ -F-ZEAARR/A 10087 10087 100% RERR
RAw
Hong Kong Fairly Well Hong Kong/23 May 2016/ HKD1 HKD1 100%  Lending service
Capital Limited Limited liability company
ERTEARERAR &%/ -2 FRA-1=H 187 V&7 100% HERE
/BRAF
Zhuhai Guangyuan Huijin PRC/12 January 2018/ CEREPRONOM  RMB182,000,000 98.9%  Investment in culture,
Equity Investment Fund Limited partnership entertainment,
(Limited Partnership) consumer product,
retail business and
related industries
KEREECREREES t8/-5-\§-A+Z8/ N AEH 9%9% Xt R% EEm-
(BRA%) BRA% (EPNORIIP 182,000,000 FEXBRAENERE
Center Faithful Limited Hong Kong/2 January 2019/ HKD1 HKD1 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability company
PAELEERAT EE/_E-nE-AzB/ 187 127 100% RARR
ERATA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE2-Z-ZF+-A=t+-HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. BRERESINERMIE
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEERATIERMIA:
J

As at 31 December
R+=HA=+—8H

2020 2019

S B =

Note RMB‘000 RMB'000
i PGLESE  ARET

Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at amortised cost NESRKAGTENESREE
~ Trade receivables -ERESHK 23 283,274 258,991
— Other financial assets at — RN AT EN
amortised cost Hith e mEE 25 1,367,268 831,736
- Cash and cash equivalents ~-RERREEEY 28 64,752 515,510
Financial assets at FVTOCI NAREBEGFEEEEZHTA
Hth2EU RN REE 22 174,482 231,881
Financial assets at FVTPL NAREBEGFEEEEZHTA
BENemEE 27 192,328 197,147
2,035,265
Financial liabilities cRBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ AESBKAF ENEHMEE
— Trade and notes payables -ENB ST NENZE 29 324,150 323,881
— Accruals and other payables —JaRER M HMERM R 32 403,536 408,443
- Bank borrowings —RITRER 33 610,000 716,000
- Lease liabilities -MHEEE 15 147 —

1,448,324
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=1t-HLFE

40. SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH TRANSACTION 40. ERFBERS

BE-ZT-NEF+=-A=+—H
LtFEE FZFERHDARE
220,000,000 7T B Gt E RN A5 B
HME=HIUNEERENER
FBEENE = HFERE -

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2019, loans from a third (a)
party amounting to approximately RMB220,000,000 were offset
against amounts due to a third party for the same amount
based on the settlement agreements among the Group and the
third party.

BE-ZT-NWF+=ZA=+—H
HEE BRBBHAZREHAR
#170,473,000 LE R ER A E
B F=AREHANEE RS
MERFBEEN P EZRNE=
HHE e

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2019, amounts due (b)
to related parties of approximately RMB170,473,000 were
reclassified to amounts due to a third party for the same
amount based on the settlement agreements among the Group,
the third party and the related parties.

41. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION 41.

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in

BHFERE
REHIBEHFENDNRE 25 H

net debt for each of the periods presented. RERFENEE -

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLFE

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

2020 2019
S - -
RMB‘000 RMB'000

_____________ ARETR ARETIT
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 28) BekBHLEBY(HF28) (Y WLY) 515,510
Borrowings — repayable within one year AR —ER—FAEE(FEE33)

(Note 33) (500,000) (576,000)
Borrowings — repayable after one year AR —ER—FREER (1 33)

(Note 33) (110,000) (140,000)
Borrowings from third parties (Note 32) B=HEF(HIE32) (301,825) (290,309)
Lease liabilities (Note 15) HEaE(HE15) (147) =
Net debt BRHE (847,220) (490,799)
Cash and cash equivalents Be kRS EEY 64,752 515,510
Gross debt — fixed interest rates EREE—-ETH X (576,972) (566,309)
Gross debt — variable interest rates B EE - FHF X (335,000) (440,000)
Net debt (v ] (847,220) (490,799)




41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FARMBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-T-BFTCAST-ALEE

NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (CONTINUED) 41. EEFEE)
The table below details changes in the Group's (i) other assets and TREIAEENEMEERARER
liabilities and (ii) liabilities arising from financing activities, including (BEZHELENEE(REREEKIE
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing Ref88))N2e=E RETHES
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows MEBBENERASREXRRBNAE
will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows BaGAReRnERT Y EARERD
as cash flows from financing activities. RentReEnEmas -
_ ot
_('fr.
Other Asset Liabilities From Financing Activities
HitEE RMETHELNEE
Cash
and cash Borrowings
equivalents Bank from Convertible Lease
F&KkHE borrowings third parties bond liabilities Total
ZEY RITER  F=HER  URRES HESE wst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
..................................................... Aﬁm:Fﬁ: }\Eﬁg:Fﬁ AE#:FJTE AEﬁz:Fi }\Eﬁg:Fi Aﬁm:Fi
Balance at 1 January RZZT—NEF
2019 —RA—H®&H 277,152 (701,000) = (457,673) = (881,521)
Cash flows RERE 238,273 15,540 (295,697) 282,789 = 240,905
Foreign exchange B 5 A
adjustments 85 = = (10,844) = (10,759)
Other non-cash HiFFR SRS
movements = (30,540) 5,388 185,728 = 160,576
Balance at 31 December R-ZT—NF+=A
2019 and 1 January =+—Bk
2020 T
—HA—B&&H 515,510 (716,000) (290,309) (490,799)
Cash flows Rene (450,781) 106,000 (8,776) (353,407)
Foreign exchange fE 5 SR B
adjustments 23 14,374 14,397
Other non-cash HiIEREmE
movements (17,114) (17,411)
Balance at R-BZ2F
31 December 2020 +=-A=+-H
MR 64,752 (610,000) (301,825) (847,220)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE 42, BIEMRRERREE
COMPANY
(@) Statement of financial position (a) HEEMRE
_-—_—
As at 31 December
R+t=BA=+-—8H
2020 2019
—EBC-8E —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBETT

Non-current asset FRBEE

Loan to subsidiaries MEBRARIEER 1,194,289 1,256,334
Current assets REEE

Cash and cash equivalents RekReZEEM 289
Prepayment BB 496
Total current assets REEEARE 785
Current liabilities nEaE

Other payables Hoib e 195,326 191,952
Loans from subsidiaries REMBARNER 49,772 AR

Total current liabilities REEEAE 245,098 |EPEEELLH
Net current liabilities REEEFE (244,360) ERCEYRIY
Total assets less current liabilities HMEERRBEE 949,929 | 1,023,734

Capital and reserves BEXR#E

Share capital B 21,363 21,363
Reserves & 928,566 1,002,371
Total equity ERBE 949,929 1,023,734
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42.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(@) Statement of financial position (continued)

note: Movement in the Company's reserves

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42.

FARMBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TET-ASH-ALEE

BBRRRR AR (&)

(a) HBRRKE)

CEREINET T

Shares held
for share
award
Share scheme Other  Accumulated
premium ARGDED reserves losses Total
RGGEE HESENRG Hitffe RitEE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBT T ARET T ARBTR ARBT T
Balance at 1 January 2019 RZE-NE—-A—H 1,206,829 (173,037) 72,244 (85,489) 1,020,547
Loss for the year FEFE = - — (37,050) (37,050)
Exchange differences on translation EVIEA St e
from functional currency to ol
presentation currency = = 18,874 = 18,874
Total comprehensive income/(loss) cEYE/ (BB)EE — - 18,874 (37,050) (18,176)
Reclassification to share premium BN EERAEE 18,385 = (18,385) — —

Balance at 31 December 2019

and 1 January 2020 RZZ-TF-R-
igfsgei
Loss for the year FERE
Exchange differences on translation EVIEA St e
from functional currency to MENZH
presentation currency
Total comprehensive loss 2EBRGE

Balance at 31 December 2020 R-E-ZE+-A=1-H

S

1,225,214

1,225,214

(173,037)

(173,037)

72,733 (122,539)
= (24,350)

1,002,371
(24,350)

(49,455) (49,455)

(49,455)

(24,350) (73,805)

23,278 (146,889) 928,566
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZH+-P=+-HIFE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 43,

(a) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments

The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for

the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

(a)

EEENRER
EERIETBRAEME

REFNTEBTRAEBEBE_T
—EFETZA=+T—HLEFEN
FEEIIMT -

Name

Executive Directors
Mr. Yan Qingjiang (note vii)

Mr. Yue Zhigiang

Mr. Wang Dong (note v)

Mr. Liu Chen (note vi)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Jiang Xiaohong

Mr. Kevin Cheng Wei (note iv)

Mr. Wei Zheming (note iii)

Mr. Xu Liang (note iii)

Ms. Guo Kun Kun (note iii)

Independent Non-executive
Directors

Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement

Mr. Tang Zeping (note ix)

Mr. Dai Yang (note vii)

Mr. Jesper Bjoern Madsen (note x)

Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai
(note viii)

Discretionary
bonuses
MiETEA
RMB'000

Salary

3
RMB'000

BTES
BEIEE

(BI5E vi)
ki
TREE (V)
FIREE (K vi)
FHTES
ZBIZT
RERCIL A (5T i)
WEBREE (s i)
TR i (B i)
DPERLL (M i)
BUKHTES

AEERE
BRT L (M ix)
H L (W vil)
BB (M %)
FBRRE

(PREE viil)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Employer's
contribution

to benefit
scheme

EE[EA and benefits

SRR
RMB'000
ARBTR

Allowance
Total
- Hy
RMB’000

BREREN
RMB000
ARET T




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

FRUKBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-FF+-F-+-ALEFE

43. EEEARERE)

(a) EERIETRAEME(#E)
BEERIBTRABHE-T

The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for
the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below:

—NETZA=+T—BLEFEN

HENESIAT
-
Employer's
contribution
to benefit
Discretionary scheme  Allowance
Salary bonuses  EEMEF and benefits Total
Name # e EB7EA SEIfER BB RAER @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeneeeeeeseeeeeeeeees oo NEET AR ARRTL  ARETRL  ARETT
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Dong (note v) TREAE(HzE) 1,324 - 37 148 1,509
Mr. Yue Zhigiang EERELE 1,323 — — — 1,323
Mr. Liu Chen (note vi) AR LA (HEEvi) 1,111 89 16 - 1,216
Mr. Wong Hak Kun (note i) FrErE(FEi) 551 — 7 — 558
Ms. Han Linyou (note ii) gL (Rt 821 — 12 — 833
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong ZBILL 878 — — — 878
Mr. Wei Zheming (note iii) RS (M3 — — — — -
Mr. Xu Liang (note iii) fRo A (M Eiin) — — - - -
Ms. Guo Kun Kun (note ii) PEBEL (M) — — — — -
Independent Non-executive BUKHTES
Directors
Mr. Jesper Bjoern Madsen BZMES 4 (it x)
(note x) 1,642 = = 241 1,883
Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai FEREE
(note viii) (&L viii) 492 — — — 492
Mr. Kevin Cheng Wei (note iv) BEAk A (FifsEiv) 527 — — — 527
Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement HEELE = = = = =
8,669 89 72 389 9,219
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 43, EEEANRERE)

(a) EERIETHRAEBME(#E)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (continued)

notes: {ogs3

(i) Mr. Wong Hak Kun resigned as executive Director on 24 May 2019. i) FITRYEER-_ZT-NEFHA
ZHUABERITES -

(i) Ms. Han Linyou resigned as executive Director on 11 November 2019. (i) BHRBLZTRZZ-NE+—
At+—BHEERITES -

(i) Mr. Wei Zheming, Mr. Xu Liang and Ms. Guo Kun Kun were iy BEAALE Bt E R
appointed as non-executive Directors on 31 December 2019 and BREZTR-_Z-NEF+=
retired on 30 June 2020. A=+—-—HEZEARFHITE

= YR E-EERAZT
HIRIE o

(iv)  Mr. Kevin Cheng Wei was re-designated from an independent non- vy BREERZZ_ZFETAA

executive Director to a non-executive Director on 9 October 2020. BEBFNTESTREIRKE
WITES -

(v Mr. Wang Dong retired as executive Director on 30 June 2020. Mr. v, FITEREERZT-ZZTEFRA

WANG Dong remains as the chief executive officer of the Company. “+HRARITES - TRE
EMARATITRABH o

(viy  Mr. Liu Chen resigned as executive Director on 27 May 2020. vi) FEEXEN-T-ZTFAHA
ZHHABERITES -

(vii)  Mr. Yan Qingjiang and Mr. Dai Yang were appointed as executive (viiy BBEILERFBLTERN-Z
Director and independent non-executive Directors respectively on 27 “EERAZ+TEHMRIEZ
May 2020. ERPTEENBUFRTE

=

(viii)  Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai resigned as independent non-executive (i) ZEBHEER_ZT_TF_A
Directors on 29 February 2020. ZHNBBHEEETES -

(ix) Mr. Tang Zeping was appointed as independent non-executive (ix) BEFLER-_Z-ZTF=A
Directors on 2 March 2020. “HEZARBUENTES

(x)  Mr. Jesper Bjoern Madsen resigned as independent non-executive x) EZEBEER-_ZT-ZTFHA

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Directors on 27 May 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-F-TE+_f=1t-HIEE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 43. ESEANRERE)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued) (a) EBRFETBAEME(Z)
During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no BE_Z-_ZTFR-ZT-NF
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors +t-A=+—RHLEE A£E
or the chief executive of the Group or the five highest paid TERAENESIAEEEET
employees or senior managements as an inducement to join or BAESAEERTMEILR
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. REBRENEMBE - fERM
None of the non-director, highest paid employees and senior BAREESNBEASB RN RS
management waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during SERBERAE BHE_T_F
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. There was no FR-_F-NEF+A=+—H
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive HEE SBEEEE T
any remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2020 BEIRRRERENEXRER
and 2019. EEAME -BE_T_TEFR

—E-NAFTZA=T—HIEHF
& - TMERISAERIRHE - BULE
SHELARTRELMHE -

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no BE_T_TFER_ZT-IHF
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid TZA=T—RHLFE BEX
individuals, including Directors, as an inducement to join FIgBEEIN  AEBVERTS
the Group or as compensation for loss of office other than ERFMAT(BEES)IN
those disclosed above. In addition, during the years ended 31 TRME  ERMBEREER R
December 2020 and 2019, no directors waived any emoluments. SREABBMEE - 1IN HE

TECTFER-T-NF+-A
ZtHIFE TEEERE

EABE
(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b) EBRKRER
During the year ended 31 December 2020, no retirement BE_Z-_TF+_HA=+—H
benefits operated by the Group were paid or made, directly HEE BREEIHEERNES
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his IRV B 5 B & AV IR IR
services as a director or other services in connection with the BN TEAEFBHIEBL
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries RESEMB AR EHEEN
(2019: nil). HoA AR 7 1A 2 R FE AT O IR IRAR
(ZZ—hF |-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z-ZF+-A=+-BL%E

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

()

(d)

(e)

)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director's services were
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a
director; nor are any payable (2019: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available director’s services (2019: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
(2019: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2019: nil).

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

43. EEEANRERE)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

ESBBERN
BE_Z-_TF+-A=+—H
HEE  SBERESRBRLE
B R E SRR S AEL E A
FIBSLEN - EFMEENFR
KEMREAERF(ZZE—N
FoE)e

RESBREOF=SRENKE

BE-F-FF+-A=+-A
L - ERREERBRES
BRERE - B=H SRR
HEESSESEIE

ARNES ESXEHEE
FLREERRRBANER - £
ERREMRZHER
MENES  EEXZH)EE
FEEERARBANER %
EXSEMRF(ZT-NF:
&) -

EERRE  ZYHEHNEKX
B
RERKNFERNEAER - B8
FEARRAMERTAT AARE
EERNETHEAEARZ (TR
BERSEE)NBEEXBER
MEARS  ZHRAH(ZE
—NEFE) e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-Z - 2F+_A=1+—HIL%E

44, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 44, EFENIAREE
(@) Capital commitments (a) BEARMEE
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, capital expenditures RZBZZFR-ZT-NF+=
contracted for but not yet incurred were as follows: A=+—H BEENERREE
ZERRIMAT :

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLEE

2020 2019
—ECEE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBEFTT

Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREB 37,359 37,359
Equity investment BRRE 16,000 197,400
(b) Contingent liabilities (b) HRERE
The Group provided financial guarantee amounting to E’\47 —EF+ZA=T—
approximately RMB170,000,000 to an associate as at 31 CAEER KB E R A
December 2020 (2019: RMB200,000,000) (Note 5.1). The ﬁf MEBEROBARY
guarantee is provided for bank borrowings obtained by 170,000,0007C(= & — N 5 -
the associate with remaining amounts of approximately A K #200,000,0007T )(W EI
RMB170,000,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 5.1) « ZERMBERFN -
RMB200,000,000), the period of guarantee amounting to —EF+ A :‘|‘—E|ﬁf%§éi,%’9
approximately RMB120,000,000 is from 3 June 2020 to 2 A AR 170,000,000 TTHIERTT
June 2021, the period of remaining guarantee amounting to ERRHEER(ZE-NE: A
approximately RMB50,000,000 is from 26 March 2020 to 25 £ #200,000,0007T ) * AR
March 2021, and such RMB50,000,000 was repaid by the #120,000,000 7T A F{%Hﬁﬁﬁ
associate on 26 March 2021, the due date of the loan. R_T_TEFXHA=REZ=T
“T—FRAZHB  EHRHAR
#%:50,000,000 70 H) #& R B[R

—EF-FFZA-AREZT
T—F=ZAZ+HA - ZWEL
AERZE=—F=A=+H
818 T %% AR %50,000,000
TCRIfERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

45. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45. BABMAERS
Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control the BRI AL SIE S S — A
other party or exercise significant influence in making financial and BRISERRENERTZENAL -
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they HEIEH B IR A

are subject to common control.

(@) Transactions with related parties (a) EERAEEFMRS

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLEE

2020 2019
—ECEE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBEFTT

Revenue P = WTIE=SEL: TGN
- Rental income from associates - REBLDANESKA 6,220
- Sales of raw materials and —MEEARHEEKER

consumables used of BT R R R R M

water products to associates 49,245
- Sales of water products to —HEKERT—HBE AT

an associate 3 659

Purchase of goods from associates S ATEERM 121,773 101,319
Amount paid to associates [SAREA=VNEIE /¢ - 55,623
Loans granted to associates f& T Bk & 2 R FIE 34,445 LRI

Repayments received from loans to B — TR R RIEK
an associate 189,800 14 363

Financial guarantee for — B A B R (P 5T 44(b))
an associate (Note 44(b)) 170,000 200,000
Above were the transactions between the Group and associates NERASEHEBENA(BE
including Highland Natural Water, Fudi Packaging and Great BRARK BiBEREM
Wall 5100. The transactions were based on agreed terms among A—ZT)2HANRG - ZER
the parties involved. STIERBEE N7 TR ER
#T o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-T-TF+-A=+-BILEE

45, RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 45. BEBARZ(£)
(b) Balances with related parties: (b) ERBAEESEVAEER -
The balances with related parties are as follows: ERAME T RS ERIO T ¢
-~
-
As at 31 December
R+=BA=+-H
2020 2019
—BCEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Prepayment HERIE

— Fudi Packaging —fEeR — 52,582

Trade payable EINEHH

— Fudi Packaging — e e 9,583 2,251

Contract liabilities aRAE

- Highland Natural Water —mRARRK 7,657

— Great Wall 5100 -EHE—ZZ 1,002
B -

Other financial assets at amortised cost LSRRI ENHMESRMEE

Amounts due from associates: JE Wi 5 A R IR
— Highland Natural Water (Note 25) —mRAARK(HIFE25) = 189,800
~ Fudi Packaging (Note 25) — R e % (M5 25) 34,445 —
Dividend receivables from an associate:  JEUZES 2 2 AR S
— Highland Natural Water (Note 25) — S RAANK(IFE25) 49,005 3,516

83,450 193,316
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-Z-ZF+_A=+-HLEE

()

45, RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 45. BEBARZ(£)
Key management compensation (0 FEEBEASHEM
The compensation paid/payable to key management is shown B/ BN EEERE A B KR
below: 25T
e
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—-RALEE
2020 2019
—BIEF —hEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
SO . ARKTT
Salaries and other short-term e kEMEEESER
employee benefits 11,616
46. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 46. WMEPERBR
The issue of 5% convertible bonds in the aggregate principal () BOELBLE=RLTHEARTZ

0]

amount of HKD379,620,000 due 2024 (“Bonds”)

Pursuant to the subscription agreements entered into between
the Company and certain investors dated 2 February 2021 (as
amended by the supplemental agreements dated 23 February
2021), the Bonds were issued by the Company to the investors
in March 2021 at a total cash consideration of approximately
HKD379,620,000. The initial conversion price of the Bonds
is HK$0.74. For details,
announcements dated 2 February 2021, 23 February 2021 and
29 March 2021.

please refer to the Company’s
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE-F-TE+_f=1t-HIEE

46. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (CONTINUED) 46. WEPERBEE)

(i) Further acquisition of 31% equity interests in Shannan (i) E-SWRBABLEELERE
Yalaxiangbu EBRDTE31% KE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group held 9% equity RBEBRR  ARERELEE
interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu which were classified as NEMI%RE  WHBRUA
financial assets at FVTOCI. On 30 March 2021, Tibet Glacier TEFEAHEBHALMEZE
Mineral Water, a company established in the PRC and an WamemEE RNR_T-_—F
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Fudi ZRA=+8"  BEKIIERXKX
Packaging, a company established in the PRC and holding 40% (—REFREKIHAR - BA
equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu, entered into an equity NEHEZEWB LR EEH
transfer agreement, pursuant to which the Fudi Packaging BR(-KERBEKIH AR
conditionally agreed to sell to the Purchaser and Tibet Glacier FAILBEER BT 40% RiE)ET
Mineral Water conditionally agreed to acquire from the Fudi VREBERE Bt Biue
Packaging 31% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu, for RERMMRAERNE S LERT
a total consideration of approximately RMB465,000,000. For BE31% ) B - i oG k)l
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 30 BRKBGEHAEKERDE
March 2021. KRANZERE  BREHNR

AR 465 000,000 © FFi5
ZBARBBHA-T - —F=
A=1tHHRE -

47. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47. MEZREHMBHREK
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board HEMBEREAEHEFEN T —
and authorised for issue on 31 March 2021. FEZR=1+—HEERRETE -
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L EHBEHME

Xt FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

PROFITABILITY DATA
(RMB million)

Revenue

Gross profit

Operating profit

Profit/(loss) for the year

PROFITABILITY DATA (%)

Gross profit margin

Operating profit margin

Net profit margin

Return on total shareholders’ equity

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DATA
(RMB million)

Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

ASSETS AND WORKING

CAPITAL DATA
Current assets ratios
Gearing ratios

BNEE
(AR®EER)

WA

E7

BN

FENE/(BR)

BFIEIE (%)
ERE

REFIER
EMEE
PR B R R

BERAREE
(AR®EER)
FRBEE
MEBEE
mEAR
FRBEE
Z/NCIE 2 DN
il 5

BEENRBESHE

MEBEELE
BARELE

note:

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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-~
For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t-HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016
“E-NF ZE-)N\F ZT—tF —T—RF
721 881 932 868
404 480 551 520
133 342 393 393
(745) 318 368 359
56.0% 54.5% 59.2% 59.9%
18.4% 38.8% 42.1% 45.2%
N/ATNEH 36.1% 39.5% 41.4%
N/ATNEH 9.2% 11.6% 24.8%
2,305 3,278 2,907 2,880
1,958 1,635 1,642 1,938
1,376 1,177 901 631
184 276 473 693
2,702 3,459 3,174 3,123
45.9% 33.3% 36.1% 40.2%
27.1% 25.1% 21.4% 24.0%

B :
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